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PREFACE,

The publication ot the Official Records of the Union and Confederate
navies in the war of the rebellion was begun November 1, 1894, by the
Navy Department, under authority of an act of (Qongress approved
July 81, 1894, The plan of publication adopted -y the Department
for the compilation includes only the use of such material as may be
certified. to be contemporaneous naval records of the war, which is
divided into three series, in the following order of arrangement:

I, The first series embraces the reports, orders, and correspondence,
both Union and Confederate, relating to all naval operations on the
Atlantic and Gulf coasts and inland waters of the United States during
the war of the rebellion, together with the operations of vessels acting
singly, either as cruisers or privateers, in different parts of the world.
These reports are accompanied by occéasional maps and diagrams,

In this series the papers are arranged according to squadrons and
flotillas, chronologically, and, as far as possible, the Union reports of
aﬁy events are immediately followed by the Confederate reports.

II. The second series embraces the reports, orders, and correspond-
ence relating to—

1, The condition of the Union Navy in 1861, before the commence-
ment of hostilities, and to its increase during the progress of the
war, including the annual and special reports of the Secretary of
the Navy and chiefs of the various bureaus. ‘

2. The construction and outfit of the Confederate Navy, includ-
ing privateers, setting forth also the annual and special reports of
the Uonfederato Secretary of the Navy and chiefs of bureaus.

3.. Statistical data of all vessels, Union and Qonfederate, as far
as oan be obtained.

4, Returns of naval and military property captured by the navies
of both sides during the war.

b. Correspondence relating to naval prisoners.

This series is also arranged chronologically in each of the above sec-

tions as far as practicable,
x
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IIT. The third series embraces all reports, orders, correspondence,
and returns of the Union and Confederate authorities not specially
relating to the matter of the first and second series.

It is the intention of the Department to introduce throughout the
volumes of the different series illustrations of each class or type of ves-
sels referred to, in order to preserve the identity of these ships as they
actually appeéared during the war., These cuts have been reproduced
either from photographs of the vessels themselves or from carefully
prepared drawings made from official sources,

Much difficulty has been found in collecting the records, for while
the official reports of commanders of fleets and of vessels acting singly
are on file in the Navy Department, it is found that the correspondence
between flag-officers and their subordinates is frequently missing,
Without this squadron correspondence the historical value of the work
would necessarily be incomplete, and the Department, therefore, has
spared no pains to secure the letter books and papers of the chief
actors on both sides, These papers have for the most part been obtained,
and they have been copiously used in the compilation of the work,
The reports of the Union commanders are full and fairly complete. It
is to be regretted, however, that the Confederate records are not equally
complete, due to the great difficulty found in collecting them, and also
to the fact that a large part of the archives of the Confederate Navy
Department was burned at the close of the war. Irequent careful
searches throughout various parts of the country, conducted by a
special agent of the Department, have brought to light many duplicates
of these papers, found among the personal files of participants, It is
hoped that the publication will revive the interest of the participants
in the events referred to and lead them to bring to theé notice of the
Department the whereabouts of any papers bearing upon naval oper-
ations in the civil war of which they may have knowledge.

The third volume of the records (Series I, vol. 3), which has been
recently published by the Department, completes the reports of the
operations of the cruisers to the close of the war, The compilation,
under the plan of publication of the work, now treats of earlier events
in that struggle, more especially of those which occurred on the
Atlantic and Gulf coasts of the United States. The present volume
(Series I, vol, 4) is divided into three divisions, and comprises the
rgports of (1) early operations in the Gulf of Mexico prior to the estab-
lishment of the blockading squadrons, (2) operations upon the Atlantic
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coast during the same period, and (3) operations on the Potomac and
Rappahannock rivers up to December 7, 1861, The reports and cor-
respondence are placed chronologically in each division, with a distinet
heading for every paper. In the record of events in which both sides
took part, the Confederate reports immediately follow the Union
reports, while the miscellaneous Confederate correspondence is placed
at the end of each division, Reference to the table of contents will
show the context of these Confederate papers. It is believed that
the chronological arrangement of the records, in connection with the
full and copious index to each volume, will afford ample means of
reference to its contents without other subdivision or classification,
In reports of special or single events, in which the papers bear specific
relation to those events, the chronological order has been somewhat
modified, and such documents have been placed together in the
compilation.

Riouarp Rusi,

RoBERT H., WooODS,

Compilers.
NAVY DEPARTMENT,

Washington, D. C., September 1, 1896,

Nore.—The following is an extract from the law governing the dis-
tribution of the sets comprising the publication (act of Congress
approved July 31, 1894):

*# * * Of gaid number, six thousand eight hundred and forty
copies shall be for the use of the House of Representatives, two thou-
sand one hundred and twelve copies for the use of the Senate, and one
thousand and forty-eight copies for the use of the Navy Department
and for distribution by tho Secretary of the Navy among officers of the
Navy and contributors to the work, The quotas herein authorized of
said publication for the Senate and House of Representatives shall be
sent by the Secretary of the Nayy to such libraries, organizations, and
individuals a8 may be designated by the Senators, Representatives, and
Delegates of the Iifty-third Congress, it being the purpose of this dis-
tribution herein provided for to place these records in public libraries,
and with permanent organizations having librarles, so far as such libra-
ries may exist in the several States and Territorics. Kach Senator
shall designate not exceeding twenty-four and cach Representative and
Delegate not exceeding nineteen of such addresses, and the volumes
shall be sent thereto from time to time, as they are published, until the
publication is completed, and all sets that may not be ordered to be dis-
tributed as provided herein shall be sold by the Secretary of the Navy
for cost of publication, with ten per centum added thereto, and the pro-
ceeds of such sale shall be covered into the Treasury. If two or more
sets of said volumes are ordered to the same address, the Secretary of
the Navy shall inform the Senators, Representatives, or Delegates who
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have designated the same, who thereupon may designate other libraries,
organizations, or individuals. The Secretary of the Navy shall inform
distributees at whose instance the volumes are sent.,

The following joint resolution regarding the distribution of the work
was approved January 30, 1896:

-- Resolved by the Senate and House of Representatives of the United States
of America in Oongress assembled, That the Secretary ot the Navy be
and he is hereby, authorized and directed to send the undistributed
copies of the Official Records of the War of the Rebellion, both of the
Union and of the Confederate navies, to such libraries, organizations, and
individuals as may be designated before the meeting of the next Con-
gress by the Representatives in the IKifty-fourth Congress of the dis-
tricts whose Representatives in the Fifty third Congress failed to
designate the distributees of their yuota of said Official Records, or
any part thereof, as anthorized by the act of Oongress approved July
thirty-first, eighéeen hundred and ninety-four, and the joint resolution
approved March second, eighteen hundred and ninety-five, to the extent
and in the manner and form provided 1 said act,



ORDER OF COMPILATION OF NAVAL WAR RECORDS.

SERIES I

1. Operations of the Cruisers, 1861-1865.

Unlon oruisers, ;
West India (Flying) S8quadron, under Acting Rear-Admiral Wilkes, U, 8, N, 1862-1883,
West India (Flying) Bquadron, under Aoting Rear-Admiral Lardner, U, S, N, 1863-1884,
Confederate oruisers and privateers,

2. Operations in the Gulf of Mexico, Jannary to June 7, 1861,

Surrender of the Pensacola Nuvy Yard,
Cooperation of the Navy in the relief of Fort Plokens.

3. Operations on the Atlantic Coast, January to May 13, 1861.

Cooperation of the Navy in the attempts to relieve Fort Sumter.
Abandonment and destruction of the Norfolk Navy Yard, - .
Homo Squadron, under Flag-Officor Pendergrast, U. 8. N.

4, Operations on the Potomac and Rappahannock rivers, 1861-1865,

Potomac Flotilla, under Commander Ward, U, S. N., 1861,
Potomao Flotills, under Captain Craven, U, 8, N, 1861,

Potomac Flotills, under Lioutenant Wyman, U. §, N,,1861-1862,
Potomao Flotilla, under Commodore Harwood, U.S, N,, 18621863,
Potomac Flotilla, under Commander Parker, U. S. N, 1863-1865,

b. Atlantic Bloockading Squadrons, 1861-1865.
Atlantio Blookeding Squadron, under Flag-Oficer Stringham, U, 8, N\, May 13 to Sept. 23,1861,

West Indla Squadron, undor Flag.Oflcer Pendergrast, U, 8, N, 1861,

Naval Defonses of Virginia and North Carolina, uinder Flag.Officer Barron, C. S, N.
Atlantie Blockading Squadron, under Flag-Officer Goldsborough, U, 8. N., 1861.

North Atlantle Blockading Squadron, under Rear-Admiral Goldsborough, U. S. N., 1861-1862,

Naval Dofonses of Virginia and North Carolitia, under Flag-Ofiicer Liynoh, 0, S, N,

James River Squadron, under Flag-Oficer Buchanan; 0, S,N.

James River Squadron, under Flag-Oficer Tattnall, C. 8, N,

Jumes River Flotilla, under Commodore Wilkes, U. . N,, 1862,

North Atlantis Blockading Squadron, under Acting Rear-Admiral.Lee, U. S, N., 1862-1864.

James River Squadron, under Flag-Ofllcors Forrest and Mitehell, 0.8, N,

* Naval Defenses Inland Wators of North Carolina, under Commander Pinkney, C. 8. N,

* Naval Defensos Cape Fear Kiver, North Carolina, under Flag-Ofticer Lynch, 0, 8. N,
North Atlantic Blockading Squadron, under Rear-A.dmiral Portoer, U, 8, N., 18641865,

James Rivor Squadron, undor Flag-Officers Mitcholl and Semmes, C.S. N,

* Naval Defenscs Cape Fear River, North Carolina, under Flag-Officer Pinkney, C. 8. N.
North Atlantio Blockading Squadron, under Acting Rear-Admiral Radford, U. S. N, 1865,
South Atlantio Blockading 8quadron, under Roar-Admiral Du Pont, U, S8, N,, 1861-1863.

* Naval Defenses of South Carolina and Georgla, under Flag-Officer Tattnall, C. S. N,

* Naval Defonses of Charleston Harbor, South Carolina, undor ¥lag-Officer Iugraham, C. 8. N,
South Atlantic Blockading Squadron, under Rear-Admiral Dahlgren, U, S. N., 1863-1865.

* Naval Defenses of Charleston Harbor, South Carolina, under Flag-Officer Tuoker, C. S. N.

Naval Defonses of Savannah, Ga., under Flag-Oflicers Huntor and Tattunall, C. S. N.

*The Confederate matorial under this head is véry scant. It {8 therefore hoped that those who
havo any Confederate naval documents upon the subject will communicate with the Office of Naval
War Records, Navy Department, Washington, D.C.

X111
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6. Gulf Blockading Squadrons, 1861-1865.

Gulf Blockading Squadron, under ¥lag-Officer Mervine, U. 8. N., 1861.
Gulf Blockading Squadron, under Flag-Officer MoKean, U, S. N, 1861-1862.
* Mississippi River Defonses, under Flag-Officer Hollins, C. 8. N,
East Gulf Blockading Squadron, under Flag-Officer McKoan, U. 8. N., 1862,
East Gulf Blockading £quadron, under Acting Rear-Adniral Lardner, U. S. N., 1862.
East Gulf Blockading Squadron, under Acting Rear-Admiral Bailey, U. S. N., 1862-1864,
East Gulf Blockading Squadron, under Captain Groene, U, S, N., 1864.
East Gulf Blockading Squadron, under Acting Rear-Admiral Stribling, U. S. N., 1864-1865.
West Gulf Blockading Squadron, under Flag-Officer Farragut, U. 8. N, 1862-1863,
Mortar Flotilla, under Commander Porter; U, S. N., 1862,
Lower Miasissippi River Defenses, under Commander J. K. Mitchell, C. S. N.
* Mobilo Defenses, under Flag-Officer Randolph, C. S, N,
Trans-Mississippl Marine Department, under Major Leon Smith, C. S, A,
‘West Gulf Blockading Squadron, uiider Commodore Bell, U.S. N. (ad interim), 1863,
‘West Gnlf Blockading Squadron, under Rear-Admiral Farragut, U. 5. N, 1864,
* Mobile Defenses, under Admiral Buchanan, C, 8. N.
West Gulf Blockading Squadron, under Commodore Palmer, U. 8. N, 1864-1865,
West Gulf Blockading Squadron, under Acting Rear-Admiral Thatcher, U, S, N., 1865,
* Mobile Defenses, under Flag-Officer Farrand, C, S. N.

7. Operations on the Western Rivers, 1861-1865,

Naval Forces on Western Waters, under Commander Rodgers, U, S. N., 1861,
Naval Forces on Western Waters, under Flag-Ofticer Foote, U, S, N., 1861-1862.
* Mississippi River Defenses, under Flag.Officer Hollins, C. 8. N.
Naval Forces on Western Waters, under Flag-Officer Davis, U. S8, N., 1862,
* Mississippl River Defense Fleet, under Captain Montgomery, C. S. A.
* Mississippi River Defenseg, under Commander R. F. Pinkney, C. S. N.
* Mississippi River Defenses, under Flag-Officer Lynch, C. S. N.
Mississippi Squadron, under Rear-Admiral Porter, U. S, N., 1862-1864,
Mississippi Squadron, under Acting Rear-Admiral Lee, U, S, N, 1884-1865.
* Naval Defenses of Red River, Louisiana, under Lieutenant J. H. Carter, C. 8. N.

*The Confederate material under this head is very scant. lt is therefore hoped that those who
have any Confederate naval d_ocumente upon the subject will communicate with the Office of Naval
‘War Records, Navy Department, Washington, D. C.



LIST OF UNITED STATES VESSELS OF WAR SERVING IN THE HOME SQUADRON
AND POTOMAQ FLOTILLA DURING THE PERIOD OOVERED BY THIS VOLUME.

NAME. RATE. TONNAGE. CLASS. CrEW, GUNs.
Alleghany...coevuneenn.n.. Fourth ... 989 | Scroew steamer............. 30 6
Anacostia ...ovevereienian. Fourth ... 217 |..... i OO 67 2
Balley coiceniiiieiiiiniiifireciiaiaa ] ren e, Coast Survey schooner..... 12 Joeiannenann
Baltimore........... veseeas Fourth ... 500 | Side-wheel steamer ........ - 18 1
Brooklyn .iociveenaennnnnn _Second ... 2,070 | Sorew steamer............. 381 24
COre8 .caeereanecnsosonceans Fourth ... 160 | Side-wheel steamer ........ 39 2
Ceurde Lion......c....... Fourth . 110 {..... [ 29 3
Constitution....... Cemenene Second ... 1,676 | Sailing frigate............. 62 16
Crusader ......oveveeennnns -Fourth ... 515 | Screw steamer............. 83 6
Cumberland ............... Second ... 1,726 | Sailing sloop.....cccououn.n. 288 24
B 0714 | T Fourth ... 309 | Serew steamer............. 34 2
E.B. Hale..ccvevvvienenn., Fourth ... 220 | Screw 8100P. .cieeeiiiaiinns 46 4
E.H. Herbert ......cooevefoeciiienanidencaans eee-.| Chartered tug..............]. Y
Edwin Forrest.............]..... PR P PR do..veiiniiiann. (R DO P,
Flag cooeeimneirnninnennnens Third..... 938 | Screw steamer ............. 116 7
Forward. .cooiiiiiennenicifercannecasesfacencan onnn Revenuecutter ...........foceeieiefonaianan,
General Putnam........... Fourth ... 123 | Side-wheel steamer ........ 17 2
Harriet Lane .............. Third..... 819 |..... T I P, 6
Howell Cobb.......... [ B U N SRR R PR
Hunptsville................. Third..... 840 | Sorew steamer ............. 52 3
Ice Boaba@.................. Fourth ...|............ Philadelphia ice boat...... 50 2
Island Belle ............... Fourth ... 123 | Side-wheel steamer...... 24 2
Jacob Bell ...... ceerereaae. Fourth ... 220 | Side-wheel tug......ceuvun. 49 2
Keystone State ...v........ Third..... 1,364 | Side-wheel steamer ........ 133 [}
Macedonian...c.eeaennnn... Second ... 1,341 | Sailing sloop.....cocueen... 280 22
Massachusetts............. Second ... 1,165 | Scrow asteamer............. 112 6
Morrimack «eeeeenneeennn.. First ..... 3,200 | Screw frigate .............. 480 92
Mohawk .voeeevienrnannnans Fourth ... 464 | Screw steamer ............. 78 7
Montgomery......vaceavee. Third..... 787 |..... s U . 66 5
Monticello ...ovveuannnen... Fourth ... 656 |..... 1 S 96 ]
Mouant Vernon............. Fourth ... 625 |..... s TR 50 3
Mount Vernonbd ........... Fourth ... 500 | Side-wheel................. 40 1
Niagara .cooveuen.. PO First ..... 4,582 | Screw steamer...........-. 387 12
Pawnee .....c.eceiiiiian... Second ... 1,289 | Screw 8100p...iceeeiannnnnn 04 8
Penguin................... Fourth ... 380 | Screw steamor............. 60 b
Porry cocevieniiiiniiian, Fourth ... 270 | Sailing brig........... ..., 71 7
Philadelphia.....cc........ Fourth ... 500 | Side-wheel steamer. ........ 24 1
Pocahontas ................ Third..... 694 | Scrow stoamer ............. 95 6
Powhatan ................. Firat ..... 2,415 | Side-wheel steamer........ 217 11
Powhatano...... treeneaans Fourth ... 600 {..... L S 14 1
Quaker City .....oceuen.... Second ... 1,428 |[..... S 129, 4
R.B.Forbes .....c..ccv.... Fourth ... 329 | Screw steamer............. 52 2
R. R.Cuyler....... verreens Third..... 1,200 |..... [ PN 134 10
Reliance .o.oveveeceneennnn. Fourth ... 90 |..... [ U SN 17 2
Resolute............ e Fourth ... 00 | Tug..eiieiiiiinieannnan. 16 2
Resoue cueeeenrsens ceeerens Fourth ... 11 4..... do.iiiiiiiiiiiiiiae 20 2

a Known alao as Release and Rofrigerator.
b Name changed to Mount Washington.
¢ Name changed to King Philip.

XV



b.4'% | UNITED S8TATES VESSELS OF WAR.
List of United States vessels of war serving in the Hoine Squadron and Potomao Flotilla,
éto.—Continued.

NAME RATE, TONNAGE: CrLAss. CREW, Guns.
Sahino....ccoveeeiiiiaiian, Second ... 1,726 | Sailing frigate.............. 375 49
St. Lounis....coeevennnannn.. Third..... 700 | Sailing sloop....%......... 118 18
Satellite ......ccceeunnn.... Fourth ... 194 | Tugeooeveniianineunannnnns 43 2
Savannah........caea...... Second ... 1,708 | Screw sloop...... eeivanans 264 26
Seminole ...ioovieinennnn.. Third..... £:11) W DR (1 <120 5
South Carolina ............ Third..... 1,150 | Screw steamer ............. 115 ]
Stepping Stones ........... Fourth ... 226 | Side-wheel steamer........ 21 1

Bapply oeiiiiiiiiaa, Fourth ... 647 | Store vessel..........oo.... 171 4
Thomas Freeborn.......... Fourth ... 269 | Side-wheel steamer ........ 67 2
THEIE88.ceaeieereannnranes]ocecesiornee]orannarannnn Chartered tug.............. 32 |...... cene
Underwriter .............. Fourth ... 341 | Side-wheel steamer ........0.......... 4
102 1111) | O Third..... 1,114 | Scrow steamer............. 75 4
Valley City................| Fourth 19 |..... 1T YOO 48 4
Water Witch.............. Fourth 378 | Side-wheel steamer........ 60 3
Wyandotte ................ Fourth ... 464 | Screw ateamer ............. 71 ]
Yankee......oooevmennnaan. Fourlh 828 | Slde-wheel steamer . ....... 48 2
Young America .......... .| Fourth 173 | Tageeeevrenenceraeancaianns 13 1
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OPERATIONS IN THE GULF OF MEXICO.

NOVEMBER 15, 1860, TO JUNE 7, 1861.

Report of Ineutenant Oraven, U. 8. Navy, commanding U. S. 8. S. Mohawk,
transmitting correspondence regarding measures of proteotwn Jor Forts
Taylor and Jefferson, Fla.

U. 8. S, MOHAWK,
- Key West, November 15, 1860.

SIr: I have the honor to enclose to you a copy of a letter I have
received from Captain M. C. Meigs, U. 8. Engmeem

Believing that in the present dep]omble condition of affairs in the
Southern States the interests of the General Government will be best
subserved by taking such measures as will prevent the possibility of
the seizure of these strongholds by any band of lawless men, I consider -
it my duty to guard against that contingency. I will therefore sail
to-morrow for the Tortugas, and have advised Lieutenant Commanding
Stanly to guard this place.

I enclose you a copy of my letter to Lieutenant bommandmg Stanly.

I need not say to you, sir, that I have adopted this measure only from
calm and mature deliberation, and with great hope that my fears may
not be realized, but that our country may yet recover from the agitation
which seems dlsturbmg it to its center,

I can assure you that I will proceed with the utmost cxrcumspectlon,
and in such a way as can not give offense nor provoks cavil.

Will you be ple%ed to furnish me with instructions for my future
guidance under this unforeseen and melancholy state of affairs?

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
T. Auas. ORAVEN,
Lieutenant, Commanding.

Hon. IsAAc TOUCEY, : -

Secretary of the Navy.

[Endorsement.)

The Department does not, from any information in its possession,
deem it necessary that you should remain at the Tortugas to guard
Fort Jefferson; you will therefore proceed to your cruising ground.

[Enclosures. ]

KEyYy WEST, FLA,, November 15, 1860,

Sir: The news recelved by the steamer Isabel last night indicates
such a state of excitement among a portion of the people of the United
States that it appears to me proper that some precautions should be
taken to prevent an attempt by some small expedition to seize upon
Fort Taylor or Fort Jefferson.

The first contains, I understand, a considerable supply of ammuni-
tion and some guns. Fort Jetferson, at the Tortugas, is without guns
or ammunition, 5
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1 look for no expedition authorized by the constituted authorities of
any State, but any small party of men anxious to embroil the different
sections of the Union might find a tempting bait in either or these
important fortresses, ;

I addressed to day a note to Captain J. M. Brannan, of the Iirst
Artillery, who, with only eighteen men fit for duty, is stationed at'the
Key West barracks, calling his attention to this subject, and I beg leave
respectfully to suggest to you the propriety of so disposing of the naval
forces under your command asj while exciting the least attention, to
make the success of any such expedition impossible, ’

I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

M. C. MEIGSs,
Captain of Engineers, in charge of Fort Jefferson.
Commander T. A. ORAVEN,
Commanding Naval Forces at I ey West,

U. 8. S. MORAWK,
Key West, November 16, 1860.

SIr: By an official communication from Captain Meigs, U. S. Engi-
neers, my attention is called to the unprotected condition of Fort Tay-
lor, which commands this harbor.

I enclose you a copy of the letter of Captain Meigs.

Whatever be the result of the issue now raised against the General
Government by the people of o few Southern States, the importance of
the posts at this place and the Tortugas can not be overestimaced, com-
manding as they do the commerce of the Cult of Mexico. 1 there-
fore deem it my duty to advise you to use the vessel under your com-
mand for’ the defense of 1fort Taylor, while the Mohkawhk will hold the
Tortugas. ,

It is not necessary to advise an officer of your discretion of the
extreme delicacy bt the positions occupied here by the officers of the
United States. We must beware of giving any offense by which
to_perplex the questions at issue, while at the samme time we must
firmly discharge our dutics under the laws of the United States.

Fervently trusting that the wounds of our country may yet be healed,

I am, respecttully, your obedient servant,
T, Auds, CRAVEN,
, Lieutenant, Commanding.

Licutenant Commanding I, STANLY,

Commanding U. 8. 8. Wyandotte.

Order of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U. S. Navy, commanding Home Squad-
ron, to Commander Hazard, U. S. Navy, commanding U, S. 8. Poca-
hontas.

FrLAagsHiP POWHATAN,
OfF Vera Cruz, November 25, 1860,
SIR: You will please make a requisition for coal sufficient to fill your

vessel; also keep the water of the Pocahontas filled up, ready for sea at
shprt notice.

Very respectfully,
G. J. PENDERGRAST,

Flag-Officer.
Commander HAZARD,
Commanding U, S. 8, Pocahontas, Home Squadron.
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Order of the Secretary of the Navy to Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U, .
Navy, commanding Home Squadron, regarding U. 8. sloop St. Lowis.

- NAVY DEPARTMENT, December 24, 1860,
SIR: As the cruise of the sloop of war St. Louis has nearly expired,
you will on the receipt hereof direct her to proceed to Pensacola, Fla.,
and there await the further orders of the Department,
I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
v I. Toucry.

Flag-Officer G. J., PENDERGRAST,
Commanding Home Squadron, Vera Cruz, Mexico.

Order of the Secretary of the Navy to commandant navy yard, Pensacola.
: NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 3, 1861.

Sir: Be vigilant to protect the public property. The commanding

ofticer at Fort Barrancas has been instructed to consult with you, and

you will cooperate with him.
I am, respecttully, your obedient servant,
- ‘ I. Touory.

Commodore JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Commanding Navy Yard, Warrington, Fla.

[Endorsement. )

Receipt acknowledged on the 9th of January, 1861.
J. A[RMSTRONG].

Report of commandant navy yard, Pensacola, of departure of U, S. 8.
Crusader,
COMMANDANT’S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
Warrington, Fla., January 3, 1861,
Sir: I have the honor to report the departure from this station last
evening of the U. 8. 8. Crusader, under the command of Lieutenant
John N, Matftitt.

1 have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient'servant,'
' JAS., ARMSTRONG,

Commandant,

Ilon. ISAAC Toucry,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D. C.

Report of Colonel Oommandant U. S. Marine Corps, transmitting corre-
spondence regarding rations for Warrington navy yard.
IIEADQUARTERS MARINE CORPS,
Washington, January 5, 1860 [1861)].
Sir: I enclose to the Department a copy of a letter from the Quar-
termaster, enclosing copies of two notes from Warrington, Fla., to
which I respectfully recommend immediate attention.

I am, sir, very respectfully, yours,
JNo, HARRIS,
Colonel Commandant,

Hon. IsAAc¢ TOUCEY,
Secretary of the Navy.
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- [Enclosure.]
HEADQUARTERS MARINE CORPS,
Quartermaster’s Office, Washington, Junuary 5, 1861,
Sir: I enclose herewith o copy of a note this day received from Cap-
tain J. Watson, commanding marines at Warrington, Fla,, and also
copy of a note addressed by C. . Knapp, contractor for rations for
1861, to Captain Watson. L
I deem this matter of sufficient importance to call the immediate
attention of the commandant of- the Corps to it.
I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
W. B. SLAOK,
Quartermaster Marine Corps.
Colonel JouN ITARRIS,
Commandant Marine Corps, Headquarters,

[Subenclosures.) )
, MARINE BARRACKS,
Warrington, Fla., December 31, [1860.]
DeARr Srack: I send you a note that I received this morning from
Mr. Knapp, the ration contractor. You will oblige me with your
advice. We can not get anything on credit; cash on delivery, The
Government credit is very low on this point, Should you direct me to
purchase, send the coin. N
Yours, truly, ‘
J. WATSON.
Major Wn. B. SLACK,
Quartermaster Marine Corps, Washington.

PENSACOLA, December 29, 1860, .

DEAR Sir: I will furnish rations under my contract [for] 1861 till
I give you notice.
Yours, most respectfully, ete., ’
C. P. KnApp,
Per IRA SMITH.
Oaptain WATSON,
Commanding U. S. Marine Barracks, Washington.

P, 8.—My object in addressing as above is this, that if Florida goes
out of the Umnion I will not furnish atterwards.
Yours, ete.,
~ C. P. KNAPP,
Per IrA SMmITH.

[Endorsument.]

Answer that if the contractors refuse to supply he will make appli-
cation to the commandant of the yard for the navy rations, which will
be issued to them and paid for from the appropriation for provisions
for the Marine Corps.

[Tolegram in cipher.)

Confidential.] NAvY DEPARTMENT, January 5, 1861,

Proceed immediately with the Macedonian to Warrington [Fla.} and
report to commandant navy yard for protection of public property.

I. Toucry,
Secretary of the Navy.
Captain JAMES GLYNN,
Commanding U. 8. Ship Mucedonian, Portsmouth, N, I,
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[Telegram in cipher.]

Confidential,) NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 5, 1861,

Proceed immediately to Garden Key and cooperate with commanding
officer to protect public property and prevent anyone from landing
improperly. On arrival of troops detailed for that post return to pres-
ent port.

I. ToucEy,
‘ Secretary of the Navy.

Lieutenant J. N. MArriTT,

Commanding U. 8. 8. Crusader, Pensacola, Fla.

Order of the Secrctary of the Navy to commandant navy yard, Pensa-
cola, regarding cooperation,

Oonfidential.] NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 5, 1861.

Sir: Upon the recelyit of this you will direct Lieutenant Maffitt to
proceed immediately with the Crusader to the Tortugas to cooperate
with the commanding officer of the works to protect the public prop-
erty and to prevent the landing of any improper persons. You will
direct Lieutenant Maffitt to return to Pensacola when the troops
detailed for Fort Jefferson shall have arrived there.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
- I. TOUCEY.

Commodore JAMES ARMSTRONG,

Commandant Navy Yard, W(wrmqton, Ila,

[NO’I‘E.——-T]HS letter did not reach its de‘stnmtmn, the officer to whom
it was intrusted having failed to deliver it.]

[Telegram.}

PorrsmourH [N. H.], January 7, 1861,
Your telegram is received and believed to be understood correctly.
J. GLYNN,
Captain,
Isarc ToUcEY,
Secretary Navy.

Report of commandant navy yard, Pensacola, regarding measures for the
relief of the em])loyés of that yard.

CoMMANDANT’S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
Warrington, I'la., January 8, 1861,

Sir: With extreme regret I find myself compelled to represent to
the Department the suffering condition of many of the mechanics and
laborers employed in this navy yard, in consequence of the nonpay-
ment of the wages due them since the 1st of November last, the pay-
master not having funds to pay the rolls, Numerous appeals have been
made to me for interposition and aid, which I can not afford.

I enclose herewith a copy of a letter addressed to the executive officer
of the yard by a worthy ship carpenter, showing the distress in which
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his family is involved; and this is but one of many cases of suffer-
ing, some of which are glemter than his, He desires that in the absence
of money provisions may be issued from the naval store, and in order
to relieve the suffering as far as practicable, I very earnestly solicit that
authority may be given me to cause supplies to be furnished from that
source to those persons to whom pay for labor is due, the cost thereof
to be charged to their respective accounts,

Trusting that a favorable response will be given to this application,
and that the same will be sent by telegraph, 1 have the honor to'be,
very respectfuliy, your obedient servant, ‘

JAS. ARMSTRONG,
Commandant.
Hon, IsAAc Toucey,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D, C.

[Enclosure.)

WARRINGTON [FLA.], January 8, 1861,

Sir: Having a large family to support consisting of my the and
seven children, and having been discharged from my employment in
the yard, as you are already aware, 1 am necessarily compelled to seck
employment elsewhere; yet before I leave I am’ anxious to see my
wife and little ones ])Lu,(,d beyond the reach of immediate want, and as
it took all I conld earn heretofore to live from one pay day to another,
we are now placed in a rather straitened situation. I would thm'p
fore respectfully solicit’your kind interference on my behalf; to enable
me to get the amonnt due to me by the U. S, Government for labor per-
forined in the navy yard, or an equivalent in provisions; and I will, as
in duty bound, ever pray for your welfare.

Very respc(,tfully, your obedient servant,
S. A, WiLLIAMS,.

Captain E, FARRAND,

Jxecutive Officer, Pensacola Naval Station.

Report of oommandant navy yard, Pensacola, transmitting resolutions of
employés of that yard regarding measures of relief.

COMMANDANT’S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
Warrington, Fla., January 9, 1861.

Sik: I had the honor yesterday to address the I)epartmcnt in rela-
tion to the state of want and suftering to which the employés of this
navy, yard are reduced in consequence of their failure to receive the
pay due them for services rendered since the 1st of Novembu' 1860,
and to request your authority to relieve the suffering by the issue ot
provisions from the naval store. I have now to beg leave to submit to
your consider: |t|on the enclosed copy of a report of the proceedings of
a meeting held in ermgton last evening by the persons interested,
and I earnestly reiterate the application contained in my letter of yes-
terday for authority to afford the reliet solicited.

Lhave the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

JAS. ARMSTRONG,
Commandant,
Hon, IsAAc¢ ToUcCEY,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D. O,
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[Enclosure.]

Proceéedings of « meeting of the employds of the Warvington navy yard, held at Masonio
Hall on the evening of January 8, 1861, of which Mr. W, J. Fell was chairman and
W. G, Barth secrclary. ~

On motion, duly made and seconded, it was unammouq]y

Resolved, first, That & committee be \ppmnted to wait on Commodore
James Armbhon i conmmmlm{_, this navy yard and station, and request
him, in view of the great distress existing among the mechanics and
other employed in the navy yard in conseéquence of the delay of pay-
ment by the U, S. Government, to authorize an issue of provisions
from the navy store to those who are in want, suc¢h issue to be deducted
from the amounts due them respectively on the navy yard pay rolls for
the months of November and December, 18:.0.

Resolved, second, That one member of the aforesaid committee be
appointed from each of the trades working in the yard. .

Resolved, third, That the committee be constitited as follows: John L,
Porter, esq., naval constructor; Mr. James IH. Doyle, Mamr W. Morrill,
Mr, J. (: Fell, Mr, Thomas Ballew Mr. Parrish, Mr. W, J. Fell, Mr. w,
Nix, Mr. A. G. Middleton, Mr. John (m]lw‘u' Mr. J. Longley, said
committee being requested to wait on ()ommodme Armstrong at 10
o'clock to-morrow morning and to report to this mectmg at 7 o’clock
in the evening of the same day.

Resolved, fourth, That this meeting do now adjourn, to meet again ia
this place at) 7 o’clock to-morr ow evening,

WILLIAM J. FELL, Chairman,
W. G, BARTH, Secretary.

[Telegram.]

PENSACOLA, January 9, 1861.

Mechaniecs and laborers on default of pay much distressed. Appeal
for relief of issue of provisions from naval store. Will Department
authorize by telegraph such course? Is Lieuntenant Stribling’s resig-

nation accepted?
Respectfully, .

: JAS. ARMSTRONG,
Commandant,

Isaac ToucEY,
Secretary Navy.

Order of the Secretary of the Navy to ]f"la(/ Officer Pendergrast, U, S.
Navy, commanding Home Squadron.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 9, 1861,
Sir: Direct Capt. II. A. Adams to proceed with the U. S. frigate
Sabine under his command to Pensacola, and there await the further
orders of the Department.
I am, respecttully, your obedient servant,
- I. ToucEY.
Flag-Officer G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Commanding Home bquadron, Vera Gruz, Mexico.
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Report of Licutenant Maffitt, U. S. Navy, commanding U. 8. 8. Crusader.

U. S, S. CRUSADER,
Off Havana, January 9, 1861.
S1ir: I report my return to the north coast of Cuba.
I am, respectfully, your ohedient bervaut
3N M AFFITT,
Licutenant, 00mmand:ny.
Hon. IsAA¢ TOUOCEY,
Secretary Navy, Washington, D. O,

Report of commandant navy yard, Pensacola, regarding U. 8. 8. Wyandotte.

COMMANDANT'S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
Warrington, Fla., Januwary 9, 1861
Sir: The U. 8. 8. Wyandotte being deficient in her complement of
officers, 1 have ordered Lieutenant John Irwin to report for temporary
duty on board that vessel.
I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAS, ARMSTRONG,
Commandant,
Hon, IsaAc ToUucruy,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D, C.

[Telegram.]
NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 10, 1861,
Proceed to sea immediately, touching at Tortugas.
I. Tovory,
Secrctary Navy.
Captain JAMES GLYNN,
Commanding U, S. Ship Macedonian, Portsmouth, N. H.

[Telegram.]

NAVY DEPARTMENT, Januar 4y 10, 1861.

Provisions may be issued to mechanics and Iaborers at cost pricg, not
to exceed amount of wages due them. Lieutenant Stribling’s resigna-
tion accepted by telegraph. Where has Lieutenant Maffitt gone?

. I. Toucey,
Secretary of the Navy.
Commodore JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Commandant Navy Yard, Pensacola.

Report of commandant navy yurd, Pensacola, regarding cooperation with
commanding officer at Fort Barrancas.

» COMMANDANT’S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,

Warrington, Fla., January 10, 1861,
SIr: I have the honor to report to the Department that, in obedlonce
to your order contained in your letter of the 3d instant, 1 hfwe cooper-
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ated with the commanding officer at Fort Barrancas to the extent
which the means at my cotnmand afford.
I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAS., ARMSTRONG,
Commandant.
Hon, IsAAc ToucEY,
Seerctary of the Navy, Wa.s/unglon, D. C,

Order of commandant navy yard, Pensacola, to Commander Walke, U. S.
Nazvy, commanding U. 8. skip Supply, regarding provisions for Fort
Pickens,

COMMANDANS OFFI0E, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
Warrington, January 10, 1861.

S1k: You will be pleased to proceed with the U. 8. storcshlp Supply
to Fort Plckenh, and to furnish the commanding officer of that fort such
quantities of' the provisions on board the ship as he may require for
the subsistence of the men in the fort, takmg his receipt in duplicate
for the articles so furnished, After luwlng performed this duty you
will return with the ship to the anchorage off this navy yard, and com-
plete the loading of her cargo with all possible dispatch.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAS, ARMb'l‘RONG,
Commandant.

Commander ITENRY WALKE,

Commanding U. 8. Storeskip Supply, Pensacola Bay.

Report of Commander Walke, U. S, Nawy, commanding U. 8. ship ;S'upply,‘
regarding supply of provisions for Fort Pickens.

U. S. STORESHIP SUPPLY,
Off Fort Pickens, Pensacola Bay, January 10, 1861,

Sir: In acknowledging the receipt of your instructions of this date I
would respectfully inform you that the commanding officer at Fort
Pickens is not ready to take the provisions referred to at present .md
requests all the assistance I can give him at my command.

I am, very respectfully, sir, your obedient servant,
H, WALKE,
Commander, U. S. Navy.
Flag-Officer JAMES ARMSITRONG,
-Commanding Navy Yard, Pensacola.

[nstructions of commandant navy yard, Pensacola, to Paymaster "N ar-
rington, U. S. Navy, regarding measures of relief for employés ot that
yard.

COMMANDANT’S OFFIOE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD, -
Warrington, January 10, 1861,

SIR: You will make requisitions on the naval storekeeper for such
articles of provisions on hand as are sufficient to supply the immediate
necessities of' such ot the employés of the navy yard as are suﬁeung
for the want of food in consequence of their failure to receive payment
for theiwr services during more than two months past. You will issue
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the provisions thus drawn to such of the various persons whose names
are on the yard rolls, and to whom pay for services rendered is due, as
may desire them, to the extent of one-fourth of a barrel of pork or beef,
one-fourth of a barrel of flour, 1 barrel of bread, 20 pounds of sugar,
20 pounds ‘of rice, 20 pounds of coffee, 20 poundb of buttel to ewh
to whom the cost is due, charging the same at the invoice prices to the
respective persons suppliéd, and. dedueting the cost from the amount
of pay due them,

I am, respectiully, your obedient servant,

J AMES ARMST RONG,
Commandant,
Paymaster L. WARRINGTON,
U. 8. Navy Yard at Warrington.

Ordm of the commandant navy yard, Pensacola, to Commander Wa Ike,
U. 8. Navy, commanding U. 8. ship Supply, regarding supplies for For
Pickens,

COMMANDANT'S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
Warrington, Janwary 11, 1861,

Sir: You will land with all posmbl(, dispatch the provisions that
have been requn'e(l by the commanding ofticer at Fort Pickens for the
subsistence of the men in the fort; and after having done so, and taken
lwupts in duplicate for all the articles delivered, you will return forth-
with in the ship to the anchorage oft this navy yard. X

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAS. ARMSTRONG,
Commandant,

Commander HENRY WALKE,
Comdy. U. 8. Storeship Supply, off Fort Pickens, Pensacola Bay.

Letter from Lieutenant Slemmer, U, 8. Army, commanding Fort Pickens,
to commandant navy yard, Pensacola, regarding the necessity of cooper-
ation for the protection of that harbor.

FortT PI1oxiNs, PENSACOLA HARBOR, January 11, 1861,
Sir: Iunderstand that lt is your intention to withdraw from this fort,
the protection of the U, 8. 8: Wyandotte and the storeship Supply, contrary
to the agreement between you and myselt day before yesterday. 1 had
the honor to state, as I did to you in the presence of' several officors at
our last 111tu‘v1ew that without the aid of these vessels it will be utterly
11npomlblc, in my opinion, for me to protect this -harbor, and I shall
therefore, in case this assistance is withdrawn, instantly relinquish all
hopes of defending the place, and report the stat(, of aftairs immedi-
ately by a messenger to W,\bhmgton.
I most respectfully request an immediate answer as to whether the
assistance above referred to is to be withdrawn or not.
By order of A. J. Slemmer, first licutenant, Iirst Artillery, U. S,
Army, commanding Fort Pwkens~
I am, sir, very respectfully, your sbedient servant,
», J. H., GILMAN,
Second Lieutenant, First Artillery, Acting Adjutant of the Post.

Commodore JAMES ARMSTRONG,
U. 8. Nawy.
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Letter from commandant navy yard, Pensacola, to Lieutenant Slemmer,
U. 8. Army, commanding Fort l’wlens, explaining withdrawal of U. 8.
ship Supply.

COMMANDANT’S OFFIOE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
Warrington, January 11, 1861,

Sir: In reply to your communication of this date I have to state that
the U. S, storeship Supply was sent to Fort D (Z{ens by my order merely
to eonvey the prov1snons you required and thén to return to this navy
yard. The Supply is not a vessel of war, and having been seit to this
station for the special service of conveying stores and coal to Vera Oruz
for the vessels of the Home Squadron stationed there, it is my duty to
dispateh her to that port at the carliest moment practicable, in con-
formity with the orders I have received from the Navy Department,
from which orders I can not deviate further., The steamer Wyandotte
may be retained for the purpose of cooperating with you until further
orders.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAS. ARMSTRONG,
Commandant.

Lieutenant A. J. SLEMMER, U. S, Army,

Commanding at Fort Pickens, Fla,

Order of commandant navy yard Pensacola, to Licutenant Berryman,
U. 8. Navy, commanding U. 8. 8. Wyandotte, to assist in delivery of
provisions from U. 8. ship Supply.

COMMANDANY’S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
Warrington, January 11, 18()1

S1r: You will proceed immediately with the steamer Wyandotte and
render to the commanding ofticer of the storeship Supply aid and assist-
ance in the delivery with all possible dispatch at Jort Pickens of
provisions which he has been ordered to land there, and when the
deliveries shall have been made and the proper receipts obtained you
will take the Supply in tow to the anchorage opposite the pmnupal
wharf of this navy yard without delay.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAS. ARMSTRONG,
. Oommandant,

Lieutenant Commanding O, H, BERRYMAN, -

Commanding U. 8. 8. Wyandotte, Pensacola Bay.

[Telegram.)

Porrsmovr, [N, H.] January 11, 1861.
Your order of yestérday is understood. The ship is now waiting for
the funds required.
J. GLYNN,
Isaac Toucry,
[Secretary of the Navy.)
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[Telegram.]
NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 11, 1861,

Your telegram of 11th received. Go to sea immediately without

waiting for funds. ‘
I. TouoEy,
: Secretary of the Navy.

Captain JAMES GLYNN, -

Commanding U. S. S’Inp Macedonian, Portsmouth, N, I,

[Telegram.) ]
Por1sMOUTH, January 12, 1861,
Your telegram of yesterday is received. Macedonian goes to sea to-
INOITOW e(u'ly, if the pilot will take her,
‘ J. GLYNN,
Cuptain,
Isaac Toucry,
[Secretary of the Navy.]
[Telogram.]
NAVY DEPARTMENT, Janwary 12, 1861,
Proceed to sea to-day.
- 1. Toucry,
\ Seerctary Navy.,
Captain JAMES GLYNN, ‘
© Commanding U. 8. Ship Macedonian, Portsmouth, N. H,

Order of commandant navy JM'(I DPensacola, to Liewtenant Berryman,
U. 8. Navy, commanding U. 8. S. Wyandotte, regarding cooperation
with Fort Pickens.

COMMANDANT'S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
)
Warrmgton, January 12 18(;‘1.

Sir: You will continue to cooperate with the commanding oﬁicer at
Fort Pickens, but should an attack be made you will not fire a gun
unless it may be actually necessary in defenso of the vessel under your
command, In the event of the capture of the fort you will proceed
immediately to the station to which you have been ordered by the Navy
Department. Itisreported thatthis yardis surrounded by armed men.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAS, ARMSTRONG,
Commandant,
Lieutenant Commanding O. H. BERRYMAN, '
Commanding U. S. 8. Wyandotte, Pensacola Bay, Florida,

[Teologram.)

PENSACOLA, January 12, 1861.
Departure of Tieutenant Maffitt in the Crusader reported on the 2d
[3d] instant. Not informed of his movements after that date. \

Respecttully, .

JAMES ARMSTRONG,
_ Commandant,
Hon. IsaAc ToUCEY,
Washington, D. C.
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["Telegram.)

NAVY DEPARIMENT, January 12, 1861.
Omn receipt of this return to Pensacola without a moment’s delay.
1. Toucry,
Secretary of the Navy.
Lieutenant J, N, MAFFITYT,
Commanding U. 8. 8. Crusader, New Orleans.

Letter from Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U. S. Nuvy, commanding Iome
Squadron, to commanding officers of vessels under his command, request-
ing information regarding small boats,

FLAGSHIP POWHATAN,

OF Sacrificios, January 12 18()1
Sir: You will please send me o list of your boats when arme(l, and
inform me of the number of officers and men in each composing the
crew, exclusive of marines; also the name of the boat and the nuwmber
of mun she will contain for landing; also deb(,rlptlon of arms for each
boat, and a list of articles for each boat, in accordance with the Ord-

uance Book of Instructions; also your boat signals, if you have any.

Very respecttully,
(x. J. PENDERGRAST,
Flagy- ()()wvr Commander in Chicf Home Squadron.

Captain MERCER,

Lowhatan.
Captain ADAMS,

Sabine.
Captain MARSTON,

Cumberland.
Commander PooOR,

St. Lowis.
Commander HAZARD,

~Pocahontas.

Order of the commandant navy yard, Pensacola, to Commander Walke,
U. 8. Navy, commanding U. S. ship Supply, in case of attack upon that
yuard,

COMMANDANT'S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
Warrington, January 12 1861.

Sir: I am informed that the navy yard is surrounded by ru'med men.
Should an attack be made you will proceed immediately to Vera Cruz
with the stores and coal you have now on board.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Commandant.
jommander HENRY WALKE,
Commanding U. 8. Storeship Supply,
off Fort Pickens, Pensucola Bay, Fla.
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Surrender of the Pensacola Navy Yard, January 12, 1861.

Report of Captain Armstrong, U, 8, Navy, late commanding navy yard, Pensacola, Fla.
[Telegram.)

- PENSACOLA, Junuary 12, 1861.
Commissioners appointed by the governor of IMlorida, with a regiment
of armed men at the gate, demanded the surrender of this navy yard,
having previously taken possession of the magazines. 1 surrendered
the place and struck my tlag at half past 1 o’clock p. m. this day. The
storeship Supply sailed for Vera Cruz [Mexico] the moment the yard

flag was lowered.
Respectfully, :

JAMES ARMSTRONG,

Captain, U, 8. Navy, late Commandant Navy Yard, Warrington, Fla,

Hon. IsAac ToUCEY,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington,

)

Roport of Captain Armstrong, U. 8. Navy, late commanding navy yard, Pensacola, Fla.

WASHINGTON, D. C., January 25, 1861,

Srr: On the 12th instant I telegraphed you from Pensacola that the
navy yard near that place had been surrendered by myself on the
demand of authorized commissioners of the State of Florida, counte-
nanced and supported by a superior force of State troops, aided by
reenforcements from an adjoining State. In order to exonerate myself
from even the suspicion of a failure to exercise the utmost vigilance, I
have the honor to call your attention to the appended correspondence,*
which took place between others and myself, the result of your order
issued to me on the 3d instant. This order was received on the 9th,
and simply directed me to “be vigilant to protect the public property,”
further informing me that the commanding officer of Fort Barrancas
had been instructed to consult with me, and that 1 should cooperate
with him. I endeavored to perform my duty in these particulars, and
every precaution that could be taken in guarding and protecting a
property so defenseless and ill supplied with men and arms was at
once adopted. Not for a moment was my watchfuluess relaxed, nor
did I hesitate to cooperate to the extent of my instructions with the
commanding officer at I'ort Barrancas, , ,

I had no specific instructions to guide me, 1 was not advised of the
intended policy of the Governmeut in dealing with these troubles, and
wholly destitute of the necessary means for coping with so superior g
force, I was left to the conclusions of my own judgment. As already
stated, the yard was surrendered on the 12th instant. On the morning
of that day I was apprised by an officer of the yard that a formidable
military force had invested the east gate, having on their way already
possessed themselves of the magazine. Circumstanced as I was, resist-
ance was worse than a desperate venture. My first act was to-secure
the signal books and destroy them. This effected, I was confronted by
the State’s commissioners, who demanded the surrender of the navy
yard. My position was a most painful one. With but twenty-three
mmarines on duty and a mechanical force disaffected and sympathizing
with the revolutionists, what show of resistance could I have made,

“ See preceding pages,
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opposed as I was by five or six hundred woll-armed and picked troops?
The defenscless condition of the yard rendered it an easy prey, and tho
utmost vigilance could not have averted the attack., DBesides, I had no
instructions to'guide me in dealing with this serious movement, involv-
ing the most fearful consequences. And could I dare assume so grave
a responsibility as striking a blow, useless in practical results, and a
signal for inaugurating all the dread horrors of a civil war? My
impression was that conciliation and a forbearing treatment was the
policy, apparently, of the Government, and so impressed I pursued
that course which, in view of my defenseless state, received the sanc-
tion of my judgment, Resistance would have availed nothing, but,
increasing the already feverish irritation of feeling, led to acts of merci-
less slaughter and destruction, complicating these unfortunate diffi-
culties; all this without one desired result or hoped-for success to my
Government being attained. Had I been directed to defend my position
at every hazard and under all eircumstances, I and the little band of
brave hearts under my command would have freely sacrificed our lives
in obedience to superior authority. I have never yet sought to evade
any duty, never disobeyed an order, or been found wanting in loyalty
to my Government and its flag., I may have erred, my judgment may
have been at fault, but my conscience acquits me of either perpetrated
or intended faithlessness to my country. I harbored no sympathy with
theviewsand objectsof the revolutionists, but sought alone todo my duty
faithfully and efficiently until overpowered by a force I had no means
of repelling. Had my loyalty to the Federal Government been at all
questionable, it would have yielded to the tempting and seductive over-
tures made %0 meo after the capitulation to enter the naval service of
the seceding States. I refused to entertain such a proposition, and at
once and peremptorily rejected every ofter. My allegiance and duty to
the Federal Government were explicitly announced with the expressed
determination to die as I had lived, under the Stars and Stripes of my
country. , ,

It may not be inappropriate, in submitting this statement and accom-
panying papers, to refer to my service. Ifor a half century on land
and sea I have served my country. Twenty-three ycars of this time
have been spent afloat, and whether ashore or atloat I have always
striven to perform my duties acceptably and faithfully.

And now, when my life is fast drawing to a close, I have increased
motives for avoiding everything calculated to imperil my hard-earned
reputation, and can but feel acutely any imputation on the part of my
fellow-citizens questioning my fidelity to a Government I revere and
love, and my devotion to « flag I have ever been proud to serve under.

In conclusion permit me most respectfully to ask your consideration
of the accompanying correspondence.

I now await your further orders.

I have the honor to be, your obedient servant,
JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Captain, U. S. Navy.
ITon. IsAAc TovUcCRY,
Secretary of the Navy.

[Enclosures.)

This is to certify that Commodore James Armstrong, of the U. S.
Navy, surrendered the command and relinquished the possession of
the navy yard at Warrington, Fla,, on the 12th day of January, 1861,
under the following circumstances and upon the following terms of

N W R—VoL 4 2
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capltulatlon to wit: A commission under authority of the governor
of Florida, accompamed by an armed force very much superior in num.
bers and equipments to that under his command, the latter not being
sufficient to enable him to defend the place, demanded its immediate sur-
render, with all the public property therein, which demand was acceded
to with the understandmg that he (the commfmdant) and all the offi-
cers and other citizens of the United States attached to the station who
desire to move therefrom shall be freely permitted to do so, and to
remove their families and all their private property at any time, or to
remain on parole of honor. ) )

In witness whereof we, the commissioners and the commandant
above referred to, have hereunto set our hands this 12th day of Jan-
uary, 1861.

V M. RANDOLPH, Captain. Navy Yard,

R1cHARD L. CAMPBELL,
Commissioners.

JAS, ARMSTRONG, ‘
Captain, U. S. Navy.

PENSACOLA NAVY YARD, January 14, 1861.

Commodore James Armstrong, of the U. 8. Navy, has placed in my
possession two packages, wln(,h were this day handed to him in
my presence, sealed, by Lieutenant J. S, ba.unders, of the U, S, Army.
Commodore Armstrong delivered the papers to me, as he is regarded
[as] a prisoner of war, and has been placed on his parole of honor,

V. M. RANDOLPH,
. Captain, Commanding Pensacola Navy Yard.
Witness:
J. S. GONZALES,
Lieutenant, Pensacola C. [?| T'roops.

PENSAcOLA NAVY YARD, January 16, 1861,

Commodore Janes Armstrong, of the U. 8. Navy, having given his
parole of honor not to bear arms against the State of Florida, has per-
mission to leave this place with his family and private property with-
oat hindrance or molestatlon

V. M. RANDOLPH,
Captain, Commanding Navy Yard.

Letter from Captain Armstrong, U. 8. Navy, late commanding navy yard, Pensacola, Fla., to
the Secretary of the Navy, requesting court of enquiry.

WASHINGTON, D, O, January 26, 1861.
SIR: Having made my report to the Departinent on the capture of
the navy yard at P’ensacola, late under my command, I now have to
request that a court of enquiry may be instituted to uxqune into all
the i’acts and circumstances of said capture, with the opinion of the
cour
I am, very uapuctiully, sir, your obedient servant,
JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Captain, U. S. Navy.
Hon. Isadc Toucry,
Secretary of the Navy.
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Extraots from proceedings of a naval court of enquiry convened at Washington City February
8, 1861, to enquire into the surrender of tho U. 8. navy yard, etc,, near Pensacola, Fla,, by
Captain James Armstrong, U, 8, Navy.

By virtue of the authority contained in the act of Congress ¢ for the
better government of the Navy of the United States,” approved April
23,1800, I hereby appoint Captain George W. Storer president, Captains
Elie A.F. Lavallette and Levin M, Powell members, and James M,
Carlisle, esq., judge-advocate, of a naval court of enquiry which is
ordered to convene in the city of Washington on Ifriday, the 8th
instant, or as soon thereafter as practicable, for the purpose of enquir-
ing into the circumstances connected with the surrender by Captain
James Armstrong, of the Navy, on or about the 12th day of January,
1861, of his command and the public property under his charge at the
navy yard near Pensacola, Fla. The court will report to this Depart-
ment the testimony and evidence, the material facts which they deem
to be established, and their opinion as to the propriety of the conduct
of the said Captain Armstrong in the matter which is the subject of
this enquiry. .

Given under my hand and the seal of the Navy Department of the
United States this 2d day of February, A. D. 1861.

[SEAL.] IsArc Touory,

Secretary of the Nawvy.

Captain GEORGE W. STORER, U, 8. Navy.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, February 6, 1861,
‘. Sir: A naval court of enquiry, of which you are appointed judge-
advocate, has' been ordered to convene in this ¢ity on Friday next,
the 8th instant, on which day, should you accept this appointment, you
will report in person to the president of the court.
I am, respectfully, your obedient servant, '
I. Toucry,
' [Secretary of the Navy.)
WiLriaM B, B. Cross, Esq.,
Washington, D. C.
[KEndorsoment.]
Reported February 8, 1861,
GEo. W, STORER,
President of the Court.

WASHINGTON Crry, February 8, 1861—11: 30 a. m.

The court met pursuant to the foregoing orders. Present, Captain
George W. Storer, Captain Elie A. F. Lavallette, Captain Levin M.
Powell; William B. B. Cross, esq., judge advocate; Captain James
Armstrong also present. - v .

The judge-advocate, having read the orders convening the court,
asked Captain Armstrong if he had any objection to any member
named thereini to which he replied he had not. The court was then,
in the presence of Captain Armstrong, duly sworn by the judge-advo-
cate, and the judge-advocate was duly sworn by the presiding officer of
the court.

The privilege of introducing his counsel, P. Phillips, esq., was here
asked by Captain James Armstrong, and the same was granted by the
court,

And then, at 12:30 o’clock p. m., the court adjourned to meet at 10
o'clock a. m. to-morrow.
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WAsHINGTON Ci1y, February 9, 1861—10 a. m.

The court met pursuant to adjournment. Present,all the members;
William B. B. Cross, judge-advocate; Captain James Armstrong also
present,

The record of ye%terdwy proceedings was read over. The judge-
advocate then read in evidence to the court the following documentary
matter, being an official report,* with papers appended thereto, made
by Captain James Armstrong to the Hon. I, Toucey, Secretary of the
Navy. The report was admittéd by Captain James Armstrong, in the
presence of the court, to bear his signature, and to have been trans.
mitted by. him, with the copies of papers attached thereto, which copies
he likewise admltted to be correct wpxe% of genuine papers, to the Sec-
retary of the Navy.

At this point of the proceedmgs Cmpt.un Armstrong presented to
the court the following ol)Jchl()ll in connection with the letter last read:

I object to tho papor pm‘poltinw to bo mglmd by V. M. Randolph on tho 16t of
January, 1861, as evidencing the truth of the fuct theroin stated; to wit: “Comino-
doro James Armstrong of the U. S. Navy, having given his pnro]o ot honor not to
bear arms’ ugaiusb the State of Flovida,” ete, - This is not intended as n1iore tech-
nical objection’; theallegntion thatany sucl parole was given is wholly untrue. . This
paper was handed to me whilo on hoard the stenmor at Pensacola, bound for Mobile,
and-its terms were not discovered by me until somo time after I had left Pensacola,
This, it will be percalvul Dears date four days after the capitulation, and by the
terms of that cupxtulablon no such condition is mentioned,

, JAMES ARMSTRONG.

The judge-advocate stated that he had not folt at liberty, in oﬁermg
the report of Captain Armstrong and tho papers annexed, to discrun-
inate. Such a course might have been attended with injustice to Oap?
tain Armstrong. The paper referred to relates to a fact intimately
connected with and a part of the subject-matter to be enquired into by
this court, and, as affecting Captain Armstrong’s conduct, is evidence
of what is recited ’rherem, b hiaving been ’tppendod by (Japtfun Arm-
strong himself to his own repor ,an(l thereby made a part thereof, and
sublmtted without e\plan(mon as v narrative of occurrences that

transpired in connection with the surrender of the navy yard. If there
, be error or mistake therein, Oaptain Armstrong can be allowed to cor-
rect the same by proof, or to e\p]am it hereafter in his statement to the
court; but the paper ltself being part of the official report, should be
admltted with it as ev1dence for what it is worth.

Captain Armstrong, with the permission of the court, objected tur-
ther, as follows:

'I'he objection that what Randolph says in his paper of the 16th as to my having

iven my purole of honor ¢an not ho received as evidenco rests upon prlucnples of
hzw too plain and familiar to bo demed

1t is not denied that the fact is relevant to the enquiry befors the court, but ‘tho

fact nitist be proved according to the principles of law. Nor will it do t() say wo
will admit the fact is proved b) Randolph, and then, if untrue, Captain Alulstloug
can dlsplovu it.

Nor can it bo properly said the papor can bo admitted for what it is worth. The
question whether or not the paper is evidence must be made when the paper is
introduced.

1t is said that Captain Aunstrong, 'wmp; sent the paper to the Dopartment with-
out m{planutiou, has thereby made it evidence againat him. But this certainly can
not for a moment be enter tained as o just conclusion of law. ‘The report of all the
facts was made by him in his letter to the Secretary, and he deemvd it proper, while
fully vindicating and asserting the propriety of his action, in order to possess the
Secretary with a full *knowlulgc of the anomalous condition of affairs existing at
Pensacola to seml in all the papers 'm(l letters in )nq poeqesmon w hl(,h could shed

#* For Armstx oug’s report, thh onclosures, 866 PP, 16—~18

-
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light upon the {.ansaction, But sirely in doing this he did not intend to vouch
for the truth of anything except as to those transactions in whieh ho was himself
concerned,
JAMES ARMSTRONG.

The judge-advocate asked leave to reply to the last objection of Cap-
tain Armstirong, as the first one urged by him (Captain Armstrong)
gave irregularly a statement of facts rather than legal objections to
tho admissibility of the evidence. The rule is, undoubtedly, as alluded
to by Captain Armstrong, that what one person says can not be adduced
in evidence against another. But one of the well-recognized exceptions
is when a statement affecting a party is made by another person in his
presence and hearing and is not denied or qualified by him. By failing
to do cither hie-may be taken to assent to its truth, and the effect of
the proof is only to establish an admission coming from the person
addressed. The present case is a strong illustration of the exception
contended for; and Captain Armstrong, in receiving and transmitting
this paper with his report as a part of the history of the surrender of
his command, without correction or any allusion to its inaceuracy, must
be taken to have endorsed its truth, subject to explanation, as before
stated.

The court was cleared for deliberation, and decided that the objection
be not sustained. _

The court was reopenced and the decision announced,

LEwis WARRINGTON, a witness called by the judge-advocate, was
then duly sworn,
By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE: :

- Question. Were you on duty or present at the navy yard at Warring-
ton, near ’ensacola, on or about the 12th of January last? 1t yea, in
what capacity ¢

Answer, T was there at that time on duty as paymaster of tho yard.

Question. Who was in command of said navy yard at the time re-
ferred to?

Answer. Commodore James Armstrong.

Question, State as concisely as you can, and in the order of their
occurrence, the circumstances that immediately preceded and attended
the surrender of the navy yard and public property at that point by
Captain James Armstrong.

Answer. Tho troops came down to tho yard about 12 o’clogk on the day of the 12th
of January. ‘Tho two officers camo into the yard and told the commodore they
wished the surrenderof the yard. Commander Farrand went to tho yard gate and’
cune in with them, . Beyond that I do not know what transpired, except that aftor-
wards, when walking in front of tho oflice of the paywmastor, 1 heard Lieutenant
Renshaw give an order to Williain Conway, seaman, to haul the flag down, Don’t
know by wwhose direction same was given. The flag was on tho staff near tho center
wharf, Conway was an American and alone. Shortly afterwards Commodore Arm-
strony told me ho had sirrendered, Commandoer Farrand was then attached to the
yard as oxecutive officer.

Question. What, if any, was the force, at the time of the surrender,,
under the command of Captain Armstrong?

Answer. There were 260 men—officers and marines—under his command in the
yard and on shipboard. In the yard there were 80 ordindry men, 40 marines, and 60
men, about, in each of tho two vessels—the Supply and Wyandotte. “T'he Wyandotte is a
stoamer with four or six battery guns. The Supplyis a storeship; had two guns nsed
forsignals, Licutenant Berryman commanded the IVyandotte, Commandor Walke the

Supply.



22 OPERATIONS IN THE GULF OF MEXICO.

Question. What was the character of the force brought against the
navy yard prior to its surrender by Captain Armstrong, as regards
numbers, discipline, and eqmpments2

Answer. There wero wbout 600 or 800 men. They were armed with muskets; had
no fieldpieces. Can’t speak as to discipline. They came from Alabama, and a part,
say about 100, from *lorida,

Question. What was the condition of Captain Armstrong’s command
at the time referred to, as regards discipline, subordination, and general
efficiency ?

Answer, The discipline and snbordination was about the same that I haveseen in
other yards. There was no disaffection that I knew of,

Question. When was it first known at the navy yard, or in the imme-
diate vicinity therecof, that a hostile force was about to march, or had
marched, against tlm yard to attack it ?

Answer,-It was talked about o woek before they took the yard that a force would
leave for Pensacola to take the yard.

Question. State whether any, and, if wny, what, preparations were
made by Captain Armstrong, or any one under his authority, for the
defense of the yard and the public property thereat.

Answer. I do not know of any. .

Question. Were any such arrangements of a special character made,
to your knowledge, from the 9th to the 12th of January, inclusive?

Answer, There was not.

Question. Describe briefly what facilities, if any, the navy yard
offered for defense,

Answor. There was none, The navy yard was enclosed by a hrick wall abont 2
feet high, except on the water front.

The examination of this witness was here suspended, his testimony
read over to him, and then, at 1 ¢’clock p. m., the court adjourned, to
meet again at 10 ¢’clock on Monday, the 11th instant.

WAsHINGTON CITY,
Monday, February 11, 1861—10 a. m.

The court met pursuant to adjournment. Present, all the members;
William B. B. Cross, judge-advocate; Captain J'unes Armstrong also
present.

The record of Saturday’s proceedings was read over and the exam-
ination of LEWIS \VARRIN(:TON, paymaster, the witness under examina-
‘tion when the court last adjourned, was resumed

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. What were the usual approaches to the navy yard and by
what route did the Alabama and Florida troops approach, and could
the same be commanded by the guns of the vessels from the bay?

Answer. The troops came by the route by the bay shore, crossing the bridge, the

usnal road from Pensncola. I'should not think it could be commanded by the guns
of the vessels from the bay.

Questlon. What disposition was made of the public property and
jbccounts in your possession, and did you receive any command in rela-
tion thereto; and if any, from whom, and what was it?

Answer. I received no orders from anyono connected with the navy yard. A part
of my accounts I have, and a part I have not. The property was all left there. The
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property was taken possession of by Captain Randolph. There was no person to
give mo any receipt except for $700 or $800 given by Mr. Gonzales by order of Cap-
tain Randolph. I do not now know where that is.

By the Courr:

Question, Was theére a saluting battery at the yard? If so, what
number of guns composed it?

Answer. Thero was one, consisting of twenty-four guns. They were small guns,
9 or 12 pounders. ’ ;

Question, You have stated, in the answer to the question to ¢ describe
what facilities were at the yard for defense,” that you know of none.
Do you not consider the Wyandotte and the Supply, in front of the yard,
the saluting battery and the marines, seamen and crews of the vessels,
composing 240 men, facilities which might have been made use of in
the defense of the yard and the public property %

Answer. No; T do not. They could be used, but were not enough, I think, to
defend it, .

Question. Did you consider yourself a prisoner after the surrender?
If so, how did you get a release?

Answer, I was told by Captain Randolph to consider myself a prisoner of war on
parole. He sent me, whon I left, a parole, which I now have.

Witness produced the paper, which was as follows:

PrnsacorLa NAVY YARD, January 14, 1861,

Paymaster L. Warrington, U, S, Navy, having given his parole of honor not to bear
arms against the State of I*lorida, has permission to leave this naval station with his
private property without hindrance or molestation. Y. M. Ranporrn,

Captain, Commanding Navy Yard.

The witness then added, “ I have no recollection of giving my parole.”
By Captain ARMSTRONG :

Question. In speaking of the force of the yard you say there were
40 marines, 80 ordinary men, and about 60 on each of the vessels, the
Supply and Wyandotte. Do you know that a day ortwo before the 12th
some30 of the ordinary men had been sent to Fort Pickens to strengthen
that post?

Answer, I do not know the fact of my own knowledge. I was ordered to send
over small stores for about 30 men whom Commander Farrand said had gone to Fort
Pickens.

Question. You say it was talked about a week before the 12th that
troops would be sent from Alabama to take the yard, Did you regard
this as authentic information, or as mere idle rumor?

Answer. I did not consider it anthentic information, I considered it mere idle
rumor until about two days before they did come, )

Question, Have you any reason to know that Commodore Armstrong

had any information which would authorize the belief on his part that
the yard would be assailed prior to the day when the troops came?

Answer, No, sir; I have none.
3 )

Question. You were asked if any special arrangement was made by
Commodore Armstrong for the detense of the yard and replied in the
negative. Could any suc¢h have been cffectively made by him?

(The judge-advocate objected to this question as inviting an opinion
rather than facts. The opinion of the witness objected to. The court
decided that the witness must state the facts, if any, or condition of
things, which precluded arrangements of the character referred to
being made by Captain Armstrong for the detense of the yard.)
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Answor, It was not thhm niy provines to know about the defense. I can not
stato any facts or circumstances that would have prevented the dofense of the yard.

Question, Do you mean to be understood by anything you have said
that Commodore Armstrong was derelict in his duty in guarding the
publie property, or that he had omitted to do anything which an officer
in his position ought to have done?

Answer, No; I do not.

Question. B(‘bld(,s the 600 or 800 men who came to the yard, have
you any reason to believe that there were other forces at Pennu)la,
and that the citizeus themselves were in a state of revolt?

Answor. I have no reason to supposo the citizens wero in revolt. I saw another
company at Pensacoln threo or four days after the capture of tho yard, but do not
know that it was there at the tine of the capture.

“Question. Where were the Supply and Wyandotte at the time of the
surrender?

Answor, I think they weroe lying off Fort Pickens,

Question. Did not the ordinary men of the yard immediately after
the surrender associate and sympathize with the capturing party?

Aunswer. I do not know.

Question, I ask the same question in reference to the otner employés
of the yard.

Answer. I do not know. Wae, the oflicors, were not allowed to go out of the gate
for two days.

By the Counrt:
Question, Were the ships, when at anchor oft ¥ort Pickens, within
signal distance from the yard?
Answer, They were.
The testimony of this witness taken to-day was then read over to

him, and then, at 12:30 o’clock p. m., the court adjourned to meet again
at 10 o’clock a. m. to-morrow:

s

WASHINGTON O11Y, February 12, 1861—10 a. m.

‘The court met pursuant to adjournment. Present all the members;
William B. B. Cross, the judge-advocate; Captain James Armstrong
also present,

The record of Mon(my s proceedings was read over.

JosiAan WATSON called as & witness by the judge-advocate.
By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you on duty or present at the navy yard near Pen-
sacola on the 12th of January last? If so, in what capacity ¢

Answer. I was on duty there on the 12th as captain of marines.
Question. YWho was in command of that navy yard at that time?
Answer. Commodore Armstrong,

Question. State as concisely as you can, bus in some detml the cir-
cumstances, in the order of their occurrence, that immediately 1)receded
apd attended the surrender of the navy yard and the public property
at that point by Captain Armstrong.

Answer. About broakfast time—8 or 9 o’clock-—the commodore sent for me, and the
messenger who came for me told me that the commodore directod that all the marines
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should be undoer armas and ready for immediate use and service, ' I got the men under
aring, muskets and bayonots coinplete, and then went up to report to the commodore
in person, leaving the men at the barracks, When I reached the commodore’s office
he told me that lie had heard o body of men were coming toward the yard; that ho
did not know whether it was true or not, but that he wished me to be ready all day
until furthor instructed.. We had at that timea sergeant and a corporal and three
privates stationed at the north gate, with instructions not to lot any strangers come
in unless passed in by an officer of the yard, ‘I'hat guard had been there with these
orders ever sinco the Tuesday before; the 12th wag Saturday. The large gate was
kopt closed and the small gate, or wicket gato; only was kept open. The north gate
and wicket gato wore one, and were ‘on the north side of tho yard, 50 yards from the
beach, Thero was anotlier gate on the west side, Aftor seeing the commodore on
Saturday I returned to the barracks; and it might have heen about 130 o’clock the
commodoro sent for me again, .~ Imot him coming out of his gate. 'The commodore
told me that ho had surrendered, and askoed me to go into Captain Farrand’s guarters
with him, where the commissioners were, Arriving there I was introduced to the
commissioners—Colonel Lomax; Captaiti Randolph, and Mr, Catpbell, commissioners
upon-the part of Florida. Captain Randolph used to be in the Nuvy of tho United
States. Commodore Armstrong then handed over the key of the magazine to Colonel
Lomax, the commanding officer of the attacking force. Colonel Lomaxreplied [that]
he received the key in the name of tho State of Florida and for the uso of that State,
Shortly afterwards Colonel Lomax caine down and took possession of the marine
barracks and all the public property. e camo not with troops, but with his
aids. 1 had my arms stacked. He told me he wanted to quarter 300 men in the bar-
racks, I moved my men, 38 in number, into two rooms, and he occupied the rest of
tho barracks, except the house I occupied: - Wo had 6’ hand 100 muskets and 3,000
cartridges at the barracks; had furnished Lieutenunt Slemnmer a fow days before—I
think the Friday before—with 1,000 cartridges. By 2 o’clock we were all prisoners
in the barriacks, and we were not allowed to go out or in without the permit of the
captain of the company at the gate. He liad sentries placed all around the barracks,
Colonel Lomax gave me a reeeipt for all tho public property delivered up.

Question, Did you ever understand from Captain Armstrong prior
to the surrender what would be his course if called on to give up his
command and the public property? If yea, state what that was.

Answer. I never did. The commodore liad told me to be always ready, day and
night, for any orders or any emergenocy that might happen, ‘The usual guard ut the
north gate was ono sentry. The addition was made by Captain Armstrong, as
before stated.

Question, What point on the road from Pensacola had the State
troops reached before their approach was known to you at the yard ?

Answer. Iwas on duty at the barracks and did not see them approach, The first
I knew of their coming was as I before stated.

Question, Was it the duty of the guard at the gate to report the
advance of any hostile force? It yea, to whom should the report have
been made?

Answer, Thoe orders to the guard at the gate were to givo the alarm by firing a
muskeb if at night, and sending a messenger, and if during the day by sending a
messenger to tho commandant of the yard, also to Commander Farrand and to the
barracks. ‘

Question. Did you receive any report of the approach of the force
by messengers?

Answer. I did not.

Question. What part did each of the other officers of the command
take in the surrender of the yard?

Answer. I do not know. "I was at the harracks until sent for by the commodore,
It was reported to me by the corporal, officially, that Commander Iarrand had
passed in the commissioners at the gate. I did not sce the flag hauled down. ’

Question. ‘State as accurately as you can what force Captain Arm-
strong had under his command at the time of the surrender. -

) K A . . .
Answer, Tho marine guard consisted of mnyself as captain of marines, 4 sergeants,
3 corporals, 1 fifer, and 29 privates; total, 38, Some of the raarines had been sick,
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bus on the 12th they wero all out arid on duty. There were some ordinary men, but
how many I can’t say; we generally averaged about 40 to 50, Thé Wyandolte and
the Supply were at Fort Pickens on the 12th. I think the crew of the Hyandotte was
60 and that of the Supply 35 mon.

Question. What cannon were at the yard available for defense, and
what guns were on the vessels?

Answer. There were several old guns, four of them from the Fulfon’s battery, which
was wrecked there. Thore was asaluting battery on the north beach—about twenty
guns in all—old ‘guns that had been used a long while, I can’t state the caliber;
they were carronades; we had no fieldpieces.

Question. What was the character of the force brought against the
yard prior to the surrender thereof by Captain Armstrong as regards
numbers, discipline, and cquipments?

Answer, Thero were nbout 650 men in all. ‘They were uniformed companies, All
well equipped with muskets and revolvers, oxcept the cavalry, who had the-usual
arms. Three hundred went to the barracks and wero quartered there; one company
to the large guard room at the north gate; one company to the assistint surgeon’s
house, and the balance,some three companies, went to the Barrancas barracks,  One
of these three was a horse conipany. There was one artillery company in the com-
mand, but-it had no field guns,

Question. What was the condition of Gommodore Armstrong’s com-
mand about the time of the surrender, as respects subordination; and

-was there any disaffection among men or officers that impaired the
efficiency of his command?

Answer. I will speak of the marine guard and say that it was well disciplined, and
every man perfectly reliable for any duty he might have been called on todo. Iknow
of no disaffection prevailing among the rest ot the command. '

Question, When was it first known in the yard that a force had
marched, or was about to march, against the yard?

Answer, Ican’t say. We had at times rumors, hut I never knew when they arrived
until as before stated. ~

Question. Were any other arrangements than those you have already
referred to made by Captain Armstrong for the defense of the yard;
and if any, what were they? :

Answer. I do not know of any others.

‘Question. By what route did the hostile force approach the yard, and
could the vessels in the bay approach the same at any point near
enough to command it with the guns?

Answer, The troops came by the ordinary road from Pensacola, crossing two
bridges to thenorth gate. Can’tsay hownear the vessels could comein, as the water
is shallow. The draft of the vessels I do not know, but think it was about 12 or 156
feot.

Question. Do you know of any acts of cooperation on the part of
Captain Armstrong and his command with Lieutenant Slemmer, U. S,
Army? If so, state their character.

Answer, None of my command were sent to Ifort Pickens, I underatood that on
Wednesday night some thirty ordinary men were sent over in launches, but did not
see them go. I missed some of the men from the yard afterwards,

By-Captain ARMSTRONG :

Question. Had not the magazine been taken possession of prior to
the meeting when you say the commodore gave up the key to the
commissioners?

‘Answer, I have no personal knowlédge. I could only answer by hearsay.
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Question. Flave you any reason to know that Commodore Armstrong
had any reliable information that the yard would be assailed prior to
the actual investment of it?

Answer. No, sir; I have not. I do not think that he had.

Question. What was the character of discipline maintained in the
yard? Was there any lack of care in the preservation or defense of
the public property while under Commodore Armstrong’s command ¢

Answer. There was no lack of such eare on Captain Armstrong’s part. Everythiug
went on nt the yard after his arrival as prior to it. -

Question. Could any effective resistance have been made under the
circumstances which you have narrated? In other words, it every
officer.and man had been willing to sacrifice his life in the defense of
the yard, could it have been preserved from the attacking force?

(This question was objected to by the judge-advocate on the grounds
presented yesterday to a similar enquiry calling for the opinion of the
witness, and the court sustained the objection.)

By the COURT:

Question, ITow long were you detainéd as prisoners, and on what
terms were you released, and by what authority?

Answer. On Saturday at half past 1 o’clock p. m. we wero taken prisoners. = On
Sunday morning Captain Armstrong sent for me, and told me that the Supply had
come in under a flag of truce from ¥ort Pickens and would tuke to New York all of
the marines and such of the other officers as wished to go. Captain Walke, of the
Supply, told me Monday he was ready to move the men aboard, and I sent the men
aboard the ship and turned them over to Captain Walke. I remained until Monday
and went to Mobile then and returned by the land route. On the day [ left Mr,
Shipley, secretary or clerk to Captain Randolph, brought me this paper from Cap-
tain Randolph, and signed by him:

“PENSACOLA NAVY YARD, January 16, 1861.
“Captain Josiah Watson, of the U. 8. Marine Corps, having given his parole of

honor not to bear arms against the State of Florida, has permission to leave this

place with his family and private property without hindrance or molestation.
“V. M. RanpoLPH,
“ Captain, Commanding Navy Yard.”

I never read this paper and had no oceasion to nse it on leaving. I never gave my
parole. I was told Ry Colonel Lomax that I was on parole. I sald nothing in reply.
Mr, Shipley told me this paper might bo of service to me in passing through Alabama
and Georgia home.

By the JUDGE-ADVOGATE:
Question. What is the relative position of the magazine to the navy-

yard enclosure, and was any guard placed thereat, or at any other point
distant from the yard prior to the surrender?

Answer. The large magnzine, the one of which I have been speaking, is out of the
yard enclosure & half mile from the north wall, No guard, to my knowledge, was
ever placed thereat, or anywhere beyond the yard enclosure.

By Captain ARMSTRONG :

Question, Areyou certain thatitwas Commodore Armstrong who sent
you the message about embarking the marines on board the Supply?

Answer. I am. <
The testimony of this witness was then read over to him.

ELBRIDGE LAWTON, a witness called by the judge-advocate, was
then duly sworn, and examined as follows: :
By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:
Question. Were you on duty at the navy yard near Pensacola on the
12th of January last? If so, in what capacity?
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Answer, I was, as supcrintendent of the machinery of the United States steamer
Fulton. My position is chief engineer in the Navy,

Question. Who was in the command of the yard at that time?
Answer. Commiodore Armstrong,

Question. State as concisely as you can, but in some detail, and in
the order of their occurrence, the circumstances that immediately pre-
ceded and attended the surrender of the navy yard and publie prop-
erty at that point by Captain James Armstrong.

Answer, The night previous to the tuking of the yard I heard moen wore on their
way from Montgowmery, Aln. I heard thoy were expected in tho train at 9 o'elock.
I did not mention this to Captiin Armstrong; T did to Captain Watson. My, Jumes,
on duty us engineor in the yird, told me next morning about 9 or 10 o’clock thiat
thoy had arrived.  Abount 12 o’clock [ wns standing in conversution with Com-
mander Fareand, nnd & watehimiin came from the direction of the gate next to Wool-
sey, the north gate; to Caplain Fareand ihd said, ¢ ’'hey aro here,” or “They want
you,” or words to that effoct, and he broke oft’ immediately nnd said, ¢I havoto go.”
He went_in tho direction of the north gate. As lio started off I said; ‘“Are tho
troops here?” and hesaid, ¢ Yes.,” 1 followedon close behind-himmand arrived itt the
gate just aftor him, There were two gentlemoen standing insido tlio gatein citizen’s
dress—Captiain Randolph and Mr. Campbell. Captuin Randolph, I understood, was
ncting as commissioner for the Stite of Alabama and Mr, Campbell for that of
Florida, Commander Farrand shook hands with them very cordially; scemod to
know them well, and had somoe conversation with them—a few words, I did not
hear the words. I passéd on out of the gate, und Commander Farrand turned back
with them find went up the ynrd. I went out of the yard to see the troops.  About
a fourth of & mlo oft from the yard suw them. I returned to the yard, and as I
entered the gato Commander Iarrand wus returning with Ciaptain Randolph and
My, Campbell.  They passed out,-and st that time Colonel Lomax, with his aids, was
riding up toward the gate, leaving the troops where they first stood. Captain Ran-
dolph and Mr. Campbell had then an interview with Colonel Lomiix and Conimander
Farrand, The gates were then opened and Colonel Yomax and his aids rode in. I
did not hear the conversation that passed, ‘They wont in the direetion of the com-
modore’s_office, and went into the building in which the office is, and had Deen in
there nbout tive minutes when Lisutenant Renshaw called the watchman and said to
him, ¢ Haul the flag down.” * Colonel Lomax und party then game out iigain, went
out [of] the yard and marched in the troops. I did not sco the flag hauled down;
could not seo it done from thoe position I was then in.  Saw afterwards that it was
down, Tho troops cime in at the north gnte and marched around to tho west gate,
and there they halted, I passed out tho small gate and went to see Captain Watson,
who was standing at tho barracks with some of the marines; can’t say they were
under arms. I had some conversation with him and he said, ‘Here comes the officer
I am to surrender to.” Colonel Lomax rode up and dismounted, and he and Cap-
tain Watson passed in under the arch. No conversation hud oceurred between them,
I thon went into tho yard again. I saw Commodoro Armstrong soon after the flag
was ordered to he hanled down. Tasked him'if I could leavethe yard, and told him
1 winted to go to Washington. e said he had no control over me; that his func-
tions had coased as commander of the yard, and I could go where I pleased. I sup-
posed from that I conld go, hut when I attompted that ovening to go I was pre-
vented fromn passing by, Colonel Lomax.,

By the Court:
Question. Do you know it any other flag was hoisted in the place of
the one taken down?

Answer, I did not notico that one was hoisted on that day. On Sunday I saw ono
hoisted. It was a dingy white flag; looked liko an old signal flag with a star put
on it,

Question, How far could a body of troops marching on the yard be
seen from the gate or any other part of the navy yard? -
Answer. By thoroad the troops approachied they could be seen for a third of a mﬂe,

ag the road is in a direct line., ~If they left the road and went into the woods they
“ould approach much nearer hefore being seon.,
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By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Did you ever understand from Captain Armstrong, prior
to the arrival of the troops, what was to be done in the event of their
coming? And if so, state what that understanding was. :

Answer. Nothing whatever was so understood by me.

Question, State whether any, and, if any, what, arrangements were
made by Captain Armstrong, or others under his authority, for the
defense of the navy yard and the public property thereat, and especially
as between the 9th and 12th of January, inclusive.

Answer. T have no personal knowledge. I only know what Captain Watson told
me he was doing under orders.

Question, What was the condition of Captain Armstrong’s command
in respect of subordination, and was there, to your knowledge, any
disaftection therein?

Answer. I know of no disaffection among the offiters, except it be in the case of
Mr. Gounzales, the nuval storekeeper, who was a secessionist, and talked opeiily nbout
secession and appeired anxious to bring about Recession and the capture of the prop-
erby there.  Hoe snid they would eapture it, and were right to do so. He was not at
all loyal; he furnished provisions out of his own house to one of the companies after
the surrender.  1.do not know of any further disafiection among the officers. I said
at the time the order wus given tohaul down the f{lag, to Lienténant Renshaw, ¢I
had hoped I would never live to ses thoe day when that would Lappen,” He replied,
“I amn not hauling it down to an enemy; I am hauling it down to our own people.”
I roplied I did not know any such peoplomyself. ‘The master machinist of the yurd,
James Doylo, was by at the time, aund when he heard the erder given said that that
was right, and he was glad to hear that order given. He had also denied to me that
any troops had arrived, and whan I mentioned that Mr. Jumes had told me théy had
arrived he said, “ Well, I am liko the telegraph office or company, and don't tell
secrets.” It wns almost impossible to find ont whether troops had arrived at Poensa-
cola or not. 1 asked a great many wlho ought to have known and they denied it.
All the master workmen except the painter were disaflfected. I can’t speak as to
him. The mechanies, I judge 200 in all—120 whites, the balance blaucks—under the
muster workmen, I ean’t spenk of, except that after the surrender they fraternized
with the eapturing force; I meun as a body; there were some fow exceptions, I
know nothing of the men in ordinary. There was no disaffection among the marines.

Question, What was the strength of the force brought against the
navy yard prior to its surrender?

Answer. About four hundred.

By Captain ARMSTRONG :

Question. Was the population of Woolsey and Warrington all dis-
affected toward the Government and countenancing and encouraging
the movement against the yard?

Answer, I think not. I know that all of them wore not. * 1 can not say that a
large portion even were disatfected. I only know that after the surrender most of
thom appeared to boe on tho side of the insurgents. T'hose who were not remained

passive. I know that Mr, Saint made himself unpopular by trying to form a com-
pany to defend the yard, and was driven off after the surrender by Major Chase,

(Commodore Armstrong here requested the judge-advocate to note
that he desired to ask tbis withess the same question that was put to
the last witness, and objected to, relative to his opinion of' their ability
to defend the yard at any cost of life.)

Question. How did you get away? Did you give any parole?

. AI}S\};@I‘. I did not give any parole. I had a permit signed by Captain Randolph;

1818 10 .

“Permit Engineer Lawton and Engineer Musgrave to pass with their effects out
of the navy yard.
Y, M. Banporry,
“l14TH JANUARY, 1861.”
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g 'il‘hc dato hero should have been on the 18th; it was delivered to me Sunday, tho
13th.

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and the
court then, at 3:15 o’clock p. m., adjourned to meet again to-morrow
morning at 10 o’clock a, m.

WASHINGTON C11Y, February 13, 1861—10 a. m.
The court met pursuant to adjournment. DPresent, all the members;
William B, B, Cross, judge-advocate; Captain Armstrong also present.
The judge-advocate having been prevented by indisposition from
writing up the record, the court, to allow him an opportunity to do so,
then adjourned to meet again to-morrow morning at 10 o’clock a. m.

WASHINGTON Crry, February 14, 1861—10 a. m.
The court met pursunant to adjournment, Present, all the inembers;
William B. B. Cross, judge-advocate; Captain James Armstrong also
present.
~ The record of the proceedings of the 12th and 13th February were
then read over, .
Captain JOSIAH WATSON, a witness previously examined, was then
recalled by the judge-advocate and interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGE ADVOCATE: «

Question, You stated in your previous examination that when Cap-
tain Armstrong handed the key of the magazine to Colonel Lomax the
latter replied he “received it in the name of the State of Tlorida,” ete.
What had Captain Armstrong said previously? And state generally
what passed at that interview relative to the surrender of the navy
yard or magazine.

Answer, Ho handed the key and merely said ho turned over to him the keys of the
magazine, Therc was no other conversation that I heard rélative to the surrender of
the yard or magazine. Tho yard itself had been surrendered previously.

Question. Do you know that a request was ever made by Lieutenant
Slemmer, U. S. Army, in command of Fort Pickens, of Captain Arm-
strong, that if he had determined to capitulate he would send him
(Lieutenant Slemmer) the marines to aid in the defense ot Fort Pickens?

Answer, I do not.

Question. Do you know who were present at the interview between
Captain Armstrohg and the commissioners when the surrender took
place?

Answer. I do not know.

By the CoURrT:

Question. How long before the surrender of the yard had Lieutenant

Slemmer left Fort Barrancas to occupy Fort Pickens?

Answer, Ithink he went over Tuesday or Wednesday night prior; I think Wednes-
day. I understood that men and launches were sent down from the yard to aid him,
and that the Wyandotte towed them over.

Question. How long before the surrender of the yard did the Sup-
g{'y and Wyandotie go over to Fort Pickens?

Answer, The Supply went over on the Thursday before; the Wyandotie Friday,
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BLBRIDGE LAWTON, chief engineer, & witness previously examined,
was then recalled by the judge-advocate, and interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:
Question, Do you know how your pass or permit to leave came to
difter from the others granted? . It so, state how.

Answer. I do not know, unless it was that my name did not appear upon the roll
of the yard. T did not muster with the oflicers of the yard.

This testimony was then read over to the witness,

WiLLiaM MUSGRAVE, a witness called by the judge-advocate, was
then duly sworn,

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question, Were you present at the U. S. navy yard near Pensacola,
Fla., on the 12th of January last? If so, were you on duty, and in
what capacity ? -

Answer. I was there at that time on duty as assistant engineor to Mr, Lawton.

‘Question, State briefly what material circumstances connected with
the surrender of the yard on that day by Captain Armstrong came
under your notice.

Answer, On the morning of tho 12th, between 10 and 11 o’clock, in the compnny
of Mr. Lawton I met Commander Farrand, and someone ¢ame up and mentioned,
“They are at the gate.” I was with Mr. Luwton nearly all ths morning, until about
3, and saw .only what he saw. = I have heard his testimony read and can add noth-
ing additional to it from my own knowledge, except that I had been informed
by Mr. Lamberton; the postmaster at Warrington, that the troops would be down at
the yard that evening—1I"riday, the 11th, I mentioned it to Mr, Lawton; I did not
metition it to Captain Armstrong; and forther, that when Colonel Lomax and his
aids camo ot of the commodore’s office they did not go immediately out of the yard,
but went over to Commander Farrand’s house and remained there a half hour or so,
That was before the troops were brought in,

Question. What was the strength of the force brought against the
yard?

Answer, About 400 men. 'I'here were six or seven companies with about 70 men in
each, ns near as I could judge, They all came in the first place against the yard, and
were then afterwards distributed at the yard, the magazine, and Fort Barrancas,

Question. Do you know of any disatfection in the command of Com-
modore Armstrong? If so, state its character and extent.

Answer. Most all of the master mechanies wero secessionists; I judge so by their
talk; I have heard them say, “We will soon have tho yard and you will be put out
of it.” I mever heard anything trom the-officers, but it was generally reported in the

yard that Mr, Gonzales, Commander Farrond, Licutenant Renshaw, and the chaplain,
Mr, Thomas, were secessionists,

Question. Are you aware of any special arrangements made by Oap-
tain Armstrong for the defense of the yard, especially between the 9th
and 12th of January, inclusive? If so, state them, ‘

Answer, No,sir; I am not awire of any, except that a fow days before the yard

wag taken we, the residents of tho yard, were required in passing in and out to have
the countersign, which was not so hefore.

Question. Have you any knowledge that men were sent from the yard
to Fort Pickens? If yea, state when they were sent, how, and their
number and character. ,

Answer. I was on board the steamer Wyandotte Wednesday or Thursday prior to
the 12th, in tho afternoon between 4 und 5 o’clock. Therd was oxciteinent aboard in

consequence of the master machinist of the navy yard, James Doyle, dropping over-
board an important part of the wmachinery, which had been in repair at the shop.
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They supposed it had been done purposely, and it was not recovered, And about an
hour after I went sonie thirty or thirty-two men in ordinary came aboard, It
appeared to be keptsecret where they were going. T do not know where they went.
I know they left in the II'yandotte. The next morning the vessel was off Fort Pickens,
and during that'day the vesscls were engigéd in moving Lieutenant Slemmer and
his command from X¥ort Barrancas to Fort Pickens,

By Captain ARMSTRONG :

Question. When the message was given, ¢“They are at the gate,” did
Commander Farrand seem to understand the meaning of the words, and
act on the information?

Answer, The impression made on me was that ke knew they were coming, He hiad
been standing shere some time before the message camo, and whou he received it he
left abruptly and went away.

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and Joun
L. Por1ER was then called as a witness by the judge-advocate, and
duly sworn.

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:
Question. What is your position in the Navy, and were you present

on duty at the U. 8. navy yard near Pensacola, Fla., on the 12th of
January?

Answer. I am naval constructor, I was present on duty at the yard at that time,

O\

Question. State as briefly as you can such material facts connected
with the surrender of the yard as came under your observation.

Answer. On the morning of the 12th (Saturday) n couple of workmen, ship ear-
penters; came to my house early, abount sunrise, and stated that a forece had come to
tikothe yard. I caine out as soon as I had had my breakfast and heard in the yard
that thie force was then on its way to take the yard. The men I spoke of came from
Warrington and had hoard there of the arrival of troops and that they were coming
down to take the commodoro prisoner. At 1 o’clock I was at the muster office; and
whien the roll was calléd but few of the workmen answered. ~ I heard the troops had
arrived. I went up tho yard and saw the officers ride in; Commander Farrand con-
ducted them in; thoy went to the commodore’s office. 1 went to see the troops, and
when I came back the flag had heen hiuled down. The troops then marched in and
went to the marine barracks and the barracks at Barrancas, I heard no conversation
that p(imsed betweon the commissioners and Captain Armstrong relative to tho
surrender. .

Question. What was the strength of the force brought against the
yard?

Answer. About 350 men. I noticed them particularly—I mean in the column that
halted in front of the yard, I donot know how many went to tho magazine, Ido
not kinow of my own knowledge that any weit there. I counted the companies and
averaged the men. There were seven companies, and averaged about 50 men each—
two from Montgomery, Ala,, two from Wetumpka, Ala., and one from Lowndes, Ali.,
and two from Pensacola, I'la. All were uniformed companies except one from Pen.
saculn; ‘that was a new company: Ono of the Pensacola companies was part
mounted -and part on foot, and had double-barreled guns, The restfiof the com-
panies were well armed with rifled muskets and revolvers; they had no artillery.
On Sunday a large viniformed compiiny of 60 men came from Alabama, and on Wed-
nesday following 350 more troops arrived by the Oregon, mostly from Mississippi, and
on Thursday the steamer Oregon brought over from Mobile 300 or 400 more men; so
tha}’i by that night they had 1,000, The steamer passed in botween the forts and the
yard.

Question. What number of men were there in ordinary at the yard
at the time of its surrender, or had been there shortly before the
surrender ?

. Answer. I should judge that there were sixty men in ordinary at the yard beforo
tho surrender, Beforo its surreénder thirty of them had been sent to the fort.  They

woro sent about three days before the surrender.  They were sent to aid in the trans-
portation of stores and munitions of war from Fort Barrancas to Fort Pickens, They
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had a large coaling lighter with them belonging to the navy yard to carry the stores,
and the Wyandotte towed them backward and forward.

Question. What knowledge have you of any disaffection in the com-
mand of Captain Armstrong?

Answer, As far as tho military oficors of tho yard weroe concerned, I beliove thoy
were allloyal; but adg regards the civil officers, the storekeeper, the master workmen,
and all the clerks of tho yard wero strong sccessionists, They used to say boldly in
tho yard that it would be taken poussession of just as soon as Alabama and Flovida
went out of the Union. They, the master” workmen, the clerks, and a few of the
workmen,; had joined an associntion ]pledged to sustnin the Southern Confederacy
when formed. The mechanies generally were strong Union men,

Question. What arrangements were made or directions given, to your
knowledge, by Captain Armstrong for the defense of the yard, espe-
cially between the 9th and 12th of January? ‘

Answer. Nothing that I know. I had an order from the commodore to hurry up
tho work on the IWyandotte and get her ont of tho dock as soon as possible. This
was given on the Monday or Tuesday previous to the Saturday on which the yard

was taken. Tho vessel was got out on Tuesday, took her powder on board Wednes-
day, and on Thursday she assisted in moving stores from Barrancas to Fort Pickens,

By Captain ARMSTRONG :

Question. What was the condition of the population of Woolsey,
Warrington, and Pensacola in reference to the attack on the yard?
Did they or not sympathize with and countenance the movement?

Answer. Ido not think they countenanced the movement, but they were awed and
afraid to oxpress their opinion.  The workmen from the yard on the day of the elec-
tion, prior to the arrival of the troops, all:-voted in a body against tho secession ¢an-
didates ‘in spite of an appeal from Colonel Chase, whoin they hooted; and they
defeated those candidates in that county by the large vote had at the yard. After
socesston they were intimidated by the leading secessionists, not by the military.
They were afraid to oppose the movement. I do not think the commodore could
have obtained the aid of a single workman to aid in the defense of the yard; not
that they favored the movement, but that they were afraid to move agninst it.

Question. How long prior to the surrender was the election of which
you speak ?

Answer. About two weeks.

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and Lieu-
tenant JouN IrRwIN, U. S.Navy, was then called by the judge-advocate
as a witness, and, being duly sworn, was interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you at the navy yard near Pensacola, Fla., on the
12th of January last, or in the vicinity thereof? If yea, in what
capacity?

Answer. I was in the vieinity of the yard, at the village of Warrington, on the 12th,

the day of the surrender, on leave of absence. I was that mornmg detached from
the Wyandotte by Commodore Armstrong.

Question. Have you any knowledge of the circumstances attending
the surrender of the yard? If so, state it.

Answer. I have nopersonal knowledge of what transpired in the yard, as I was
not there at the time.

Question, When was it first known at Warrington on the morning
of the 12th that troops were on their way from Pensacola to attack the
yard? ; ,

Answer. It was known in the village early in the morning of the 12th that troops

were on the way., Tho principal part of the inhabitants of the village were to act
with them, and scemed well informed on the subject. )
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Question. State to what extent, if any to your knowledge, Commo-
dore Armstrong cooperated avith Licutenant Slemmer in arranging for
the defense of the public property at the yard and in the vicinity thereof.

Answer. I know that' Commodore Armstrong on the 9th of January ordered the
commanding officers of the steamers IFyandotte and Supply to anchor oft” Fort Barran-
cas to convoy the troops from IFort Barrancus to Fort Pickens, On the night of tho
9th the fog wis too great to do anything, At daylight on the 10th'1 took command
of the boats of the Fyandotie, with a navy-yard lighter in tow, and proceeded to
Fort Barrancas whart; took on board the ficldpieces; the garrison, and all their effects.
There were about forty-cight men, und witl: the assistance of the Wyandolte they were
towed across the harbor and:landed at Fort Pickens. Two hoats of the navy yard,
under the command of Sailing Master Pearson, were éngaged-that 'day in transport-
ing the powder, 22,000 pounds, from Fort Barrancas to Fort Pickens.  On the 11th
the boats of the [Fyandotie were engaged transporting the effects of “the officers
and men from Fort Barrancas to Fort Pickens, Lieuteuant Erben, of the Supply,
was in command of & boat from that vessel, and engiged on the 11th in’'destroying

owder taken from Jort McRee, He destroyed 22,000 pounds by rolling the barrels
into the sea. There were runmorsof an attack that day, and we had not force enough
to move the powder over the bay. Thirty of the men in ordinary were taken over
by the Iyandoite and landed at Fort Pickens tho evening of thoe 10th, to aid in the
defense of that place. They earried with them 30 muskets, 4,600 cartridges and caps.
A quantity of provisions were ordered by (‘fommodore Armstrong to be landed at
Fort Pickens, and on the 12th carly in the morning they were landed.

Question. Where were the vessels, the Wyandotte and the Supply, at
the time of the surrender of the yard?

Answer. 1 saw the IFyandolte under steam 300 or 400 yards from the wharf in the
navy yard a short time after tho surrender of the yard, She was heading to Fort
Pickens, Shortly after that a signal was made from the Supply to take her in tow,

and both vessels went to sea that afternoon and returned to the harbor of Pensacola
under a flag of truce on the 13th.

Question. What was the strength of the crews of the Wyandotte and
the Supply, and what number of guns had they aboard, and what was
the caliber of the guns?

Answer. The Wyandolte had four 3%2-pounder guns of 27 ewt. and two Dahlgren
howitzers. I do not know exactly how many men; I behieve 72 or 73, all told, offi-
cers and men, The storeship Supply had two 32-pounders of 27 or 30 cwt. small
guns. Should not judge from my own observation that the crew exceeded 36 men.

Question. How near could these vessels approach the beach at any
point to the northeast of the yard by which ran the usual road or
approach from Pensacola?

Answer, They could certainly approach within a quarter of a mile. The Supply
drew 16 feet and the IFyandotte 13 feet.

Question, What was the distance of the road from the beach, and
could the guns of the vessels from the bay command that approach?

Answer. The guns from the vessels in tho bay would reach theroad. The distance
of the road varies; at the bayou it is narrow. 'The beach itself is the road.

Question. What disaffection, if any, was there in the command under
Commodore Armstrong? :

Answer. I know positively of disaffection among the employés of the yard, and of
ramored disaffection among the ofticers. Some expressed a desire not to bear arms
against the South.

Question. How far was this disaffection known to Captain Arm-
strong ? :

Answer. That I do not know,
Question. For how long a time had it prevailed in the yard?

Answer. I reached the village of Warrington on the 10th of December, where I
resided. I found a good deal of excitement there then. The feelings of some of the
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officers—Commander Farrand, Lieutenant Renshaw, and the naval storokeoper, Mr.
Gonzales—woere enlisted in behalf of the South, I know of no refusal to obey orders
among officers or employés.

By Captain ARMSTRONG:

Question. You were asked if the vessels in the bay could not have
commanded the approach by the bay road. If the vessels had been
stationed for that purpose, could not the attacking party just as easily
have reached the yard by another route?

Answer, The attﬂckingi force could havereached the yard by another route, but not
80 easily.

By tlie COURT:
Question, What was the armament of the steamer Fulton, and where
were these arms deposited, if' in the yard? "~

Answer, Four 32-pounders of 33 cwt. They were deposited in the artillery park
of the yard. They were dismounted at the time of the surrender of the yard.

The testimony of this witness was then read over to hiin, and then,
at 3 o’clock p. m., the court adjourned, to meet again to-morrow morning
at 10 o’clock a. m., the 15th instant.

WASHINGTON Or11Y, February 15, 1861—10 a. m.

The court met pursuant to adjournment. Present, all the members;
William B. B. Cross, the judge-advocate; Captain James Armstrong
also present.

The record of the proceedings of yesterday, the 14th instant, were
then read over, after which JEREMIAH H. GILMAN, second lieutenant,
Tirst Artillery, U, S. Army, was then called as a witness by the judge-
advocate, and, being duly sworn, was interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you present on duty in the vicinity of the U. S. navy
yard near Pensacola, Ila., on the 12th of January last? If yea, state
where and in what capacity.

Answer. I was at Fort Pickens on the 12th, as second lieutenant-of the troops
stationed there, under the command of Lieutenant Slemmer.

Question. What, if any, official intercourse had you with Captain
Armstrong relative to the protection of the public property in the
vicinity of the navy yard?

Answer, On the Ttli of January Lieutenant Slemmer and myself, hearing that the
troops were coming to take possession of the public property there, visited Commo-
dore Armistrong to see whether he could unite with us in any way to defend the pub-
lic property. We did thesame thing on the 8th, and he decidéd, in the nbsenceo of
instructions, that nothing could bo done. On the morning of the 9th Lieutenant
Slemmer roceived orders from the Headquarters of the Army to defend either of the
forts, and was notified that the commandint of the yard had probably received
instructions to cooperate with us. . Lieutenant Slemmer and myself went immedi-
ately to see the commodore and found that he had received tho same. duy orders,
which'he showed us. Thepaper® which appéurs in the record bearing date January
3, 1861, from I. Toucey to Commodore James Armstrong, is a copy thereof as I recol-
lect. After some conversation the coinmodore ngreed with us that Fort Pickens was
the only place that could be defended by the united force of the Army and Navy
stationed there. He promised us to furnish us with provisions, with what men he
could spare; that the Wyandotte shonld tow us across to Forb Pickens from Barrancas
that day, the 9th, ab 1 o’clock, and that the IFyandolte and the Supply were to anchor
near the Fort to assist us in protecting it.. At L o'clock T went to the yard, Licuten-
ant Slemmer being at Fort Pickens, at which time the commodore said that the only
assistance whick he could render would be to furnish some provisions and allow the

* Sne p. 5.
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IFyandotte to tow us across. I replied that this nniotint of assistance woull not be
enough to warrant us in going to Fort Pickens; and that I would report the fact to
Lieutenant Slemmer before going over. I immediately reported to hii, and lio ani
myself returned at once to the navy yard,  Mr. Slemmer stated to the commodore
that this was not the assistanee ho had promised him in the morning 3 that he lind it
in his power to assist himj that he (Mr. Slonimer) had been decerved, and that in
going over to Fort Pickens he had lost a wholé-day, which ho might have spent in
preparing Tort Barrancas for defense. The cominodore then sent for Captainlar-
rand, Captain Berryman, and, I think, Lieutenant Renshaw, They camé, and after
some discussion it was agreed thit the Wyandotte should tow us over at 5 o’clock p. m,
that day. In this discussion the commodore stated ho had very small meany at
hand (I think he stated somie twenty or thirty marines and some seventy or eighty
ordinary men), and: that there was a-hmngry mob outside, Captain Farrand also
stated the same, nid said if they ordered wway' the marines they would beat tho
mercy of the hungry mob, to which we replied that even according to his own (Cap-
tain FParrand’s) confession everything in t{le yard would be lost in two or three days.
Captain IFarrand also gave it as'his opinion that it was perfectly useless to defend
anything in the harbor, as a sufficient number ot troops would swarm there in a fow
days to take any place, no matter what resistance wo might make. ~Lieutonant
Renshaw, either at this interview or another, said they weroe our own brethren who
were coming against us; and gpilling the blood of our own brethren was a very differ.
ent thing fronifighting a foreign foe, when several in the room (I can’t state whether
Captain Farrand was among them) exclaimed that that had nothing to do with the
question, Captain Farrand took the ground that the yard and the forts had been
shainefully neglected by the Government, and that in his opinion this neglect to
reenforco the place showed that the Government, knowing the state of affairs in tho
Soutli; did not expect the places to be defended against o large body of troops, which
we had heard were then coming. ‘The commodore in the interview said, ““ Great God,
what can I dowith the means that I have?” I do not recollect particularly any-
thing else coming from the commodore. ,

The commodore also pronised somne ordinary men—as many as were good men—
and referred to Captain I'arrand and asked if there were not fifty good ones, and Cap-
tain FFarrand said there could not he more than thirty young and active men. 'The
commodore seemed anxious to afford us all the assistance in-his power, and Ciptain
Farrand anxious to withhold it. The N yandotte did not come until next day. The
officers then said thit they had been detained by some accident to the machinery
and by the fog, She then towed us across in o scow, whieh had bheen previously sent
under the command of Lieutenant Irwin, = On the way over the bay Captain Berryman
turned over to Lieutenant Slemmer thirty ordinary men, who had been sent from the
yard without arms or equipmetts of any kind or even a chinge of clothing. . About
the time wo arrived at Fort Pickens some stores which I had ‘made a requisition tor
the day before were sent from the yard. Either that day or the next Captain Ber-
ryman obtained from the yird some muskets and ammunition, but no ¢lothing, for
t%ese men, dand brought them to Iort Pickens. - The Supply was anchored at this
timo, the 10th, and I think from the 10th to the 12th, near the fort. ‘Ihere was some
correspondernice at this time between Captain Slemmer and Commodore Armstrong
as to where tho vessels should go. We received, 1 think, on the 12th the supplies
we wanted from the storeship.

Question. Where were the Supply and the Wyandotte at the time the
yard was surrendered?

Answer. The IPyandotle was near the yard, nearly opposite to it, under steam,
The Supply was about 500 yards from the beaéh, near the fort., I was on her at the
time the flag was hauled down; I saw it,

Question. What, it anything, did Captain Armstrong say to you and
Lieutenant Slemmer in regard to supposed disaffection in his command,
officers or men?

Answer. I do not think he ever said anything about his men, . Lieutenant Slem-
mer told him ho thought tho officérs’in the yuard on whom he called for advice wére
badly afiected toward the Government, :m(% tho commodoro replied he thought he
(Lieutenant Slemmer) was mistaken, and that theso oflicers were still acting uinder
their oaths to-support the Constitution, and would bo true until they resigned, Weo
mentioned to the commodore that gentlemeén had told us that volunteers éould he
raised outsido for tho protection of the public property ; but the commodore did not
think it advisable, and Captain Farrand objected to it very strongly. The Army
officers as well as the commodore thonght so, as it had not been done clsewhere, and
no authority had been given for raising troops
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Question, Are you aware what, in the first instance, changed the
mind of Commodore Armstrong as to sending you reenforcements?

Answor, I haveonly my own opinion as to that. The commodore, inthe interview
with Lioutenant Slemmer and myself, at first did not seem to remember that he had
promised what Lieutenant Slemmer stated he had; but when Lieutenant Slemmer
ulled his attention to o particular eircumstance that scemed to remind the commno-
dore of it. ) ~

Question. Are you aware that Lieutenant Slemmer ever requested
that Captain Armstrong, in the event of his determining to capitulate,
would send him further aid from the yard to enable him (Lieutenant
Slemmer) to defend Fort Pickens? If yea, was it sent; and if not,
what, to your knowledge, prevented it?

Answer. -l have no personal knowledge of such request. I only know what Lien-
tenant Slemmer said.

By the Court:

Question, What orders or information had Lieutenant Slemmer
received, to your knowledge, on the 7th or 8th to induce him to visit
Commodore Armstrong, and what information had you of dangerous
designs against the forts or navy yard at that time?

Answer. Nothing but the common talk of the people about town and the fact of
some of the forts having been taken near Mobile.

By the JUDGI-ADVOCATE:

Question. In promising the aid of the vessels to Lieutenant Slemmer
to cooperate in the defense of Fort Pickens, did Captain Armstrong
ever qualify it by stating to him (Lieutenant Slemmer) how far the offi-
cers might go in that cooperation?

Answer. I only know that from Lieutenant Berryman.

(The witness desired to add here that in the interview of the 9th,
betfore referred to, he understood the Supply and the Wyandotte were
to anchor at the fort to cooperate in protecting the land approach to
the fort.)

By Captain ARMSTRONG : :

Question. Did you discover in any intercourse with Commodore Arm-
strong any want of fealty to tl.e Government or any disposition to avoid
the full discharge of the duties intrusted to himn$

Answer, No, sir; not from my intercourse with him, I saw no evidence of want
of good faith towird the Government more than appears in my testimony,

Question. I wish you to distinguish between errors of judgment and
the want of good faith. Do you mean by your qualification to your
last answer to say that the commodore was untrue to his allegiance to
the Government? -

Answer. At lis interviews with me he indicated in his manuer and conversation
an eager desire to do his duty. As to the acts I have mentioned, I leave them to
speak for themselves.,

Question. What vessels of war are now at or near the harbor of
Pensacola, or were there when you left? Do they lie inside or outside;
and if outside, why do they not go in?

~Answer. I do not know what vessels are there at this moment., Whon I left Fort
Yickens on the 9th of February the I"yandotie, the Brooklyn, the Sabine, and the S,
Louis were there. They wero outsideat the time Ileft. I think they were all under
sail, lying oft and on. They do not go in on account of the oxisting armistice
between the Government and the Stute authorities.

Question. Mas the Government reenforced IFort Pickens since Com-
modore Armstrong surrendered the yard? If not, have they agreed
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not to do so at present in order to avoid collision with the State forces?
What force is now within the fort? ;

(The judge-advocate here suggested that the witness might be
exempt, on grounds of public policy, from responding to this enquiry;
and the withess answering, “I would prefer not to answer this ques-
tion,” Commodore Armstrong thereupon agreed to waive it.)

By the Court:

Question. At the interview with Commodore Armstrong wherein you
say that it was agreed between you that IFort Pickens was the only
place you could defend with your united means, is it to be understood
that you all concurred in such opinion, and that the navy yard was
deemed one of the indefensible places?

Answer, As to mysolf and Lieutenant Slemmer and Commodore Armstrong I have
already answered; as to the other officers present, Captain Farrand and- Lieutenant
Renshaw did not wish to defend any place; said it would be useless.

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and JAMES
M. CoorER was then called by the judge-advocate as a witness, and
interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you present at the navy yard near Pensacola, Fla,,
on the 12th of January last? 1t so, in what capacity?

Answer. I was there as gunner of the yard.

Question, State what number of guns were then in the yard, their
size and condition,

Answer. There wero twenty-two 18- pounders, o snluting battery, four 32-pounders
belonging to the Fulton, and fonr 32-pounders belonging to the yard, that had been
lett thers, and two 8-inch guns,  There was also & howitzer in the armory; it had no
elevating screw, and there was no ammunition for it, None of the guns wers
mounted but the siluting battery. Those were stationary, mounted on carriages
“withotit trucks, and the carringes were rotten, They were not movable. I do not
know ot my own knowledge that there were any gun carriages in the yard. The
siluting battery pointed toward Pensacola, and was not more than 100 yards from
the north gate.

Question. What number of men in ordinary were there in the yard
on the 12th or shortly-prior thereto?"

Angwer, There were some thirty-one or thirty-two sent to the fort before the troops
came to the yard, leaving about forty in the yard.

Question. What quantity of ammunition was on hand at that time in
the magazine or elsewhere?

Answer, I could notsay with certainty. All theé ammunition was under the charge
of thestorekeeper. There was only two barrels in the yard; just enough for saluting.
The magazine was large, I have scen it often, and should think there must have

been 400 or 500 barrels of powder in it. The magazine was some 300 yards from the
navy yard, There were o number of large 8 and 10 inch shells in it,

- Question. Do you know any material circumstance connected with
the surrender of the yard? If so, state it.

Answer. I do not, except that Commander Farrand ordersd me to go to the maga-
zine to show the officers of the troops what was there. I did not go because they
would not allow me to pass out. )

Question. What disaffection, if any, was there among the officers or
men under the command of Captain Armstrong at the yard?

Answor, Captain IFFarrand and Lieutenant Renshaw appeared disaffected. Captain

Farrand came after me ofton for tho dimension of the cartridges of the guns at the
fort. This was after the yard was seized; it was on the Monday following. He also
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enquired about the shells that belonged to the howitzer in the armory. The men in
ordinary I knew but little about. The storekeeper, Gonzales, who had charge of the
ammunition, was disaffected; very much so.
By Captain ARMSTRONG: - -
Question. Did not Commodore Armstrong prior to the surrender
caution you to be vigilant and to give him any information of what was
going on outside? ‘

Answer. He did, sir.

Question. Could the guns of the saluting battery have been used in
an engagement with an enemy?
Answer, No, sir; they could not. The carriages were s0 rotten they could not be

used, The guns theniselves were fit for service. In firing u salute one day the side
of a carriage fell out.

Question, Did any officer but yourself ever serve with Captain Arm-
strong before?

Answer, Not to my knowledge. 1 was there when the commodore came, and he
appeared to be a stranger to all the rest there.

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and then, at
3 o’clock p. m., the court adjourned, to meet again at 10 o’clock a. m.
to-morrow. b

WASHINGTON CI1vy, February 16, 186110 a. m.

Court met pursuant to adjournment. Present, all the members;
William B, B. Cross, judge-advocate; Captain James Armstrong also
present, - ‘
~ The record of yesterday’s proceedings was read over, and then Lieu-
tenant HENRY ERBEN, U. S. Navy, was called as a witness by the
judge-advocate, and, being duly sworn, was interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you on duty in the vicinity of the navy yard near
Pensacola, Fla., on the 12th of January last? If so,in what capacity?

Answer. 1 was on duty, attached to the storeship Supply, off Fort Pickens, on the
12th of January. '

Question. Had you any interviews with Captain Armstrong relative
to the protection of the public property at the navy yard? If so, state
what passed thereat.

Answer. I had butone interview with Commodore Afmstrong;'and that was on
the evening of the 11th, I offered to Conimodore Armistrong to destroy the powder
in the naval magazine in Warrington, and to remove the rope and blocks that could
be used for mounting guns, and any small arms that might be'in the yard I wanted
to take to Fort Pickens und place them there. "My reason for proposing this was
that the afternoon previous to this visit on the 11th I had destroyed the powder, -
between 20,000 and 30,000 ‘pounds, and ‘mounting tacklinig at the fort and carried
awny tho blocks from Fort McRee. The commodore told me he was very glad I had
-called on him, and I thought the commodore about to give me the permission, Then
Captain Farrand and Lieutenant Renshaw came in, I am not positive that the
commodore sont for them. _ When Captain Farrand ascertained my purpose he
seemed notb ab all pleaséd; and le asked the commiodore if I had seen his (Commodore
Armstrong’d) instructions, The commodore then read me instructions which directed
that ho should be vigilant in protecting the public property, and Captain Farrand
said to me in a menacing manner, Do you call this protecting Government
property by destroying it¢”  Captain Farrand was so exc¢ited in his manner that the
commodore had to request him not to speak so loud. He told the commodore that
I wasrash; that I wanted to do what the Army officers had done; that what they had
dono was wrong, and that if he (the commodore) gave me the permission it would
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incite a riot and cause bloodshed. I told Captain Farran’d t}iét if any guns were
fired from the fort the ropo and blocks for mounting them would come from the
navy yard, Captain Farrand then got very angry, and said he would not sit in a
room and be spoken to in that manner.  He also complained that the officers of tho
Supply and Wyandotte did not obey the commodore’s orders to roturn to the yard and
bring the ships back, Lieutenant Renshaw said nothing in this interview except
to tho commodore. ¢ Your instructions are to send the Supply to Vera Cruz and the
Wyandotie to the coast of Cuba; why don’t they go?” I left without obtaining tho
perwmission or order. My impression is that Comuodore Armstrong would havegiven
me the order but for Captain Farrand and Lieutenant Renshaw.

Question. Can you recall any further remarks from Captain Arm-
strong himself, showing what his purpose was in reference to the defense
of the public property at that point?¢

Answer. I do not recollect anything.

Question, By whose direction did you destroy the powder and other
property at Fort McRee?

Answer. I did it at the request of the Armny officers at Fort Pickens, as they had
no time to do it. :

Question. Are you cognizant of any material occurrences attending
the surrender of the yard on the 12th of January? If so, state them.

Answer, I know nothing of them. I was then ashore at Fort Pickens.

Question. What, if any, disaffection was therein the command of
Captain Armstrong, and how far was the same, if any existed, known
to him?¢

Answer, I would frequently hear the mechanics talking in the yard in & manner
to show disaffection. That is all I know positively.

By Captain ARMSTRONG :

Question. As to Captain Farrand’s statement that the officers of the
Supply and Wyandotte had not obeyed orders to return to the yard,
had there been sufficient time to comply with the orders?

Answer. I do not know when the orders were given; I do not know of any dis-
obedience myself, ‘

Question. When did the Supply enter Pensacola Bay, what did she
go there for, and from whence did she come, and what was her
destination{

Answer., She arrived on the 7th of December, 1860; we came from Vera Cruz
[Mexico] for stores, among them coul. It was said on 'the vessel she wus to return
to Vera Cruz; I never saw the orders. We never obtained all our stores prior to the
surrender; why I can not state; we were delayed by bLad weather, and they did not
work ag rapidly in the yard as I'thought they might have done.

Question. How long did it take to get the sand ballast out of the
vessel?

Answer, I think we were discharging ballast two weeks; we worked at it twice,
taking in conl between these times,

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and
SAMUEL F. REYNOLDS, sergeant of marines, was then called as a
witness by the judge-advocate, and, being duly sworn, was interrogated
as follows:

By the JUDGE-ADVOOATE:

Question. Were you at the navy yard near Pensacola, IFla,, on the
«12th of January last? If so, in what capacity?

Answer. I was there as orderly sergeant of the post.

Question. State any material circumstances attending the surrender
of the yard that came under your observation.



OPERATIONS IN THE GULF OF MEXICO. 41

Answer, On the morning of the 12th I received an order from Captain Watson to
have the men formed underarms, After forning them I reported to him and hedirected
me to let them rest their pieces against the Durracks and stand ready to fall in at
the order; this was about 10° o’clock a. m, The next order:I received was to form
the men, and let them stack their arms; thig was probably after 12 o’clock, It was
an order that all of the men seemed very reluctant to obey. They were very mich
affected, some of them to tears, and said they woulll not obey; they would not suffer
the humiliation'; they would sooner beshot. Some time wfter the arims were stacked,
probably an hour and a half, there was & commissioner, as Captain Watson ealled
him, ¢ame and cast his eye over the men, and after he inspected the quartors we
wero directed to occupy two of the rooms. About an hour after, the balance of the
quarters were occupied by the troops from Alabama. Thismusthave been two hours
and a half after the arms were stacked. After thit we were not allowed toleave
the yard, Krom what I saw I judged the nuniber of the troops was about 300. I
tried my best to ascertain precisely. This estimate includes all that came against
the yard. I can’t state exactly how many companies were there; five companies
came in the first instance to the barracks; we had thirty-seven enlisted men in the
Marine Corps, and one ofticer; they were all out that day.

By the COURT:

Question. Was ball cartridge issued to the men that day or at any
day before?

Answer. I received an order three days before to detail a guard for the north gate
and to issue them ball cartridges. That order was countermanded that same even-
ing as to issuing ball eartridges. No ball cartridges were issued to tho rest of the
company. 1 was directed not toissuo them to any of the compuny, This order came
from Captain Watson, I did issue the ball cartridges to the sergeant detached to
take charge of the guard at the north gate, and I afterwards acted on the order
to take them back.

By Captain ARMSTRONG :
“Question. Where were the ball cartridges kept that were to be used
by the marines?

Answer. In the marine store room in the barracks. We had from 800 to 1,000 ball
cartridges there and more in the small magazine within the navy yard,

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and Cap-
tain WATSON, a witness previously examined, was recalled by the
judge-advocate.

By the JUDGE-ADVOOCATE:

Question. What orders had you given just before the surrender of
the yard relative to the issue or nonissue of ball cartridges, and were
the same received by you from Captain Armstrong?

Answer, Three or four days before the surrender of the yard, when the additional
guard was put at the north gate, they were supplied with three packages of ball
cartridges. The sentry on post had a blank cartridge to give the alarm.  The ball
cartridges were in possession of the sergeant at the gate, who was the sergeant of
tho guard, That order was not countermanded. The sergeant was told that evening
not to lond with them unless it was necessary. 1 received no orders in relation to
the issue of ball cartridges from Captain Armstrong.

By the Courm:

Question, Were ball cartridges issued to the marine guard on the
day of the surrender?

Answer, No, sir; we had them in the guard room ready, but not in the cartridge
boxes of tho men; the marines paraded that day without ball cartridges; they had
the cartridge boxes on; I now think the ball cartridges were in the boxes. We had
somo 3,000 ball cartridges at tho barracks.. The weather was s0 wot that the muskets
were not kept loaded. .

Question. Did you order Sergeant Reynolds to furnish the guard at
the north gate with ball cartridges, and did you direct him to withdraw
them ¢
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Answer. I ordered Sergeant Reynolds to furnish ball cartridges to the guard, and
1 saw that they were furnished before tho gunrd went up. I did not direct him to
withdraw them froim the guard. I told him not to lond the muskets with them.
They remained nt the gate with the sergeant of the guard ready for use,

The testimony of this witness was here read over to him, and
RosERT DIXON, boatswain, was then called by the judge-advocate,
and, being duly sworn, was interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you present at the navy yard near Pensacola on the
12th of Junuary last? It so, state in what capacity, and add any
material circumstance connected with the surrender of the yard that
came under your notice.

Answer,"I was ab the yard on the 12th of January last as boatswain. About 1
o’clock I heard the troops had arrived. 1 went up toward the gate and saw the com-
missioners come ., Captain Farrand was with them. I then went out and saw the
troops. 1 then went down to the flagstafl, The llag had then been hauled dowii and
the quartermaster had it in his hand.  Nothing further of any particular importance
came under my mnotice. The guartermaster, | think, took the flag to the watch-
house.

Question, Did you estimate with care the number of troops that
came against the yard? If so, what was the number?

Answer. I went out and looked at thom and I said then to myself there was no 500
troops there. I}'rom the room they occupied I thought there werenbout 300, Ispeak
of the troops in front of the north gate. :

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and Ros-
ERT HUNTER, sailimaker, was then called by the judge-advocate, and,
being duly sworn, was interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you present at the United States navy yard near
Pensacola, FFla,, on the 12th of January last? If so, state in what
capacity, and add any material circumstance attending the surrender
of the yard that came under your observation.

Answer. 1 was present us master suilmaker of the yard. 1 heard the troops were
at the bayou, and when. 1 heard they wore at the gate I went up and saw them
aarch in, - There were from 275 to 300. ‘They came in open order. I then under-
stood the yurd was surrendered. I went to Captain Armstrong and asked him if
this place was surrenderod, and he gave me to understand that he had no further
comnmand-over it; that ho was a prisoner and'I was tho smne. I then went to Cap-
tain Farrand and asked him with regard to the property, it 1 was to deliver it up,
and he sald, ¢ Yes; everything:” And he then told me'it I did not wish to join the
Southern Confederacy 1 might consider myselt' u prisoner on parole, and told nie at
the saie time that hie had no further control over me. He did not try to coerce me,
or anything of the kind," I then asked him as to my private quarters, whether I
would e disturbed in_them or not, and he said noj I would remain as long as'I
wished, Sunday I had another interview with Captain Farrand relative to the
property, as to tuking a'list of tho stock. He said at first it was not worth while,
and afterwards sitid 1 had hetter do so. I then took two copies of sume. from the
books; one of which:I gave him; the other I brought off with me. . An order came
from Captain Ruidolph next morning to make some sand bags for breastwork. I
said Captain Randolph had nothing to do with mie; I was a prisoner, He (the aid-
de-cump who brought the order) said the men had better do it; if they did not, they
would be taken care of, All the men—sailmakers-——went to work, except one who
cawme off with me, .

By the Courn:
Question, Had you reason to know or believe that any of the com-
snand of Captain Armstrong were false or disaffected ?

Answer. Among the naval officers I did not know anything of it before the sur-
render, I thought thut some who after the surrender went from ono service into
another were disaflected,
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The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and LEw1S
HormES, a witness called by the judge-advocate, being duly sworn,
was interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGI-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you present at the navy yard near Pensacola, Fla.,
on the 12th of January last? If so, in what capacity? And state any
material circumstances that came under your observation.

Answer. I was present at the navy yard as cirpenter, Isaw nothing in particular
of the surrender except the troops como in and the flag hanled down. T do'not know
by whose order it was hauled down, I looked at the troops, and I should think those
at the gates did not oxceed 300 or 325 wmen,

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and then,
at 2:30 o'clock p. m,, the court adjourned, to meet again on Monday,
the 18th instant, at 10 o’clock a. m. :

- WasHINGTON CITY,
: Monday, February 18, 1861—10 a. m,
Court met pursuant to adjournment. Present, all the members;
William B. B. Cross, judge-advocate; Captain James Armstrong also
present. ‘

S. THAYER ABERT was then called by the judge-advocate, and, being
duly sworn, was interrogated as follows:

By the JUDGE-ADVOCATE:

Question. Were you present at the navy yard near Pensacola, I'la.,
on the 12th of January last? If so, in what capacity?

Answer. I was there ag civil engineer of the yard. N

Question. State any material occurrences relating to the arrival of
the troops that came against the yard and connected with the surrender
of the yard, that came under your observation,

Answer, T was in Ponsucola tlie day before tho yard was taken. It was the talk
that 400 troops were expected tliat night, and that more were expected the next day,
I suw Major Chase, and told him that an attack on the yard would be an act of war,
as the State was at peace with the United States, and I thought it-would be at vari-
anco with the wishes of his own State, ns it had appointed commissioners to negotiate
for the peacenble retrocossion of this lir'opolﬁt‘\'. I returned to the navy yard.. It was
a little after dark that evening:: 1 ealled upon Captain Farrand us soon as I returned,
and stated to him the muaterinl points of my conversation with Major Chase, espe-
cially the knowledge I had guined with referonce to the arrival of troops; I then
called on Commodore Armstrong; and stated the substance of my conversation with
Major Chase to him and the rumor of the'arrival of troops. 1 can not recollect an
material reply made by Captain Armstrong, 1 was at tho marine barracks wit
Captain Watson at the tiine of the surrender, and saw nothing of importance con-
nocted with it. I also learned that day in town that Alabama, Mississippi, and Flor-
ida had seceded, and that Major Chase had heen commissioned in tho State service.
This I also told to Ciptain Armstrong and Captain Farrand. 'The impression I took
up was that the troops were coming noxt day to the yard. I can not say that I com-
municated that to the officers.

By Captain ARMSTRONG :
Question. What did Captain Farrand say when you gave him the
information? -
Answer. He said he would call and see Captain Armstrong.
By the Courr:
Question, Did you know of disaffection among the officers or employés
of the yard prior to the surrender?
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Answer, With regard to the employés of tho yard, I know that a great many of
them are Southerners, who could iint in any svent have been induced to tike arms
against the South.  With regard to officers 1 know nothing. Lieutenant Kell always
said that when (Georgia seceded he would resign, This he did, but as loug a4
he remained in the sorvice he acted in good fuith, He was not present at the sur-
render of the yard; he had received a lenve of absence about three weeks lisfore to
carry his wife,-who was sick, home; he returned n week after the yard was surren-
dered, T heard Capéuin Farrand say he had property in Alabama, and that when she
seceded he would resign, These romirks were made publicly, but I know of no nct
of these gentlemen which was contrary to their fealty to the United States up to
the time that they resigned. I wonld sny the same of Mr. Gonzales, the naval store-
keeper. He exprassed hopes of the settiement of this question on the basis of the
Crittenden resolutions,

Question.:Di‘(ﬂl the officers or men you speak of ever say in your
presence that they would not defend the public property in their post,
as well as that they would not bear arms against the State?

Answer, No; I did not hear them say they would not défend the yard. My own
impression is that the mass of the smployés of tho yard would not have berne arms;
some fow might have done so. . The officers, I think, would have done so. I recog-
nized it as the duity of a man as long as he was in the service to obey orders, and
they agreed with me, I think, in this opinion.

The testimony of this witness was then read over to him, and Sur-
geon W, |S.] Bishop, the only other witness to whom a summons was
sent, never having reported to the court, the evidence was here closed
by the judge-advocate.

Whereupon Captain Armstrong then offered the following docu-
mentary evidence: ,

U. 8. NAYY DEPARTMENT, February 13, 1861.

I hereby cortify that the annexed are true copies of the originals on file in the
Navy Department, ‘
Ciuas, W, WELSH,
Chief Clerk.

Be it known that Charles W. Welsh, whose name i3 signed to the above certificate,
is now, and was at the time of so signing, chief clerk in the Navy Department, and
that full faith and credit are due to all his official attestations ag sueh. .

In testimony whereof I have hereunto subscribed my name, and caused the seal of
tho Navy Departiment of the United States to bo affixed, at the city of Washington,
this thirteenth day of I'ebruary,in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred
and sixty-one, and of the independence of the United States the eighty-ﬁfth.

[BEAL,] Isaac Toucry,

Secretary of the Navy,

Navy DerARTMENT, BUREAU OF CONBTRUCTION, ETC.,

, ; , - , November 30, 1860,

Sin: The enclosed Tequisitions have beon received from the flag-officer of the
Home Squadron, which hie requests may be forwarded by the storeship Supply,
expected to rench the yard under your command by the 10th or 15th December.

’}‘he articles called for being very nuinerous, and probably more than you can sup-

ly, you will please send snch of them as you may have, or such portions of them as
in your-opinjon will best supply their present wants, and which the storeship can
accommodate. e ‘

With regard to the requisition for the Sabine, as she will soon complete her cruise
you will send the least quantity that ¢an be made to answer. If copies of these
requisitions have been forwarded to you, please return the enclosed to the Bureau,

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
JOouUN LENTHALL,
Chief of Bureau.
Commodore JAMES ARMSTRONG,
- Commandant Navy Yard, Warrington, Ila,

1 éertify the foregoing to be a true copy. _
JONN AMBLER,
Chief Clerk,
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[Telegarm.]

NAVY DEPARTMENT, December 18, 1860.

Do not let the Supply bo detained by any survey on her sails. Send her directly
back.
I. Toucey,
Scoretary of the Navy.
Commodore JAMES ARMSTRONG, i
Commandant Navy Yard, Pensacola, Fla,

[Telegram.]
PrNsAcoLa, December 15, 1860,

Dispatch of 13th received. I will send the Supply back to Vera Cruz as soon as
stores and coal can be put on board.
Respectfully,
- JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Commandant,
Hon. 1. ToUCEY,
[Secretary of the Navy.]

COMMANDANT'S OFFICE, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
. Warrington, Fla., December 15, 1860,
Sir: T have the honor to acknowledge the receipt, by telegraph, this day, of your
order of the 13th instant, in necordanco with which I will dispateh the storeship
Supply to return to Vera Cruz as soon as the stores and coal required for the squad-
ron (that ean be furnished here) can possibly be put on bonrd. I beg leave to state,
however, that in myfjudﬁm‘ent the condition of thesails on board the Supply is such
that the safety of the ship would be endangered by the use of them, and I have
therefore decmed it proper to order several siils which have been left here by various
vessels from time to time, and which with slight alterations can be made to answer,
to be prepared and furnished to the Supply. The work can be accomplished by the
tin o the ship will be in other respects ready to sail.
Trusting that my course will be approved by the Department, I have the honor to
be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Commandant,
Hon. Isaac Toucky,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D. C.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, BUREAU OF CONSTRUCTION, ETC.,
December 26, 1860.

Sir: In reply to your letter of the 17th, the Wyandotte will be docked if you think
it necessary, delaying the vessel as little as possible.
[ am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
- JonN LENTHALL,
‘ ’ Chief of Bureau.
Commodore JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Commandant Navy Yard, Warringion, Fla.

I certify the foregoing to be a true copy. -
JOHN AMBLER,
Chief Clerk.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 17, 1861,

Sir: The navy.yard at Warrington, near Pensacola, having been surrendered by
you to an armed force under the authority of Florida, you will consider yourself as
detached from the command of that yard from the 12th instant, the dato of such sur-
render, and as waiting orders. Of course all the work at the yard will be considered
ag sudpended from that date. -

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
I. Toucky,

Commodore JAMES ARMSTRONG, U. S. Navy,

Warrington, Fla,
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WASHINGTON, D. C., January 26, 1861,
Sir: Having hade my report to the Department on the capture of the navy yard
at Pensacola, lato under my ¢ommand, I now hiavoe to request that a court of enquiry
may be instituted to onquird into all the facts and circumstances of said capture,
with tho opinion of the court.
I am, very respecttully, sir, your obediont servant,
JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Captain, U. S. Navy.
Hon. IsAac¢ TOUCEY,
Secretary of the Navy.

CHARLESTOWN, MAsS,, February 4, 1861,

Sir: I have the hoiior to enclose herewith the treaty of capitulation of the navy
yard at Warrington, Fla. You will perceive by tlio terms tliat no parole was required
of those leaving the place for their homes, but those only who remained behind.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
. JAMES ARMSTRONG,
Captain, U. S. Navy.
Hon. IssAc TouUcCEY, .
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D. C.

[Enclosure.]

This is to certify that Commodore James Armstrong, of the U. 8, Navy, surrendered
the command and relinquished tho possession of the navy yard at Warrington, Fla,,
on the 12th day of Janunary, 1861, undoer the following circumstances, and upon the
follo\\'iu%’té‘i‘n}mbf capitulation, to wit: A commission under authority of the gov-
ernor of I'lorida, accompanied by an arined force very mich superior in numbers and
equipments to that under his command, the latter not being sufficient to‘eénable him
to defend the plice, demanded its imiuediate surrender with all the public property
therein; which demand was acceded to with the understanding that he, the com-
mandant, and all the officers and other citizens of the United States attached to the
station who desire to remove therefrom shall be freely permitted to do so, and to
remove their families and all their private property at any time, or to remain on
parole of honor. )

In witness whereof we, the commissioners and the commandant above referred to,
have hereunto set our hands this 12th day of January, 1861.

V. M. RANDOLPH, Captain, Navy Yard,
RicuHARD I.. CAMPBELL,
- Commissioners.
JAS. ARMSTRONG,
Captain, U. S. Navy.

, ,, _ N NAVY DEPARTMENT, February 16, 1861,
Sir: Inroply to your lotter of the 14th:instant 1 haye to inform you that the resig-
nation of Commander Farrand was tendered not ‘¢ by telegraph,” but by a letter
dated Jannary 13, which was received, and the resignation accepted January 21, 1861,
The resignation of Lieutenant Renshaw was tenndered in like manner by letter, dated
January 16, and was received and accepted January 22, 1861, The Department has
not been informed that their testimony is necessary hefore the court of enquiry, and
it has no power to compel the attendance of a private citizen as o witness,
I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
I. Toucey,
[ Secretary of the Navy.)
Commodore JaMES ARMSTRONG, U. S. Navy,
Washington, D. C,

Captain Armstrong here informed the court that he had no further
evidence that he desired to offer, and asked the indulgenca of' the court
until to-morrow morning at 12 o’clock to prepare his remarks explana-
tdry of the cvidence, which was granted.

The court thereupon, at 12:30 o’clock p. m., adjourned, to meet again
to-morrow, the 19th instant, at 12 o’clock m,
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WaAsHINGTON C1ry, February 19, 1861—12 m.

Oourt met pursuant to adjournment. Present, all the members;
William B, B. Cross, judge-advocate; Captain James Armstrong also
present,

The record of yesterday’s procuedmgs was then read over,

Oaptain James Armstrong then submitted to the court his explana-
tory statement, in writing, which was read by his counsel, P. Phillips,
esq. Itis appended to this record, marked C.

The court was then closed for dehb(,ratlon, and it proceeded to a
careful consldemtlon of the testimony adduced, and was engaged
thereon until 12:30 o’clock p: m., when it adyourned to meet to-morrow,
Tuesday, February 20, 1861, at 9 o’clock a. m.

WaAsHINGTON Crry, February 20, 1861—9 a. m.

The court met pursuant to adwurnment Present, all the mmembers;
William B. B. Oross, judge-advocate.

The court closed for deliberation, and having resumed the consider-
ation of the testimony and evidence, determined as follows:

The court having enquired fully into the circumstances connected
with the surrender by OCaptain James Armstrong, of the Navy, on the
12th of January, 1861, of his command and the public property under
his charge at the nfwy yard near P’ensacola, F'la., report herewith to the
Navy Department the foregoing record of the testimony and evidence;
and they further report the following as the material facts they deem
to be established :

That Captain James Armstrong on the 9th of- January, 1861, bemg
in command of the U. 8. navy yard near Pensacola, Fla., recelved an
order from the Navy Department directing him to he v1g11ant to pro-
tect the public property and to cooperate with the commanding officer
at Fort Barr ancas, Lieutenant Slenmncr, U. S. Army; that at the date
of the receipt of this order Captain Armstrong had under his command
the following -force: Thirty-eight marines, §0 men in ordinary, the
steamer W_/awdofte, carrying four 32-pounders and two Dahlgren how-
itzers, with 72 men as crew, and the storeship Supply, carrying two
32-pounders and a crew of 36 men; that there was also in the yard a
saluting battery of twenty-two 18- poundem and eight 32-pounders, two
8-inch guns, and a howitzer; that all these guns in the yard were dis-
mounted except the s.x]utmg battery, and the howitzer was without
elevating screw or ammunition; that the saluting battery was station-
ary near the north gate; that 1t% carriages were rotten and unfit for
use, but the guns themselves were serviceable and could have been
made efficient had due preparation been made for the defense of the
yard; that on the 9th Janufu'y, 1861, and prior thereto, Captain Arm-
stlong and Lieutenants Slemmer and Gilman had interviews in regard
to cooperating; that they agreed that Fort Pickens was the only point
on the h'ubm that could be defended by the united forces of the Army
and Navy then there; that Captain Armstrong agreed to give Lieutenant
Slemmer aid in stom‘;, men, and transportation over to Fort Pickens,
and that the Wyandotte and Supply should anchor near Fort Pickens to
aid in its protection. And the court further find that on the 10th of
January, 1861 Captam Armstrong transported the commaund of Lieuten-
ant Slemmer consxstmg of forty-eight men, from Fort Barrancas to Fort
Pickens, together with their garrison eﬁ'ects and some fieldpieces and
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22,000 pounds of powder, and on the 11th of January sent from the

ard thirty ordinary men’ to aid in the defense of IFort Pickens; and
‘L]Oﬁ of stores, The court also find that for many days prior to the
12th reliable rumors had prevailed at the yard and in its vicinity that
State troops were coming to attack the yard; that no precautions of any
character were taken by Captain Aunstrong looking to a defense of the
yard, except to increase the guard at one of the gates; ‘that on the morn-
ing of the 12th of January, 1861, a force came against the yard, consmtmg
of seven companies—five from Alabama and two from Florida—making
in all about 350 men, well armed but withoutar tlllery, that the surrender
of the yard was then demanded by persons styling themselves commis-
sioners of the State of Florida, and that soon thereafter, at 1:30 o’clock
p. m., Captain Armstrong, without offering any resistance, surrendered
the yard and public property thereat and all his command except the two
vessels the Wyandotte and Supply and their crews and the thirty men in
ordinary sent to Fort Pickens; that at the time of such surrender by
Captain Armstrong the ;S’upply was at Fort Pickens, within signal dis-
tance, and the Wyandotte near the wharf in the yard, steam up, and
that, although there were other approaches to the yard, the road by
which the State troops came, as also the yard gate by which they en-
tered, could be commanded by the guns of these vessels, properly sta-
tloned in the bay.

The court also, in respect of the proprlety of the conduct of (nptam
Armstrong in the matter of this enqulry, report as their oplmou that
Commodore Armstrong was culpable in not taking any precautionary
‘measures for the defense of his post and the public property thereat.
They also think he had such aforce under his command as should have
induced a resistance on his part against the forces brought against him
on thie 12th of January. They are further of opinion, too, that having
determined not to defend the yard, there was no reason why he should
not have-carried his men, with such public property as he could remove,
to Fort Pickens, and what he could not remove have destroyed.

Gro. W, STORER,

Captain, U. 8. Navy, President of the OOurt
WM. B. B. Cross,

Judge- Advocate

There being no further business before them, the court adjourned
sine die.
GEO. W. STORER,
Captain, U. S. Navy, President of the Court.
Wwm. B. B. Cross,
Judge-Advocate.

C.

Captain Armstrong's explanatory statement,

Mr. President and Gentlemen of the Court:

I took the command of the navy yard at Pensacola on the 30th
October, 1860, being the first duty ot the kind assigned me during my
long service in the N avy. I was a stranger to all the officers I found
there, and unfamiliar with the details of the particular service. On
" the 12th January, 1861, I surrendered the yard to commissioners acting
under the authomty ot the State of Florida, supported by a large body
of Alabama and Florida troops.
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A circumstance so painful and unusual, whether considered in refer-
ence to my own honor or to the interests of the public service, demanded,
in my opinion, an authoritative investigation, and on my application
to the Secretary of the Navy this court has been organized to report
the facts, together with their opinion thereon, o

This enquiry has been made. All the officers in anywise connected
with the yard, and within reach, have been examined by the Govern-
ment, Theé investigation has extended over a period of nine days,
The minutest facts have been stated, and all the conversations con-
nected therewith; and now, in the presence of all this evidence, I feel
warranted in saying that no act or expression of mine, nay, more,
no inference from such act or expression, is to be found in the volumi.
nous record of this case which is in the least inconsistent with my
good faith and fidelity as the commanding officer of the post. - ,

Shortly after my arrival at the yard 1 found that the Government
had neglected to provide for the payment of the employés, and this
continued to be the case up to the time of the surrender. I wrote and
telegraphed the Department on the subject, but never received an
answer. The excitement produced by this cause outside of the yard
found vent in public meetings and strongresolutions.. This was addi-
tional fuel cast upon the fire of political discontent existing in the
locality of the yard. Believing it proper to do what I could to remedy
this evil, on the 10th of January I directed Paymaster Warrington to
furnish “such articles of provisions on hand sufficient to supply the
immediate necessities of such of the employés of the navy yard as were
suffering for the want of food in consequence of the failure to receive
pay for their services during more than two months past.”

The disturbance which immediately preceded and followed the seces-
sion of South Carolina on the 20th December, 1860, is well known.
The States of Alabama and Florida most deeply sympathized in the
movement, and this was also well understood; yet during the whole
of this perilous period I was left without any instructions but such as
are contained in the very brief letter of the 3d of January, 1861, received
by me on the 9th of the same month, as follows:

Be vigilant to protect the public Il)roperty. The commanding officer at Fort Bar-
rancas has been instructed to consult with you, and you will cooporate with him,

Thus exposed to this double cause of excitement, my conference was
held with Lieutenants Slemmer and Gilman on the morning of the 9th
January, when we concurred in the conclusion that Fort Pickens was
the only point which could be defended against any considerable force.

Acting under these instructions, I immediately arranged to give
Lieutenant Slemmer such aid &8 was in my power. In the evidence of
Lieutenant Irwin it is stated that orders were given to him as executive.
officer of the Wyandotte on the same day, the 9th, the same being
extended to the Supply, to anchor off the Barrancas for the purpose of
transporting the men and provisions collected there to Fort Pickens.
He states further that, owing to an accident to the machinery of the
Wyandotte, and a dense fog during the night of that day, they did not
reach the Barrancas until early the next morning, when the duty
assigned them was then performed, with the assistance of a lighter
from the yard and two other boats, also from the yard, under the com-
mand of Sailing Master Pearson, who transported 22,000 pounds of
powder to I'ort Pickens; that on the 11th they were engaged in trans-
porting firewood, etc., from the Barrancas, and also provisions, which
were landed early on the morning of the 12th, and that during this

N W R=VOL 4——i
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service he also carried over from the yard 30 of the ordinary men, 30
muskets, a quantity of caps, and 4,600 cartridges to aid in the defense
of the fort., The formal orders* on this subject to Commander Walke
and Lieutenant Berryman are spread upon the record, ;

That I was anxious to supply Lieutenant Slemmer with all the aid in
my power is shown by the evidence of Lieutenant Gilman, in which it
is gaid that in the interview referred to I promised as many good men
as could be spared, and mentioned fifty, when Commander Farrand
said there could not be found more than thirty good, active young men;
and he adds, “During the discussion the commodore seemed anxious
to furnish as much assistance as possible.” B

From the 9th to the time of the surrender the Wyandotiec and Supply
were in the service of Fort Pickens and cooperating with the com-
mander of that post. The force left in the yard consisted, as stated
by the witnesses, of thirty-eight marines all told, and about thirty
ordinary meu. There were nc guns mounted save those of the saluting
battery, which, as shown by the gunner, could not have been used to
repel an attack., The yard itself, as is-well known to the court, is not a
fortified position, but depends alons upon the forts which command the
entrance to the bay.

The force to which the yard surrendered consisted of uniformed com-
panies, one of them cavalry, and all well armed with rifled muskets
and revolvers. The number has been variously estimated, the highest
estimate being that of Paymaster Warrington, who states it as from
700 to 800, and the lowest places it at 300. Some of this discrepancy
may be attributed to the fact that while certain witnesses speak of the
whole force, including those sent to the magazine, others confine them-
selves to the number who entered the yard at the time of the surren-
der. Captain Watson, of the marines, who had good opportunity for
judging, says 300 were quartered in the barracks, or:» company in the
assistant surgeon’s louse, and three or four companies, including one
company of horse and one of artillery, went to the Barrancas, making
in all 6560, Averaging the several statements, and allowing for the
company stated by Mr. Porter to have been sent to the magazine, it
would give upward of 500, .

I had proposed to Commander Farrand to arm the ordinary men, but
he objected on the ground that there were no cartridge boxes, and that
if they were supplied with arms and ammunition, from their dissolute
character they would be more dangerous to those inside of the yard
than the persons without, The disaffection existing among the men is
painted in strong colors by the witnesses, several of them stating they
were satisfied I could not have obtained the assistance of one of the
employés in defending the yard.

There is only one witness.- who says that any information was com-
municated to me in reference to any impending danger, and, without
intending to raise any issue of veracity with Mr. Abert, I can only say
I have no remeimnbrance whatever of the conversation alleged by him
to have been held with me on the night of the 11th January, and that 1
do not believe any such took place. Be this as it may, his communica-
tion was confined to the expected arrival of troops that night at Pensa-
cola, He says that what he heard made an impression on his mind
that the yard would be attacked the 1iext day, but that this impression
was not communicated to me. ‘

1 can truly say that there is nothing in the record to contradict it;
that I did not know, and had no reason to believe, that the yard would

* 8eo pp. 11,12, 13, 14,
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be attacked prior to the day on which the surrender was made. I
knew that outside of the yard was a hungry mob and much political
excitement, but of the intention of marching upon the yard with a mil-
itary force I was wholly ignorant. Rumors were abundant, but so
contradictory I knew not what to believe. The condition of things was
so anomalous experience shed no light upon the judgment. To add to
my embarrassments I was surrounded by officers who were strangers
to me. Tothe suggestion of Lieutenant-Slemmer that my officers were
badly affected toward the Government I replied I thought he was mis-
taken. I had seen nothing in their conduct to warrant an opposite
conclusion, How far the evidence now given may show that in this I
was deceived I leave the court to consider, It is too painful a subject
for me to comment upon.

It was under such circumstances that about 1 o’clock on_Saturday,
the 12th January, I was informed by a messenger that some gentlemen
desired to see me at my office. There I was introduced by Commander
Farrand to Mr. Campbell and Captain Randolph, who informed me that
they had come with a large force in the name of the State of Florida
to demand an immediate and unconditional surrender of the yard, with
orders if' they were refused to take the same by force of arms, and that
they had already taken possession of the magazine. The statement
was that the force at the gate consisted of a full regiment of men, well
armed, and this was corroborated by Mr, Farrand. I thusfound myself
a prisoner before I knew I should be attacked. The issue thus sud-
denly presented to me was a bloody and bootless resistance or a sur-
render, and I accepted the latter alternative under a written stipulation
that all Who were attached to the station should be permitted to remove
with their families and property at any time.

In judging of this transaction it must be remembered that this was
the first time in the history of our country that hostility to the Govern-
ment ever appeared in armed force, organized under State authority
and acting under the forms of law. Nor can we ignore the fact that
from the commencement of these difficulties the President’s messages
and the whole tone of public opinion as expressed through the various
channels of communication spoke but one voice—that civil war should
be avoided at all cost,and that the spilling of blood in such a striie
would obliterate forever all hope of restoring the Government to ifis
integrity. =~

Independently, therefore, of the disparity of force, and however
willing I may have been under ordinary circumstances to sacrifice my
own life and that of my small band in vindication of the honor of the
flag, the policy of the Government, as I understood it, in treating this
peculiar condition of affairs lent its strong influence in bringing me to
the conclusion I adopted. To condemn this act of mine would be to
reprobate the whole course of the Government from the commencement
of these troubles to the present time. There stands Fort Pickens
to day in the condition in which I left it; the secessionists held the
other forts and yard by military power; a fleet of Government vessels
are outside of the bay, but they do not go in, says Lieutenant Ctilman,
because of an armistice between the Government and the State
authorities.

1t is true I might have adopted the suggestion made by Licutenant
Erben on the evening of the 11th to destroy the ammunition, but in
doing this I would have acted on mere apprehension of an attack by a
resistless force. There were then no troops in the vicinity, It was
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ox;l(f' expected they would arrive that night at Pensacola. What, if I
had destroyed my ammunition and the troops had not arrived and no
attack [been) made, would have been my condition ;

My instructions were ¢ to protect the public property,” and if, under
the circumstances last supposed, I had destroyed it I should have
found great difficulty in attempting to sustain my action by alleging
mere rumors, which the result showed were baseless.

So it may {)e said that I could have removed the public property, and
this certainly could have been done if timely notice and the necessary
means had been possessed; but, as before stated, I had no reason to
believe tbat any such attack would be made in time to effect such
removal, and from the 9th to the period of surrender the Wyandotie
and Supply were in the service of Fort Pickens, and were there when
the surrender was made. I could not believe that a surrender of the
yard would be demanded in the name of the State of Florida, at least
until that State had thrown off its allegiance, and this was not done
until the 10th of January, the news of which only reached Pensacola
on the evening of the 11th.

It may be proper to ntate that the Wyandotte came in to procure her
smokestack, when it was ascertained that she required other necessary
repairs, For this purpose, under orders from the proper Department,
she was hauled out and the repairs made. Shewas got out of the dock
on Tuesday, the 8th of January, took in her powder on the 9th, and
from that time to the close of my command was cooperating with the
fort,

The Supply was sent in for provisions and coal, under special instrue-
tions that she was not to be detained but sent directly back. Hence
in my letter to Lieutenant Slemmer under date of the 11th January I
state: :

'The U, 8. storeship Supply was sent to Fort Pickens by my order merely to convoy
the provisions you required and then to return to the navy yard. 'The Supply is not
a vessel of war, and having been sent to this station for ghe special service of con-
voying stores and coal to Vera Cruz for the vessels of the Home Squadron stationed
there, it is my duty to dispatch her to that port at the earliest moment practicable,
in conformity with the orders I have received from the Navy Department, from

which orders I can not deviate further, The steamer Wyandotie may be retained for
the purpose of cooperating with you until farther orders.

On the 12th January I wrote to Lieutenant Berryman:

You will continue to cooperate with the commanding officer at Fort Pickens, hut
should an attack be made you will not fire & gun unless it may be actually necessary
in defense of the vessel.under your command. In the event of the capture of the
fort you will proceed immediately to the station to which you have been ordered
by the Navy Department. It is reported this navy yard is surrounded by armed
men.

This letter was written by my secretary, and signed by me when in a
disturbed state of mind. I find that it may bear a construction not
intended by me, and be made inconsistent with itself; for after order-
ing that the Wyandotte should cooperate with the commander at Fort
Pickens, Lieutenant Berryman is directed not to fire a gun unless in
the defense of the vessel under his command. It is clear that if the
fort was attacked and the Wyandotte did not assist in the defense she
wonld not cooperate as she was directed to do. She was by my order
attached to the service of the fort, and was part and parcel thereof
while she so remained. What I intended by the remark ‘unless
actually necessary in the defense of the vessel under your command”
was not to draw a distinetion between firing on the fort and firing on
the vessel, for this I regarded as one and the same thing; but that the
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first shot should not come from the Wyandotte, In other words
desired that if civil war was inaugurated it should not be said that
was commenced by my orders. ;

This, however, I do not regard as involved in the enquiry which this
court has been directed to consider, to wit, the surrender of my com-
mand and the public property under my charge. It has no bearing, it
seems to me, upon the question whether that surrender under the cir-
cumstances was proper or improper. ' v

But a few observations mors, I have already stated that I do not
believe that any such conversation was had with me as stated by Mr.
Abert. In one other particular there is a mistake in the evidence of
Captain Watson when he speaks of my delivering the keys of the
magazine to the commissioner of the State of Florida at an interview
subsequent to the surrender, I do not know that this is material, but
the truth is that the keys were delivered by me at the time the surren-
der took place, and when this was done Oaptain Watson was not
present, He ig, therefore, in this clearly mistaken. 3

Among the papers sent by me to the Department accompanied with
my report was the pass or safe conduct sent to me by Captain Randolph,
in which it is recited that I had given my parole not to bear arms
against the State of Florida. This paper was handed to me as a pass-
port when on the steamboat on the eve of departure from Pensacola,
and was not read by me until some time on my journey. The statemené
thus recited is not true in point of fact, The terms of capitulation
speak for themselves; all persons who desired were to be allowed to
remove with their families or property or to remain on their parole of
honor,

In conclusion I may say that it is more than I have a right to expect
that no errors of judgment on my part should be found while passing
through the troubled scenes of this extraordinary event; but I feel safe
in the consciousness that I have discharged my duty to the best of my
ability, with an eye single to what I believed was for the good of the
country. During my long career as an officer I have never been visited
with the slightest mark of disapprobation on the part of my Govern-
ment, To courts I am entirely a stranger. By always promptly dis-
charging my duty I have never had occasion to learn the means by
which its neglect might be excused. I can, then, with entire confidence
leave my honor to this tribunal, composed of officers who are my peers,
expressing to them my unfeigned thanks for their patient attention,
and to the judge-advocate for the courtesy and ecandor which have
characterized his conduct in this investigation.

JAS, ARMSTRONG,
Oaptain, U, 8. Navy.

I
it

NAVAL GENERAL) - Navy DEPARTMENT,
ORDER. § April 24, 1861.
At a naval general court-martial convened in the city of Washington
on the 12th day of March, 1861, Captain James Armstrong, of the Navy
was tried on the following charges and specifications, preferred againsé
him by the Secretary of the Navy:
CuARrGE 1: Neglect of duty, , ,
Specification 1,—In this, that the said Captain James Armstrong, bein% on the 12th
day of January, 1861, in command of the U. S, navy yard at Warrington, State of

Florida, and a naval force thereat adequato to the defenso of said yard, did then and
there, on the demand of commissioners of the State of Florida, supporéed by & mili-
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tary force from the States of Alabama and Florida, surrender to them without resist-
ance said yard, the public property thereat, and a portion of the force under his
command, S - » o .

Specification 2.—In this, that the said Captain James Armstrong, being on the 7th
day of January, or thereaboit, 1861, in command of the U. S. navy yard at Warring-
ton, State of Florida, and the naval forces thereat, and havinig reason to appre-
hend the approach of hostile force, did then and there, and at all times subsequent
thereto to the 12th day of January, inclusive, 1861, fail to take the ordinary and
proper measures for the defense of said yard and the public property thereat, =~

Specification 8.—In this, that the said Captain James Armstrong, beinig on the 9th
day of January, 1861, in command as set forth in the Jast preceding specification, did
then and there, and at all times subsequent thereto to the 12th day of January,
1861, neglect to remove to Fort Pickens or other place of safoty the men under his
command, and munitions of war and other public property in his charge, or the latter
to destroy, although at the time aforesaid he was In constant expeoéutibn of the
approach of a hostile force which he believed he could not, with the forces under
his command, successfully resist.

CHARGE 2: Disobedience of orders and conduct unbecoming an officor, ;

Speoification 1.—In this, that the said Captain James Armstrong, [being] on the 9th
day of January, 1861, in command of the U, S, navy yard at Warrington, Ila., and the
naval forces thereat, and in charge of the public property attached thoreto and in
receipt also at that time ot an order from the Secretary of the Navy, dated January 3,
1861, of the tenor following: ‘ Be vigilant to protect the public property. Thecom-
manding officor at Fort Barrancas has been instructed to consult with you, You will
cooperate with him,” did then and there, and at [all] times subsequent thereto to the
12th of January, 1861, in violation of said order, neglect to send the marines and
other men undor his command to Fort Pickens to cooperate in the defense thereof,
and to remove to a place of safety the public property in his charge, or to take any
measures or to practice any vigilance for the protection of said navy yard and the
public p(xl'operty attached theroto, except to double the guard at one of the gates of
said yard.

Specification 2.—In this, that the said Captain James Armstrong, being in command
of the U. 8. navy yard at Warrington, Fla., and the naval force thereat, and under
instructions from the Secretary of the Navy directing him to be vigilant to protect
the public property and to cooperate with the commanding officer at I'ort Barrancas,
who was Lieutenant Slemmer, U. S, Army, did on the 10th day of January, 1861,
then and there, in accordance with an understanding previously had with Licutenant
Slemmer, dispatch the steamer Wyandotie to aid him, Lieutenant Slemmer, in the
defenso of his post, Fort Pickens; Fla,, to which he, Lieutenant Slemmer, had removed ;
and thereafter, t0 wit, on the 12th day of January, 1861, tho said Captain James
Armstrong, in violation of such underatanding and ‘Lis instructions, issued, without
tho knowledge of Lieutenant Slommer, to Lieutenant O. I, Berryman, commanding
said steamer, an order of the following tenor: —

“You will continue to cooperate with the commanding officer at Fort Pickens, but
should an attack be made you will not fire & gun unless it be actually necessary in
the dofense of the vessel under your command. In the event of the capture of the
fort you will proceed immediately to the station to which you have been ordered by
the Navy Department. It is reported that the yard is surrounded by armed men.”

Upon these charges and specifications the ¢ finding ” of “the court is
in the following terms:

The court, having maturely considered the whole case, with the evidence and the
defense aforesaid, find as follows:

1. That the firat specification of the first charge against the said Captain James
Armstrong is ({)roved, excerv a8 to the words in said specification ‘“ adequate to a
defense of said yard.”

2. That the second specification of the first charge against the said Captain James
Armstrong is proved. :

3. Thatthe third specification of the first charge is proved, except that the accused
did remove or send to Fort Pickens thirty men (a part of his command), thirty mus-
kets, and sonmie ammunition and a barge load of provisions, .

And-the court thereupon further find that tgo said Captain James Armstrong is
guilty of the first charge of neglect of duty,

And the court doth further find that the first specification of the second charge
against the accused is proved, except that thirty men (a part of his command) were
sent by thesaid Captain James Armstrong to cooporate in the defense of Xort Pickens.

And they further find— N v

2. That the second specification of the second charge is proved.

And thersupon the court find the said Captain James Armstrong to bo guilty of the
second charge of disobedience of orders and conduct unbecoming an officer,
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And the sentence of the court is—

That the said Captain James Armstrong be suspended from duty for the term of
five years, with loss of pay for the first ﬁalt‘ of said term, and be reprimanded by
the honorable Secretary of the Navy in general orders.

I have approved the sentence, and Captain James Armstrong will
accordingly be suspended from duty for the term of five years from this
date, with loss of pay for the first half of the said term. _

In carrying into execution that part of the sentence which directs
that Captain Armstrong be reprimaunded in general orders I have a
painful duty to perform. The sentence in this case might be consid-
ered severe without the addition of a reprimand; but a court composed
of officers of the highest rank and most experienced in the service has
deemed otherwjse, and its judgment can not but be approved. The
misconduct, indeed, which led to this trial does not affect alone the
reputation and diseipline of the naval service, but the interests of the
whole people; and the age and length of service of the officer who has
been found guilty of dereliction of duty under such circumstances,
instead of constituting any claim [to] lenity, only render it the more
imperative that the discipline of the service should be vindicated.

It was the duty of Captain Armstrong, as the commanding officer of
the naval force at Pensacola—a duty which he could not but know was
expressly and ¢“strictly enjoined” on him by law—to show in himself
‘g good example of patriotism,” as well as to be “vigilant in inspect-
ing the conduct?” of those under his command. Whatever the embar-
rassments of his position may have been, an earnest patriotism would
have taught him to make the.best possible use of all the resources at
his disposal, adequate or inadequate, and to have imparted zeal by his
example to those around him, instead of suffering the promptings of
loyalty to be checked either by any speculations or conjectures of his
own or any suggestions from others, as to the possible views and
designs of superiors in office. Had he discharged his duty with stern
fidelity he might have disappointed some, but, as events have recently
shown in the case of another officer placed in similar circumstances, he
would have been upheld by the applause of his fellow-countrymen
and the respect even of antagonists., The safest as well as the most
honorable course for every individual in the public service, whether
commander or subordinate, is to be true to the flag of his country, no
matter what dangers or difficulties encompass it,

This general order will be promulgated as usual at all the naval sta-
tions and on board of all vessels of the Navy in commission.

GIDEON "VELLES,
Secretary of the Navy.

GENERAL NAVAL } NAVY DEPARTMENT,
- ORDER. April 24, 1861,

A naval general court-martial, consisting of a full complement of offi-
cers in the highest rank in the service, was recently convened in the
city of Washington for the trial of Captain James Armstrong, of the
Navy, on charges growing out of his surrender of the navy yard at
Warrington, Fla. -

Before the court separated the members of it addressed a communi-
cation to the Navy Department of which the following is a copy:

WASHINGTON, D, C., April 8, 1861.

The president and members and judge-advocate of the court lately held in the city
of Washington, D, C., for the trial of Commodore Armstrong heg leave respectfully
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to submit to the honorable Secretary of the Navy the propriety, justice, and good
policy of hestowing some approprinte mark of its approbation of the loyalty, spirit,
and good conduct of William Conway, n quartermaster of the Navy on duty in the
navy yard at Warrington, Fla., when the same was surrendered on the 12th January,
1861, who with manly pr{de and in a spirit of patriotic devotion refused to obey the
order to haul down the national flag on' the occasion of sald surrender.

The evidence of this honorable devotion to the dignity and credit of the flag of
his country is found in the record of the testimony in Commodore Armstrong’s case.

Respectfully submitted, by order of the court.

A. B, MAGRUDER,
Judge-Advocale.

It appears from the testimony taken in Captain Armstrong’s case
that William Conway, an aged seaman doing duty as quartermaster in
the Warrington [Pensacola] navy yard at the time of its surrender,
when ordered by Lieutenant F. B. Renshaw to haul dqwn the national
flag promptly and indignantly refused to obey the order.

The love and reverence thus impulsively exhibited for his country’s
flag in the hour of its peril is not the less worthy of being called noble
and chivalrie because displayed by one in an humble station. It is the
more deserving of commemoration, for subordinates in the service are
not usually expected to set examples of patriotism and fidelity in their
trusts, but to follow them.

The Department deems it no more than strict justice to Willinm Oon-
way that this testimonial from the court in his behalf should be made
known throughout the service, It therefore directs that this general
order be publicly read as early as practicable after its receipt by the
commanders of all naval stations and all vessels in the Navy in commis-
sion, in the presence of the officers and men uuder their command.

GIDEON WELLES,
Secretary of the Navy.

Order of the Beoretary of the Navy to Flag-Officer MoKean, U. 8. Navy, commanding Gulf
Blookading Squadron, for the transmission of gold medal to Quartermaster William Con-
way, U. 8. Navy, and communications relative thereto,

NAVY DEPARTMENT, November 11, 1861,

S1r: I herewith transmit a letter from the Department to William
Conway, who is on board of one of the vessels of your squadron, together
with a gold medal presented to him by his countrymen in California as
a testimonial of their appreciation of his conduet in refusing to haul
down the flag of his country at the surrender of the navy yard at Pen-
sacola to the rebeiws cn the 12th of January, 1861,

A copy of the letter addressed to William Conway by the citizens
who presentea the medal, and of the letter of Major-General Halleck,
the bearer of it to the Department, are also transmitted.

You will be pleased to have the medal handed to William Conway on
the quarter-deck of the vessel to which he belongs, and in the presence
of the officers and crew thereof, and the correspondence read at the
same time. _

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
GIDEON WELLES,

Flag-Officer WiLLIAM W, MOKEAN,
Commanding Gulf' Blockading Squadron, Key West, Fla;
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[Enclosures.]

NAVY DEPARTMENT, November 11, 1861.

[SIr:] It gives me pleasure to cause to be delivered to you the accom.
panying letter and gold medal from your countrymen in California, .
presented to you as a testimonial of their high appreciation of your
noble and patriotic conduct in refusing to haul down the flag of your
country when others (your superiors in position) were wanting in fidelty
to it. I also forward a copy of the letter of Major-General Ialleck
who was selected as the bearer of these testimonials, and by his reques{;
I bhave directed them to be transmitted to you, which you will please
accept with the assurance of my regard.

Very respectfully,
GIDEON WELLES,
Secretary of the Navy.
WiLLiAM CONWAY,
U. 8. Gulf Blockading Squadron.

WASHINGTON, D, C., November 6, 1861.

S1r: I have received from certain citizens of California the accom-
panying-letter and medal, to be delivered to Mr, William Conway, quar-
termaster, U. 8, Navy, as a mark of their appreciation of his noble
conduct in refusing to haul down the flag of his country; but as I am
unable to see Mr, Uonway personally I respectfully request they may
be transmitted to him by the Navy Department.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
H., W, HALLEOK,
. Major-General, U, S, Army.

Hon, GIpEON WELLES,

Secretary of the Navy

SAN FrANoCISOO, September 20, 1861,

DEAR 8ir: The undersigned, citizens of Oalifornia from New Eng-
land, have read with pride and gratification the story of your brave
and patriotic refusal to haul down the flag of our country, As a mark
of our appreciation of your conduct, we request you to accept the
accompanying medal of California gold, together with our best wishes
for your prosperity and happiness,.

I, W. BROOKS,

HENRY L. DopaE,
F. A, T'ABENT.
H. F. OUTTER.
W. T. REYNOLDS,
. HENRY F. TESOHEMASCHER.

- Gro, J, BROOKS,
Gro. H. FAULKNER.
[And 140 others.]

Mr, WiLLiAm CONWAY,
Quartermaster, U. 8. Navy.
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Confederate correspondence relative to Pensacola navy yard.

Order of Colonel Chase, commanding Florida forces, appointing Captain Randolph commandant
Pensacola navy yard.

HEADQUARTERS, Pensacola, January 12, 1861,

DEAR CAPTAIN: Your dispatch received. You are hereby appointed
commandant of the navy yard, and will be obeyed and respected
accordingly.

Very respectfully,
Wy, H. CHASE,
Commanding Forces of Florida.

Captain Vioror [M.] RANDOLPH,
State Navy Ya )d Warrington.

If FFarrand has resigned, won’t he help put I'ort Barrancas in order?

Yetter from Colonel Chase, commanding Florida forces, to Captain Randolph, commandant
navy yard, Pensacola, regarding defense of that yard.

HEADQUARTERS, Pensacola, January 12, 1861,

DEAR Sir: Can you erect any batteries at the yard in case of an
attack from the steam frigate entering the harbor?

I wrote to Colonel Lomax to prevent the pilots from going out to
any vessel of war on the steamer Star of the West with troops. Advise
Colonel Lomax what to do. I am overcome with fatigue.

If you can’t hold the position on Fort Barrancas, you and Lomax
must secure your retreat.

The Fulton’s guns could be used in battery. Could they not be
thrown up to-night?

I confide in you to do the best you can. You can be of great service
to Lomax,

The company expected to-night will be ordered down immediately.
Those reenforcements from Mobile will arrive to morrow night. I have
ordered two companies from Sparta and Greenville.

How many muskets have you in the army?

In haste, yours,
W. H. CHASE.

Captain Vioror [M.] RANDOLPH,

Commandant State Navy Yard, Warrington,

No. 3. Janvary 13, 1861,

A flag will be (11sp1'\,ye(1 at the navy yard, forts, barracks, and hos-
pital in this harbor in possession of the btate’s troops.

The flags hoisted for the firat time at the respective stations will be
saluted with thirteen guns,. Those at I'ort Barrancas and barracks by
the battery of the fort. Those at the navy yard and hospital by the
‘battery at the navy yard.

* Until otherwise ordained by the people of Tlorida assembled in con-
vention the emblems of the flag will be thirteen stripes, alternate red

GENERAL ORDERS, } HEADQUARTERS PENSACOLA DISTRIOT,
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and white, commencing with the red, a blue field, with a large white

star in the center.
. W. H. CHASE,

Aid-de-Camp to the Governor, Colonel Commanding.

By authority: ,
RicHArp L. OAMPBELL,

Atd-de-Camp to Colonel Commanding.

Permit of Captain Randolph, late U. 8. Navy, commanding navy yard, Pensacola, to Lisutenant
Jouett, U. 8, Navy.

PENSAcOLA NAVY YARD, January 16, 1861,

Lieutenant James E. Jouett, of the U. 8. Navy, having given his
parole of honor not to bear arms against the State of Florida, has per-
mission to leave this place with his private property without hindrance
or molestation.

V. M. RANDOLPH,
Captain, Commanding Pensacola Navy Yard.

Order of Colonel Chase, late U, 8. Army, commanding foroes of Florida, to Captain Randolph,
late U, 8. Navy, commanding navy yard, Pensacola.

HEADQUARTERS, January 18, 1861.

Sir: You will place two 18-pounders in battery opposite the small
north postern, at about 100 yards distant.
I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
WM. H. CHASE,
Colonel, Commanding Forces of Florida.
Captain V. M. RANDOLPH,
Commanding Navy Yard, Warrington,

Letter from Victor M. Randolph, late oaptain, U, 8. Navy, to governor of Florida, requesting
commission and assignment to duty at Pensacola navy yard.

PENSACOLA NAVY YARD, January 18, 1861.

Sir: On the 10th of January, 1861, I resigned my commission as
captain in the U. 8. Navy, and immediately proceeded to Pensacola,
Fla., and offered my services to Colonel William H, Chase, who gave
me temporary command of this navy yard and station.

I request to be commissioned by yourself and the legislature of the
State as a captain in the navy of Florida, and commanding officer of
the navy yard and station of Pensacola.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

Vicror M. RANDOLPH, "

His Excellency M. S. PERRY,

Governor of the Sovereign State of Florida.

Special order of Colonel Chase, late U, 8, Army, commanding Pensacola distriot, expressing
thanks to volunteer company from Apalachicola, Fla.

SPECIAL ORDERS.] HEADQUARTERS PENSACOLA DISTRIOT,
January 29, 1861.

The company of volunteers from Apalachicola under the command of
Oaptain Edwards having promptly repaired to Pensacola, but without



60 OPERATIONS IN THE GULF OF MEXICO.

the orders of the governor of the State, and upon their own charge for
transportation, provisions, ete., without expense to the State, and as
they are now desirous of returnmg home, seeing that there is but little
prospect of a collision of arms, the colonel commanding the forces of
the district has seen proper to order, and he does now order, that Oap-

tain Edwards have honorable leave to return to Apalachicola.

In taking leave of Uaptain Edwards and his company the colonel
commanding tenders to him and them his warm thanks for the zeal,
spirit, and promptness in marching to Pensacola, where their services
might have been of much value.

The colonel commanding will not fail to report this excellent conduct
of Captain Edwards and his company to his excellency the governor of
Florida.

Wi, H, CHASE,
Oolonel Commanding.

Captain RANDOLPH,

Commanding ' Naw y Yard.

PR

Letter from Iieutenant Renshaw, late U, 8, Navy, to the Becretary of the Navy, transmitting
matter for publication regarding surronder of Pensacola navy yard,

NAvY YARD, PENSACOLA, January 29, 1861.

Str: I respectfully beg leave that the enclosed letter may be filed in
the Navy Department.
Captain Samuel Barron, U. S, Navy, has kindly offered to take charge
of this communication to you.
Respecttully, your obedient servant,
F. B. RENSHAW
Late Lieutenant, U. S. Fawy Y.
Hon, I, Touory,
Secretary Navy, Washington, D, C.

[Enclosure.]
PENSACOLA NAVY YARD, January 29, 1861.

Sir: I have seen in your paper of the 23d instant a statement which
justice to myself, as well as the naval service of the United States,
which I had the honor of serving for thirty-three years, requires me
promptly to request to correct.

The statement referred to recites that the Navy Department bad
received the resignation of Commander Farrand, who was attached to
the Pensacola navy yard, and who was among those who in the name
of Florida demanded its surrender, and also that of Lieutenant Ren-
shaw, who gave the order to haul down the flag of the Union.

I submlb the following true record of the proceedings which attended
and resulted in the surrender of this navy yard to the authorities of
¢he State of Florida, and I rely upon your senso of right to do me jus-
tice by its publication in your columns,

On the 12th instant Flag-Officer Armstrong, then commandant of
the station, was informed that a commission appointed by the governor
of Florida, ’with a regiment of armed men, were at the navy-yard gate
demfmdmg the surrender of theplace. Flag-Officer Armstrong directed
‘Commander Farrand, the executive officer of the yard, to conduct the
commissioners to his office. The commissioners came accordin gly,
escorted by Commander Farrand. Colonel Lomax, the commanding
officer of the forces on the expedition, with his staff, Were then sent for
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and conducted to the flag-officer’s office by Uommander Farrand to
meet the commissioners, when they presented their credentials to Flag-
Officer Armstrong, informing him that they had already taken posses-
sion of the magazine, situated about a third of a mile distant from the
yard, and demanded the immediate surrender of the navy yard and the
public property therein.

The veteran commodore declared with deepemotion that althoughhe
had served under the flag of the United States in sunshine and in storm
for fify years, loving and cherishing it as he did his heart’s blood, he
would strike it now, together with the blue pennant, the insignia of his
present command, rather than fire a gun or raise hig sword against his
countrymen, especially in circumstances like the present, when he was
without means of defending his position and when an attempt to do so
would result in a useless loss of life and destruction of property. He
accordingly ordered the executive officer, Commander Farrand, to cause
the flag of the United States and the blue pennant to be hauled down.
The order was passed in accordance with usage in the naval service to
the senior lieutenant (myself), under whose direction the time-honored
flags were hauled down. The descent was witnessed by none in whose
heart the regret and grief at the fate of our long-beloved Union were
more deeply felt than in mine. I now became a prisoner on parole and
remained so for several days, when I resigned my commission in the
U. 8. Navy, which I hgve held as a lieuténant for twenty years, and
tendered my services to the sovereign State of Ilorida, with whogse
destiny, whether it be bright or adverse, I am fully identified.

I am, very réspectfully, your obedient servant,
: F. B. RENSHAW,
Late Lieutenant, U. S. Navy.

The Enpiror NEw YOrRK HERALD.

Lotter from the Beoretary of the Navy of the Confederate States to Hon, C. M. Conrad, M. C,,
rolative to the capture of Pensacola navy yard.

CONFEDERATE STATES OF AMERIOA,
Navy Department, Montgomery, May 13, 1861.

Sir: The Warrington navy yard was captured by the I'lorida forces
on the 12th day of January, 1861. '

Possession thereof passed at once to the State of Florida, and under
the authority of Colonel Chase, commanding the State forces, the
mechanics, laborers, and other employés of the yard were retained
and continued in their several places, employments, and labors.

These men, who have acted with fidelity and zeal in sustaining the
interests of the State and of this Confederacy, have not only lost all
their pay that was due from the United States for the previous month,
but they have received nothing, I am informed, for their services after
the surrender of the yard and up to the 25th day of March, when this
Department detailed its officers to it.

1 can not doubt that justice, wisdom, and policy dictate that these
men should be paid, and I therefore submit the facts, and also ax esti-
mate of the amount due, $12,857.22. -

Very respectfully; your obedient servant
S. R. MALLORY
Secretary of the Navy.
Hon, CHARLES M, CONRAD,
Ohairman Naval Convmitiee.
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[Enclosure.]

Estimate of funds required 1o pay the oficers, clerks, mechanics, laborers, watchmen, and
other employés at the navy yard, Warrington, from the 12th day of January, 1861, to
the 24th day of March, 1861, inclusive,

For the pay of officers ... ... e e e taames eacmaraeseaetanaceaaaaeaaaan $2, 768. 74
Clerks, mechanics, laborers, watchmen, and other employés............... 10,103, 48
Total .......ceo.n.. et cmeseaeeeeeaesecaseaienesceensareaannien 12,857, 22

[Telegram.]

PorrTsMoutrH, N. H., January 14, 1861,
January 13.~—Could not sail yesterday. Expect to sail to-day.
J. GLYNN,
Hon. IsAA0 TOUCEY,
[ Secretary of the Nawvy.]

Report of Captain Glynn, U. 8. Navy, commanding U. S, ship Macedonian,
of the departure of that vessel for sea in obedience to Departments
orders.

' U. S. Surp MACEDONIAN, January 13, 1861,

SIr: The Macedonian is at sea before she is all ready, but in obedi-
ence to your repeated telegraphic orders. It is due to the officers and
crew to say that they have been exposed to a very intense degree of
cold within a few days and have labored cheerfully under disadvan-
tagen. Repeatedly during this time the mechanics in the yard have
not been mustered in consequence of the cold. The thermometer was
9° below zero this morning. A number of the men are frost-bitten,
and one more, chilled by the cold, was required to be helped down from
aloft,

The ship is in confusion fore and aft, and were it necessary for her to
go into action in this condition she might be captured by a vessel of
- half her force. We have not been able to do much more than quarter
the men. The necessity is presumed to be urgent, and no effort shall
be withheld to execute my orders in the shortest time; but the facts as
stated above I feel should be placed upon the records of the Navy
Department in event of any untoward conseguences.

There has been no time within the last week that the pilot would
have taken the ship to sen before to-day.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAMES GLYNN,
Captain..
Hon, IsaAc ToUCEY,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D, C.

Letter from Commander Walke, U. 8. Navy, commanding U. S. ship Sup-
ply, to Paymaster Dunn, U. 8. Navy, of that vessel, regarding rations.

U. S. STORESHIP SUPPLY,
Navy Yard, Warrington, January 14, 1861.

Sir: Below you will find a list of the number of marines, ordinary
men, warrant officers and their families, and mechanics from this navy
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yard to whom you will issue the regular navy ration from this date
until such time as they may be landed from this ship at New York or
some other Northern port, viz:

James [M.] Cooper, gunner, U, S, Navy, wife and 5 children,
Robert Dixon, boatswain, U, S. Navy, wife and 2 ehildren.

Ladies and children. .. ... oooiie it i i e 14
Mechanics employed inthemnavy yard ... .. .. .. ... il 11
Warrant officers .................. e ha s et e e e e . 4
Men sent from naval hospital, Warrington ............ ... .. .................. 9
Ordinary men from navy yard, Warrington ... ... .. ... .iiiiiiiiiaennnnnn. 27
Marines from the navy-yard barracks, Warrington. ...............ceoiiveniann. 34

B0 99

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
HENRY WALKE,
Commander, U. S. Navy.
E. W. DUNN,
Paymaster, U, 8. Navy, U. S. Ship Supply.

Report of Commander Walke, U, S. Navy, commanding U. 8. ship Supply,
transmitting letter jfrom the commanding officer of Fort Pickens to
Oolonel Chase, commissioner for State of Florida, regarding hostilities.

NAvVY YARD, NEW YORK, February 4, 1861.
Sir: The following is a copy of a letter sent by the officers in com-
mand of Fort Pickens to Colonel William H. Chase, commissioner for the
State of IMlorida, after consultation with the Government officers in the
harbor of Pensacola.
I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
HENRY WALKE,
Commander, U. S. Navy.
Homn, IsAAc ToUcCEY,
Secretary of the Navy.

[Enclosure.]

ForT PICKENS, PENSACOLA HARBOR, January 16, 1861,

Sir: Under the orders we now have from the War Department we
have decided, after consultation with the Government officers in the
harbor, that it is our duty to hold our position until such a force is
brought against us as to render it impossible to defend it, or until the
political condition of the country is such as to induce us to surrender
the public property in our keeping to such authorities as may be dele-
gated legally to receive it.

We deprecate as much as you or any individual ean the present con-
dition of affairs or the shedding of the blood of our brethren., In regard
to this matter, however, we must consider you the aggressors, and if
blood should be shed that you are responsible therefor.

By order of A. J. Slemmer, first lieutenant, First Artillery, com-
manding:

J. H. GILMAN,
Second Idieutenant, I'irst Artillery, Acting Post Adjutant of' Post,

Colonel WiLLiAM H. CHASE,
Commissioner for the State of Florida,
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Report of Commander Walke, U, 8, Navy, commanding U. S, ship Supply,
of intended departure of that vessel for New York, carrying paroled
men from Pensacola navy yard,

U. 8, SrorEsaIir SuprprLy,
O Warrington Navy Yard, January 16, 1861,

Sir: The U. 8. navy yard at Warrington, Fla., having surrendered to
the authorities of the State on the 12th January, I put to sea in tow
of the steamer Wyandotte, and on the day following, as this ship had
not received her cargo, I returned with the same under a flag ot truce
for the purpose of transporting the marines, seamen, and officers (on
parole) who were destitute of pay or provisions to the North, from
whence they had been employed. They had not received their pay for
two or three months, and were entirely without means, I have taken
on board all who have a claim on the Government for its protection,
and intend to sail this morning for New York.

I leave the Wyandotte here under orders from Commandant Arm-
strong to render all the assistance he can to the United States troops
that are now occupying Fort Pickens, ¢“until the fort is surrendered.”
I shall transmit to you a descriptive list of the passengers, their em-
ployments, ete.

Trusting that my action in this matter may meet your approbation,
I have the honor to be, sir, most respectfully, your obedient servant,

: H, WALKRE,

Oommander, U. 8. Navy.

Hon, IsAA0 ToUOEY,
Seorctary of the Navy, Washington, D. C.

Order of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U, S. Navy, commanding Home Squad-
ron, to commanding officers of U. S, ships Sabine and St. Louis.

- FrAGsHIp POWIIATAN,
Off Sacrificios, January 18, 1861.
Sir: You will please prepare your ship for sea, as I havo orders* for
you to proceed to Pensacola and report to the honorable the Secretary
of the Navy.
Inform me when you are ready and I will give you your final orders,
Very respectfully,
G, J. PENDERGRAST,
Llag-Officer, Home Squadron,
Captain ADAMS, Sabine.
Captain Poor, 8t Lowis.

Order of the Secretary of the Navy to Lieutenant Magitt, U. 8. Navy,
commanding U, 8. S. Orusader.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 18, 1861,

S1R: On the receipt hereof you will proceed, with the Crusader under
your command, immediately to the navy yard at New York.
I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
I. Tovory,
‘ [ Secretary of the Navy.)
Lieuntenant Jonn N, MAFrICr,
Oommanding U, 8, S, Crusader, Key West, Fla.

-y

* See pp. 6, 9.



OPLERATIONS IN THE GUL¥ 0OI' MEXI(O. 6b

Order of the Secretary of the Navy to Licutenant Berryman, U, S. Navy,
commanding U, S, 8. Wyandotte.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 18, 1861,

Sir: On the recelpt hereof you will proceed, with the Wyandotte under
your command, immediately to the navy yard at New York,
I am, xespeotfully, your obedient servant,
L. Touony,
[Secrctary of the Navy.]
Lieutenant O, II. BERRYMAN,
Commanding U. 8. 8. Wyandotte, I{ey West, Fla.

Order of the Secretary of the Navy to Lieutenant Craven, U. S. Navy,
commanding U, S. 8. Mohawk.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 18, 1861.

Sir: On the receipt hereof you will proceed, wmh the Mohawk under
your command, immediately to the navy yard at Now York.
I am, reqpectmlly, your obedient servant,
I. Touory,
[Secrctary of the Newy.)
Lieutenant T. A, M, CRAVEN,
Commanding U, 8. 8. Mohawk, Key H’cst Fla.

Report of Lieutenant Oraven, U. S. Navy, commanding U. 8. 8. Mohwwk,
regarding means of communication, and requesting ordnance stores.

U. 8. S. MOHAWK,
Key West, January 20, 1861.

Sir: 1 have the honor to report that the distracted state of affairs
here has constrained me to remain at this place to aid in the defense of
Irort Taylor against a threatened attack.,

1 have received no mail from the North for one month, and would call
your attention to the fact that regular commmunication is cut off; and I
would advise that all orders from the Department be addressed to mo
through our consul at Havana,

By a vessel smhng at short notice I send this.letter to Cuba to advise
you that I am in want of guns and ammunition, and if you approve of
my suggestion will you instruct the bureau to forward to moe by the first
vessel from New York tho following-named stores: Two 32-pounders of
33 ewt., an addition to my battery which the ship will easily carry; 100
rounds ot amnmunition for the above guns; 100 rounds for 24-pounder
howitzer; 50 rounds for 12-pounder howitzer.

1 p].u,e these matters before you under the knowledge that the Gov-
ernment has sent troops to the Tortugas, and the orders of the com-
mmndm,g., officer have been exhibited to me.

I am happy to state that with one exception tho officers of my ship
are loyal and. true to the Federal Government.
I a,m, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
T, Avas, Ok, AVEN,
Lieutenant, 00mwmzdmg
Hon, IsAro Touory,
Secrctary of the Navy, Washington.

N W R—VOL 4——0
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Report of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U, 8. Navy, commanding Home
Squadron, regarding movements of* U, S, ships Sabine and 8t, Louis.

FLAGsmir POWIHIATAN,
OfF Sacrificios, January 21, 1861,

Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your orders,
under date of the 24th of December and 9th of January, directing me
to send the Sabine and St Louis to Pensacola.

In obedience to those orders the Sabine and St. Louis will sail from
this place in a day or two, or as soon ag money can be procured to pay
their bills,

I send this letter by a Spanish vessel of war, by the way of Havana,
and a duplicate by the Tennessce,

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, sir, your obedient servant,

- (&, J. PENDERGRAST,
lag-Officer, Commander in Chief Home Squadron.

Hon. Tsaac¢ ToucEY,
Seceretary of the Nawvy.

Ovder of the Secretary of the Navy to Captain Barron, U. 8. Navy, to
proceed to Fortress Monroe and Pensacola as bearer of dispatehes.,

Confidential. ] NAVY DEPARTMENT, Janvary 21, 1561,

Sir: Herewith you will receive a confidential dispateh addressed to
Captain William S, Walker, commanding the U, 8. steam sloop Brook-
lyn, with which you will proceed to Old Point Comfort and deliver to
that ofticer,

You will afterwards proceed immediately to Pensacola, I'la., and on
your arrival there will put yourself in communication with the com-
manding officer of Fort Pickens.

You will also take such steps as you may deem best to communicate
with any vessels of the U, S. Navy that may be coming to the navy
yard at Pensacola, and warn them not to enter the harbor, but to
remain outside until the Department may otherwiso direct.

The Navy agent at Washington will be authorized to advance you
$200 for traveling expenses,

You will also take charge of the dispatches that the Secretary of
War may have to send to the commanding officer at IFortress Monroe
and deliver them on your arrival at Old Point Comfort.

I am, very respectfully, your pbedient servant,
I. Touory,
[ Secretary of the Navy.)

Captain SAMUEL BARRON, U, S. Navy,

Washington.

P. S.—After comploting this duty yon will return to Washington,

[ ¥nclosure,)
Confidential.) NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 21, 1861,

Sir: You will immediately proceed, with the U, 8. steam sloop Brook-
lyn under your command, to Ifortress Monroe, and there receive on
board that vessel such United States troops as the War Department
may designate, and convey them to Fort Pickens, in Florida. You will
also receive on board, if practicable, the guns and gun carriages which



OPERATIONS IN THE GULF OF MEXICO. 67

the commanding officer at Tortress Monroe has been directed to send
to Fort Jefferson at Tortugas, and land them at that place on route to
Fort Pickens, ‘ ‘ :

You will not enter the harbor of Pensacola, and will land the troops
outside, as near I'ort Pickens as may be practicable, and then remain
in that vicinity for the purpose of cooperating in the defense of the fort
in case of an attack upon it. ,

You will remain off Pensacola harbor until otherwise instructed by
the Department, and act strictly on the defensive,. .

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant, ;
I. Tovony,
[Secretary of the Navy.]

Captain WILLIAM S, WALKER, .

Commanding U, 8. 8. Brooklyn, IHampton Roads, Va.

Order of the Sceretary of the Navy to commanding officers of United States
vessels off Pensacola, Fla., regarding defense of Fort Pickens.

NAvVY DEPARTMENT, January 21, 1861,

Sir: After receiving this you will not enter Pensacola harbor, but
remain outside and cooperate in defending IFort Pickens.in case of an
assault upon it, and will at all times act strictly on the defensive.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
[I. ToucEY
Secretary of the N, avy.]

Captain JAMES GLYNN,

Commanding U. 8. Ship Macedonian, off Pensacola, Fla.

Captain HENRY A. ADAMS,

Commanding U. 8. Ship Sabine, off Pensacola, Fla,

Commander OHARLES I1, POOR,

Commanding U, S, Sloop of War St. Louis, Home Squadron, Florida.

Report of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U, S. Navy, commanding Home
Squadron, regarding means of communication with the Department,

FrAGgsHIP POWHATAN,
. OFF Sacrificios, January 21, 1861,
S1r: I beg loave to state to the Department that I apprehend diffi-
culties in regard to the dispatches of the Department reaching me by
the way of New Orleans and my dispatches reaching the Department,
I would thereforo respectfully recommend that duplicates be sent by
the way of Havana,in care of the American consul-general, Mr. Helm,
who will sce them forwarded. I would also state to the Department
that I may find it necessary to move the squadron to Havana, and will
there await orders, if I do not succeed in procuring money here, I will,
however, leave a small vessel at this port for the present. The Sabine
and St, Louwis will leave this portin a fow days for Pensacola, but will
uot enter that port unless they can do so with safety,
I have tho honor to be, very respectfully, sir, your obediont servant,
G. 7. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Oficer, Commander in Chicf Home Squadron,

Hon, I8AAG TOUOEY,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D, O.
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Report of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U. 8. Navy, commanding Home
Squadron, regarding condition of affairs in Mewico.

FrAGsHIP POWHATAN,
OfF Sacrificios, January 21, 1861,

SR I have the honor to inform the Department that the difficultics
existing between the Constitutional party and the Ohurch party have
terminated by the success of the Liberals, ,

On the 22d of December Miramon was completely routed by the Con-
stitutionalists, and on Ohristmas day the Liberal army etitered the
capital. President Juarez has returned to the City of Mexico and
taken charge of the Government. It is generally thought here that
the war is over. n ;

I would have apprised you of this intelligence before, but have had
no opportunity of communicating with the Department.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, sir, your obedient servant,

G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer Home Squadron.
Hon, IsAAc ToucBy, -

Secretary of the Navy.

Eeport of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U. S. Navy, commanding Home
Squadron, of the efficient condition of his command.

FLAGSHIP POWHATAN,
Off Sacrificios, January 21, 1861,
Sir: Herewith you will find enclosed the reports of an inspection
held by me on the vessels of the IHome Squadron; also of boat exercise.
I take great pleasure in stating to the Department, that I found the
vessels of this squadron in & most satisfactory state of discipline and
efficiency, as you will learn from the accompanying reports.
I beg leave also to inform the Department that I appointed Captain
Mercer, of the Powhatan, inspector of ordnance for the occasion, and
Lieutenant George Brown assistant inspector. ‘
Very respectfully, I have thehonor to be, sir, your obedient servant,
G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer, Commander in Chief Home Squadron.

Hon, IsAAc TovoEyY,
Secretary of the Navy.

Report of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U. S. Navy, commanding Home .
Squadron, regarding transfer of his flag from the U. 8, 8. Powhatan to
the U, 8. ship Qumberland.

FrAGsImir POWIHATAN,
Of Sacrificios, January 21, 1861,
Sir: I desire to inform the Department that I have not as yet trans-
ferred my flag to the Qumberland, Owing to a case of smallpox having
TMade its appearance on board of that vessel shortly after her arrival,
I was compelled to quarantine her.
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I am glad to inform the Department that, the disease having entirely
disappeared, I will hoist my flag on board in a fow days,
I have the honor te be, very respectfully, sir, your obedient servant,
G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer, Commander in Chief Home Squadron.

Hon, IsAAc Touory
Secretary of the j\’cwg/, Washington, .. O.

Report of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U, 8. Nawvy, commanding Home
Squadron, regarding U, S, vessels Sabine and St. Louis,

FLAGSHIP POWHATAN,
Of Sacrificios, January 22, 1861.

Sir: In the event of the captains of the Sabine and St Lowis not
being able to enter Pensacola, they will be directed to proceed to
Hampton Roads, Va., or act at their own discretion. :

I have the honor to be, sir, very respectiully, your obedient servant,

G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag- Officer, Commander in Ohief Home Squadron.

Hon, IsAA0 TOUOEY ‘ .
Secretary of the f\hwy, Washington, D, C.

Report of Lieutenant Oraven, U, 8. Navy, commanding U. S, 8. Mohawk,
regarding the threatening aspect of affairs at Fort Jefferson, Fla.

U. 8. 8. MOHAWK,
Tortugas, Januwary 23, 1861,

Sir: I have the honor to inform you that no official letters came by
the last mail to Key West, and I must confess a natural anxiety for
instructions from the Department.

In consequence of a threatened attack on IFort Jefferson by 500 men
from New Orleans, I came to this place on Monday. So far the expe-
dition has not been able to procure a suitable steamer. Meanwhile six
heavy guns have been brought from Key West and are now being
landed. As soon as they are mounted in the fort I will return to Key
West. The people of that city are very apprehensive of an invasion
from the mainland, and I am persuaded that it the (Rovernment will
send a sloop of war for their protection the town will stand by the
Union. Quite & number of Bahama families have left the place; others
are preparing to leave.

Under the threatening aspect of affairs, I purpose removing the naval
provisions and clothing into IFort Taylor for safe-keeping, and hope you
will approve of the measure. I have taken on board of my vessel all
that can be stowed.

I regret to state that the boiler of this ship is becoming so thin and
weak as to bo unsafe with & pressure exceeding 10 pounds, and I have
recently been delayed by three weeks of repairs; and if any service is
expected of the Mokawk she ought immediately to be provided with
a new boiler, to give all on board that feeling of confidence in the ship
which is o necessary ingredient to successful enterprise,

I wrote you on the 20th, requesting two additional 32-pounder guns
of 833 cwti; the steamer will carry them with ease, I also asked for
ammunition, that I may be prepared for whatever emergency may arise,
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1 need not assure you, sir, that my heart and life are at the disposal
of my country and its (}ovornment.
I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
T. AUGS CRAVEN,
Licutenant, Commanding.
ITon. IsAA0 Touory,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington.

Report of Flag-Officcr Pendergrast, U. S. Navy, commanding Home
Squadron, transmitting copies of orders to commanding officers of U. S,
vessels Sabine and St Louis,

JFrLAGsHir POWHATAN,
Off Sacrificios, Junuary 28, 1861,
Sir: nclosed you will find my order to Captain Adams, of the Sabine,
and Commander Poor, of the St. Louis. 'They will both sail to-day for
Pensacola.
I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Llag-Oflicer, Commander in Chief llome Sqmulron.

Hon, Isaac Touory, _
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D. 0.

[Enclosure.]

FLAGSIIP POWHATAN,
O’ Sacrificios, January 28, 1861,

Sir: I have received your letter reporting your ship ready for sea.
You will proceed to Pensacola in the [Sabine| |St Louis], and on your
arrival there report in writing to the honorable the Sceretary of the
Navy, and await further orders, If you find any difficulty in entering
or leaving the port of Pensacola you will proceed to Ilampton Roads,
Va., and there report for further orders to the Department, or act at
your own discretion.

Very respectfully,
(i, J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Oficer, Commander in Chief Home Squadron.
Captain AnAnms,
Sabine.
Commander Poor,
St. Louis,

e R o e

Order of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U, 8. Navy, commanding Home
Squadron, to T/wutonant Mwrray, U é’ Navy.

FLAGSIIP POWIIATAN,
Of Sacrificios, January 28, 1861.
Sir: You will report immediately to Commander Ila/,zu‘d as his
rvelief in the command of' the U, S, S, Pocahontas.
Very respectfully, ,
G. J, PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer, Commanding ome Squadron.

Lieutenant ArLnx. MURRAY,
OCumberland,
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Order of Play-Officer Pendergrast, U. 8. Navy, commanding Home
Squadron, to Licutenant Murray, U. 8. Navy, commanding U, S. 8.
Pocahontas.

FLAGSHIP POWIATAN,
OfF Sacrificios, January 29, 1861,
Sir: Please have the Pocahontas kept in readiness for sea at short
notice. Keep her bills paid up and water filled.
Very respectfully,
. .G. J. PENDERGRAST,
I'lag-Officer Home Squadron,

Lieutenant Commanding A, MURRAY,
U. 8. 8. Pocahontas.

-~

Report of Captain Barron, U. 8. Navy, of his arrival at Pensacola and the
condition of affuirs there.

NAVY YARD, WARRINGTON, IFLA., January 29, 1861,

Sir: I have the honor to inform you of my arrival in Pensacola on
Sunday night. At 11 o’clock Monday morning I had an interview with
Colonel Chase, commanding the forces in this district, who has afforded
me every necessary [acility for communicating with the vessels that
may appear oft the harbor, and also with Fort Pickens. -

Neither of the vessels for which I have dispatchies has yet appeared.
I find the Wyandotte, Lieutenant Commanding Berryman, here cooper-
ating with IFort Pickens under an order from Commodore Armstrong,
I have directed him to remain oft this harbor, as the most ready and
certain means for carrying out my orders from you. 1 am happy to
inform you that the officers and others at Fort Pickens receive their
mail regularly from this post-ofiice, and are allowed to obtain fresh pro-
visions, ete., from the town and neighborhood.

1 am reliably informed that Governor Perry, of thiy State, has issued
ovders to prevent any reenforcoments being thrown into Iort Pickens.
May I be permitted to suggest that if orders to that eftect have been
given they may be suspended; if they be so, and made contingent upon
any absolute necessity for relief to the fort, the Brooklyn (if reenforce-
ments be on board her) can lay off and on the harbdr until necessity for
landing shall occur, and thus stave off all pretense for collision. The
objeet of my visit here, to warn vessels not to enter the harbor and to
avoid collision, seems to have given great satistaction and comfort to all
parties. The troops in this district, numbering about 1,500, are, L under-
stand, anxious to make an assault, but have thus far been successfully
restrained by Colonel Chase, Should, hoivever, reenforcoments be
landed, the impatience of these men, combined with the expressed
determination of (Governor Perry, may prove too strong for even Colonel
Chase’s influence,  Communications to me either by letter or telegraph
will probably come safely if* directed to navy yard, Warrington, Ila,

I am, sir, most respectfully, your obedient servant,
S. BARRON,
Captain, U, 8. Navy.
Hon, IsaAc Touvcny,
Sceretary of the Navy.
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Letter from Flaa Officer Pendergrast, U. 8. Navy, commandmg Home
Squam on, to the U. S. consul at Vera Or uz, transmitting letter to the
U. 8. miwister to Mexico,

FLAGSHIP POWHATAN,
Off Saorificios, Janvary 29, 1861.

SIR: Your favor under date of J anuary 28 has been received and
contents noted with much pleasure, for which accept my thanks.

The boats of the Sp.mlsh steamers have been going backward and
forward the whole morning, I presume in connection with the affairs of
the papal nuncio and the Spanish minister,

I enclose to you a letter to the Ilon. J. B. Weller, U. S. minister to
Mexil}co, which I beg you will forward at the first convenient oppor-
tunity,

Please inform me if you have heard of the arrival of Mr. Weller.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
G.J PENDERGRAST,
Flag Officer, Commander in Chief Home Squadron.

Colonel J. T. PICKETT,
U. 8. Oonsul, Vera Cruz.

{Enolosure.)

FLAGSHIP POWHATAN,
Of Sacrificios, January 29, 1861.

Sik: I have this moment heard unofficially of your arrival at the
City of Mexico.

I have been sent here by the Department with orders to protect the
citizens of the United States, and in certain contingencies, if the min-
ister in Mexico recommends it, for me to land a force for that purpose.

I'have no orders to wmhdmw the vessels from this place, but I am
under the necessity of informing you that I will feel it to be my duty
to do so if* I can not procure money to support the squadron,

It is my intention to take this ship and the Cumberland to Havana
and there await further orders from the Navy Department, I will leave
the Pocahontas oftf Vera Cruz for the present,.

I would be glad to hear from you at your earliest convenience, with
any suggestions that you may deem proper in regard to the movements
of the squadron under my command.

The present unhappy state of affairs at home places me in great
embarrassment, but I certainly will not remain here longer than money
can be procmed to pay for supplies for the ships. A

If at Havana I fail to get my drafts on the Government cashed, I will
without orders proceed to Hampton Roads, Va., or New York, and
place the ships in the hands of the Secretary of the Navy.

Ry order of the Department T have this day dispatched the Sabine
and St Louis to the United States.

I am, very respectfully, &1[‘, your obedient servant,
G. J. PENDERGRAST
Flag Officer Home ;‘a‘quadwon.
IIon, J. B. WELLER,
U. 8. Mmzstcr, Oity of Meuxico.



OPERATIONS IN THE GULF OF MEXICO. 73

Report of the Oolonel Commandant Marine Corps, transmitting for the action
of the Department the parole of Caplain Watson, U. 8. Marine Qorps.

HBEADQUARTERS MARINE CORPS,
Washington, January 29, 1861.

Sir: I enclose to the Dopartment a copy of a letter from O aptain
Watson, reporting his arrival in Brooklyn, and en(losmg a copy of his
parole of honor, As I am not aware of the United States being at
war with Florida, I report the facts for the action of the ])epurtment.

I am, sir, very respectfully, yours,
JNO. HARRIS,
Colonel Commandant,
ITlon. IsaAc Tovuony,
Secretary of the Navy.

{Enclosure.]

MARINE BARRACKS,
Navy Yard, New York, January 28, 1861

Sir: I have the honor to report my arnvwl hero from Pens'wola, and
that the marine guard lately attached to the navy yard at Warrington
left there on the 16th instant in the U. 8, ship Supply, bound to this port.

I shall await here your further orders. I herewith enclose a copy of
parole,

I am, sir, respectfully, your obedient servant,
, J. WATSON,
Captain, U. 8. Marine Oorps.
Hou. JouN HARRIS,
Oommandant Mari ine Corps, Washington.

[Subenclosuro.]

PENsAcoLA NAVY YARD, January 16, 1861,

Oaptain Josiah Watson, of the U, S, Marine Corps, having given his
parole of honor not to bear arms against the State of Florida, has per-
mission to leave this place with his family and private property without

hindrance or molestation. ‘
V. M. RANDOLPH,

Captain, Commanding Navy Yard.

Order from the Secretary of the Nawvy to Oaptain Barrow, U. S. Navy,
transmitting copy of instructions to commanding officers off Pensacola,
Pla,

NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 30, 1861.

Sir: I transmit herewith for your information a copy of a telegraphic
dispatel signed jointly by the Secretary of War and the Secretary of
the Navy. Should this dispatch have failed to reach the officers to
whom it is addressed, you will furnish them with a copy of it for their
guidance.

I am, respectfully, your obediont servant,
: 1. Touory,
[Sceretary of the Navy.]
Captdin SAMUEL BARRON, U, 8. Navy,
Pensacola, K.
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WASHINGTON, January 29, 1861,

In consequence of the assurances received from Mr, Mallory in a tele-
gram of yesterday to Messrs, Slidell, Hunter, and Bigler (with a request
that it should be laid before the l’residents that Fort Pickens would
not be assaulted, and an offer of such an assurance to the same effect
from Colonel Chase for the purpose of avoiding a hostile collision, upon
receiving satisfactory assurances from Mr. Mallory and Oolonel Chase
that Fort Pickens will not be attacked you are instructed not to land
the company on board the Brooklyn unless said fort shall be attacked
or preparations shall be made for its attack. The provisions necessary
for the supply of the fort you will land. The Brooklyn and the other
vessels of ‘war on the station will remain, and you will exercise the
utmost vigilance and be prepared at a moment’s notice to land the
company at Fort Pickens, and you and they will instantly repel any
attack on the fort.

The President yesterday sent a special message to Congress com-
mending the Virginia resolutions of compromise. The commissioners
of different States are to meet here on Monday, the 4th February, and
it is important that during their session o collision of arms should be
avoided, unless an attack should be made, or there should be prepara-
tion for such an attack. In either ovent the Brooklyn and the other
vessels will act promptly.

Your right and that of the other officers in command at Pensacola
freely to communicate with the Government by special messenger, and
its right in the same manner to communicate with yourselves and
them, will remain intact as the basis on which the present instruction
is given,

J. Hownr,
Secretary of War,
I, Toucory,
Secretary of the Navy.

James Glynn, Commanding the Macedonian; Captain W, S, Walker,
Commanding the Brooklyn, and other Naval Officers in
Command, and Lieutenant Adam J. Slemmer, First Regi-
ment Artillery, U. 8. Army, Commanding Fort Pickens,
Pensacola, Fla.

Batract from instructions of the Secrctary of War to Licutenant Slemmer,
U. 8. Army, commanding Fort ickens, to act on the defensive,

WAR DEPARTMENT, January 29, 1861

Sir: " * * * You are instructed to act strictly on the defensive
and avoid ag far as possible a collision with the hostile troops concen-
trated at Pensacola and the adjacent forts, Should you, however, be
attacked, you will make the best defense of which your position and
resources are capable, The naval forces of the United States now at
Pensacola, or which may hereafter arrive there, it is expected will cor-
dially cooperate with youw. - You will observe that it is oxpressly
ftinderstood as the basis of the instructions forwarded to you that the
communieation between yourselt and others in command at Pensacola
and the Government is to be kept open and unobstructed; you will
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avail yourself of this provision and report by special messenger to the
Department, * * *
Respectfully, your obedient servant,
J. HoLw,
Seeretary of War,
Uieutenant ADAM J. SLEMMER,
First Regiment of Artillery, U. 8. Army, Comdy. Fort Pickens.

Order of the Secretary of the Navy to Licutenant Berryman, U. 8. Navy,
commandwng U. 8. 8. Wyandotte, to remain off Pensacola, Fla.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 30, 1861,

Sir: Should any of the orders* of the 18th instant, addressed to
you in triplicate and sent to Key West, Havana, and Oienfuegos,
directing you to proceed to New York, reach you, you will consider
them revoked and remain oft Pensacola, Fla., until further orders. .

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
I. Touory,
[ Seeretary of the Navy.]

Uieutenant O. H. BERRYMAN,

Commanding U. 8. 8. Wyandotte, off Warrington, Fla.

Order of the Seeretary of the Navy to ILieutenant Craven, U. S. Navy
commanding U. S. 8. Mohawk, to remain in Florida waters,

NAVY DEPARTMENT, January 31, 1861,

Sir: I have received your communicationst of the 20th and 23d
instant, Your course as therein indicated meets with the approval of
the Department, and it is much gratified at your zeal in adopting
measures for the protection of the public property and at your spirit
of loyalty to the Government. The additional guns and ordnance
stores desired will be sent from New York to Key West per steamer.

On the 18th instant the Department sent duplicate orders to you at
Key West and Havana to proceed with the Mohawk to New York,
You will consider these as revoked and will remain in the vicinity of
Key West and Tortugas for the purpose of cooperating in the protection
of public property.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
1. Toucry,
[ Secretary of the Navy.]

Lieutenant T, A, M. OCRAVEN

Commanding U. 8. 8. .Moliawk, Iley West, Fla,

Eeport of Oaptain Glynn, U, S. Navy, commanding U. 8. ship Macedonian,
of arrival at Tortugas Keys, and intended departure for Pensacola for
protection of public property.

U, S. Suir MAOEDONIAN,
Tortugas Keys, Fla., February 1, 1861,
SIr: I arrived here yesterday, and expect to sail to-morrow morning
early. ;
The delay has been opportune for putting the ship in a better condi-
tion to repel assault, if necessary, than we have been able to do before.

*See p. 65. 1 See pp. 65, 69,
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I hear of many changes that have taken place at Pensacola, prob-
ably since the order of the Department to me by telegram dated 5th
January, which have led me to reflect more upon that order than would
be necessary under ordinary circumstances. But there seems to be one
course only to pursue—to go there and protect the public property,
and that I will do if possible. ,

Great inconvenience is felt from the want of public funds in the ship.
Had it not been for the accommodation of Captain M. C. Meigs, Engi-
neer Oorps, on duty here, we might have been obliged to pay the pilot-
age in with the provisions or stores of the ship.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
~ JAMES GLYNN,
Captain.
Hon. Isaac TouoEy,
Secretary of the Navy.

Instructions of the Secretary of the Nawvy to Flag-Officer Pendergrast,
U. 8. Navy, commanding Home Squadron, regarding movements of
United States vessels.

NAVY DEPARIMENT, February 2, 1861.
Sir: On the receipt hereof you will direct the Powhatan to proceed
to New York and the Pocahontas to Hampton Roads, immediately.

You will proceed with your flagship, the Cumberland, to Hampton

Roads also, and there await the further instructions of the Department.
The Macedonian, which sailed from Portsmouth, N, H., on the 13th of

January for Pensacola, will be ordered by the Department to repair to

Vera Cruz.,

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
|[I. TovoEy,
- Secretary of the Navy.)
JFlag-Officer G, J. PENDERGRAST,
Commanding Home Squadron, Vera Cruz, Mexico.

Report of Captain Glynn, U. 8. Navy, commanding U. 8. ship Macedonian.

U. S, Suip MACGEDONIAN,
T ; Tortugas IKeys, Fla., February 2, 1861,
Sir: The Brooklyn has just arrived, and I havereceived your order of
21st January. I am now underway, bound to the offing of Pensacola.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAMES GLYNN,
Captain.
Hon. IsAAc ToOUOEY,
Secrctary of the Navy, Washington, D, O.

Report of Oaptain Barron, U, 8. Navy, transmitting letter from Colonel
Ohase, commanding forces of Florida, regarding cessation of hostilities.

NAvVY YARD, WARRINGTON, F'LA., February 2, 1861,

“Sir: Herewith I have the honor to send you a copy of letters from
Oolonel Ohase, commanding the forces in this district, and the Hon.
8. R. Mallory. I have delivered a copy to Lieutenant Slemmer, com-
manding TFort Pickens, and shall deliver the originals of these and the
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telegram from the honorables the Secretaries of the War and Navy
Departments to the sonior naval officer that may arrive here. Neither
of the vessels for whom I have dispatches has yet arrived. 1 under-
stand that some of the forces which have assembled here from other
States will in a short time return to their homes, in consequence of
the armistice established by these papers. 1 am inclined to believe
that my mission here has been productive of much comfort and has
provented a collision of arms, Colonel Chase and Captain Randolph
have extended to me every facility foir executing my orders, and are
uniformly courteous and kind, The Wyandotte is now at the wharf
taking in coal and water, upon my representation that I wish to use
her as a dispatch vessel for communicating with vessels that may
appear off the harbor, and other purposes.

I wrote you the day after my arrival here a letter containing sugges-
tions which have been anticipated by your telegram, 1 shall remain
here until a senior officer to myself shall arrive. I think the vessels
expected off this harbor may be looked for in the course of three or
four days. .

I have the honor to be, sir, most respectfully, your obedient servant,

- S. BARRON,
Captain, U, 8, Navy.
Hon, IsAA0 TOUOEY,
Seoretary of the Navy, Washington, D. O.

[Enclosure.}
HEADQUARTERS PENSACOLA DISTRIOT, January 29, 1861,

Sir: I enclose herewith a note, relating to a dispatch sent to him
from Washington, from the Hon. S, R, Mallory.

This dispateli* I also enclose, it having been delivered to me by Mr.
Mallory for that purpose. These documents speak for themselves, and
I would request that you would communicate them *to the officers, or
any one of them, to whom the telegram is addressed, and also my
assurance that, on condition that the companies on board the U. S. S.
Brooklyn intended to reenforce Fort Pickens shall not be landed, Fort
Pickens shall not be attacked and the preparations for an attack shall
be discontinued. ,

Communications by special messenger betiween the army and the
naval officers on the Pensacola station and the U. 8. Government, to
and from, shall not be obstructed in any way.

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
' Wi, H. OHASE,
Oolonel, Commanding Forces of Florida.

Oaptain SAMUEL BARRON, U, 8. Navy,
Navy Yard, Warrington.
[Subenclosure.}
PENSACOLA, January 29, 1861,
Being assured myself that no attack will be made on Fort Pickens
unless an attempt to reenforce its garrison shall first be made, I give
this assurance to the officers named in the digpateh to which Qolonel
Chase refers, together with the further assurance of the discontinuance
of Oolonel Chase’s proparations for such attack, and of the unrestricted
communication to which he also refers. ‘
8, R. MALLORY.

*8ee p, 4.
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Order of the Secretary of the Navy to Commander Sands, U, S. Navy, to
proceed to Pensacola, Fla., as bearer of enclosed éispatoh.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, February 4, 1861,

Sir: Herewith enclosed is a dispatch from the Department to Cap-
tain James Glynn, commanding the U. S, S[hip | Macedoniun, off Pensacola
Harbor. You will proceed with it to Pensacola and deliver it to Cap-
tain Glynn, or in his absence to Oaptain Samuel Barron or the senior
commanding officer of the U+ S, Navy present, after which you will
return to Washington, The Navy agent at Waghington has been author-
ized to advance you $150 on account of traveling expenses,

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
I. Touory
. [ Secretary of the l\”avy.]
‘Commander B, F. SANDS, U, 8. Navy,
Washington.

[Enclosure.)

NAVY DEPARTMENT, February 4, 1861,

Sir: On the appearance of either the Sabine or St Louis off I’en-
sacola Harbor, you will proceed with the Macedonian to Vera Cruz and
remain there until further instructions, .

Should you find Flag-Officer Pendergrast at Vera Oruz, you will
deliver the accompanying dispateh* to him; otherwise you will return
it to the Departient,. '

The Macedonian, under your command, forms a part of the Ilome
Squadron, and you will report accordingly to I'lag-Ofticer Pendergrast,

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,

. I. TouoEy,
. [Seeretary of the Navy.)
Captain JAMES GLYNN,
Oommanding U. 8. S[hip| Macedonian, off Pensacola IHlarbor,

Report of Commander Walke, U. 8. Navy, commanding U, S. ship Supply,
of the arrival of that vessel at New York from Pensacola, and giving
account of affairs at Fort Pickens, Fla.

U. 8, STORESIIP SUPPLY,
Navy Yard, New York, February 4, 1861,

S1r: I have the honor to report the arrival of this ship, nineteen
days from Warrington [Pensacola] navy yard, and 1 beg leave most
respectfully to explain the circumstances of my return to this port.

Two or three duys previous to the surrender of the Warrington navy
yard the officers and crew of this ship were zealously engaged, day
and night, transporting military stores, provisions, and otherwise assist-
ing in the defenses at I'ort Pickens,

About 2 o’clock on the 12th January the navy yard was taken pos-
gession of by troops of Ilorida. As soon as the flags were struck 1
signalized to the Wyandotte (then underway) to bring off the marines
to strengthen Fort Pickens. But being informed that they had laid
down their arms, and that the navy yard and all the public property,
with the hospital and forts (except Pickens), were captured by the

*Seo p. T6.
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militia of Florida, I.put to sea in tow of the Wyandotte and anchored
beyond the range of cannon shot. But I could not desert our officers
and men, who were so suddenly deprived of their homes without pay
or credit, [and] short of provisions, under such painful humiliation,
without an effort on my part to relieve them, Ag this ship had none of
her gtores, and but 260 tons of coal on board, barely sufficient for bal-
last, and being prevented from carrying-out my orders at Warrington,
I resolved to return to New York for the double purpose of obtaining
the stores,.coal, ete., required by the Gulf Squadron and of offering a
passage to the officers, employds, seamen, and marines of the navy yard,
who, being faithful to their allegiance, were considered prisoners of
war on parole; and also to communicate the condition of affairs at
Warrington to the Navy Department with all dispatch, as the United
States mails to that place had for some time past been fnterrupted,

Port Pickens is defended with about 100 men who are provisioned for
six months, and will resist any attack upon the fort by a force of less
than 4,000 men. Troops were daily arriving by steamer from Mobile,

We transported all the powder from Fort Barrancas to Fort Pickens
and destroyed all that was in the magazine at I'ort McRee.

With the enclosed list of officers and crew of this ship I also send a
list of the passengers and of the officers and seamen of our Navy who
are reported to have joined the Ilorida navy, who continue to occupy
their quarters with the same rank they held in the U, 8, Navy,

I reported the sailing of this vessel and the circumstances by letter
to you from Warrington, but the mails not being reliable, [ respectfully
repeat the same in this report, * \ ‘

I have the honor to be, sir, most respectfully, your obedient servant,

HENRY WALKHE,
Gommander, U, 8. Navy.
Hon, IsAAc Toucry,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D. 0.

Report of Oaptain Adams, U. S. Navy, senior officer present off Pensacola,
of arrival there of U. 8. frigate Sabine.

U. S, 'RIGATE SABINE,
Off Pensacola, February 6, 1861,
Sir: I have the honor to inform you of the arrival of this ship off
Pensacola this day, , ,
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
. A, ADAMms,
Oaptain,
IHon, IsAAc TOUCEY .
Secretary of the l\;avy, Washington, D. C.

.

Report of Licutenant Oraven, U, 8. Navy, commanding U. 8. 8. Mohawk,
regarding movements of United States vessels.

U, 8. 8. MOHAWK,
Off the Navy Yard, New York, February 7, 1861.
Sir: For the information of the Department I havo the honor to
state that the U, 8, 8, Brookiyn was at Key West on the 31st ultimo
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coalingj would leave the next night for the Tortugas, The Macedontan
was spoken by the Urusader at midnight of the 29th, bound to the Tor-
tugas, The Orusader was at Key West on the 31st, to sail in a few days
for New York.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

T, Avas. ORAVEN,
Lieutenant, Commanding.

Hon, I8AA0 TOUORY, .

Secretary of the Navy, Washington.

Letter from Ouptain Vogdes, U, S. Army, commanding forts in Pensacola
Harbor, to the commanding officer of the U, S. naval forces on that sta-
tion, regarding defense of Fort Piockens.

U. 8. 8. BROOKLYN, February 8, 1861,

Sir: This will be handed to you by lieutenant Langdon, of the
U, 8, Army, who will show to you, if you desire it, the order by which
I am assigned to the command of the forts in this harbor, Under the
instructions which I have received from the War Department I am led
to believe that instructions have been given to the naval commmanders
on this station to cooperate in the defense of Fort Pickens, the only
one of the forts now in possession of the United States. 1f I am cor-
rect in this inference, I should like to ho informed as to your views, and
the forces and disposition you may be disposed to assign for the defense
of that place, 1 would beg leave to suggest that IFort Pickens isin a
very poor state of detense with its present weak garrison, and that I
should desire to have ‘the ships, and especially the Brooklyn, upon
which my company is at present, as near to Fort Pickens as it is possi-
ble for her to be stationed. Of course you must be governed in this
cage by the instruetions which you may have recelved from the Navy
Department, I should desire to have a consultation with you at as
early a period as may be convenient to you, I should also suggest that
it would be desirable that we should both visit Fort Pickens,in order
that we may agree upon a system of defense proper to carry out the
views of the Government. If you desire it, Lieutenant Langdon will
remain for your reply to this communication. o
, I. VoaDES,
Oaptain, First Artillery, Commanding IForts in Pensacola Harbor,

The COMMANDING OFFICER OF THE
' NAVAL FFOROES ON THIS STATION,

Report of Captain Glynn, U, S. Navy, commanding U, 8. ship Macedonian,
of the arrival of that vessel off Pensacola, Fla.

U, S, Siir MAOEDONIAN,
Off Pensacola Harbor, February 9, 1861,

Sir: I have the honor to report the arrival of the Macedonian off Pen-

sacola. I have had communication with the Wyandotte, and exchanged

\signals with the Sabine to leeward., Two other snips in sight in the
same direction are supposed to be the Brooklyn and the 8t Louis.
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I leara from Captain Berryman that the Brooklyn has not landed the
troops she had on board for Fort Pickens, and presume the reasons will
be communicated to the Navy Department by the same conveyance that
will carry this letter,

I am, very respectfully, your obedient servant, .
JAMES GLYNN,
Oaptain,
Hon., IsSAA0 TOUOEY,
Secretary of the Navy, Wuziington, D. O.

Report of Lieutenant Irwin, U, 8. Navy, late of U, 8. 8. Wyandotte, trans-
mitting, in explanation of his absence from duty, copies of orders to
and detachment from that vessel, :

PI1T18BURG, PA., February 10, 1861,

Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your communi-
cation of the 8th instant, and to enclose you my orders to and detach-
ment from the U. 8. 8. Wyandotte. In justice to myself I deem a
further explanation necessary. I visited Warrington for the purpose
of moving my wife and children to my home in Pittsburg, but was
detained by sickness in my family, On the 9th ultimo I reported for
duty on board the U, 8, 8, Wyandotte, and was employed transporting
the garrison of Fort Barrancas to Fort Pickens. On the 11th ultimo
I was informed by Lieutenant Commanding Berryman that he had
orders to ill up with coal and proceed to his station on the south coast
of Cuba. Early on the morning of the 12th ultimo I was informed that
he was ordered not to fire a gun unless his own vessel was attacked
and in the event of the surrender of the navy yard he was to proceed
to hisstation. At this time Lieutenant J. R, Eggleston was still attached
to the Wyandotte and had nob sent in his resignation. I was also
informed that another lieutenant would take passage in her as far as
Key West, and at Key West Lieutenant Abner Read was to join her.
Knowing all this, I asked Lieutenant Commanding Berryman if he
could dispense with my services, for I knew that my family would be
in great danger from the lawless mob of Warrington, Lieutenant Com-
manding Berryman sent me with & communication to Commodore Arm-
strong, in answer to which I received the enclosed detachment,

I endeavored to get a conveyance for Pénsacola in order to proceed
to Pittsburg by land, but it was utterly impossible, Shortly afterwards
1 heard that the navy yard had been surrendered and saw the Wyan-
dotte towing the Supply out of the harbor, The next morning both
vesselsreturned under a flag of truce. Hearing that Commander Walke
had determined to take the families of the Army officers and the prison-
ers to New York, and not wishing to be taken prisoner by the forces of
I'lorida, I took aboat from the beach and moved my family on board the
U. 8. S[hip] Supply. When I joined the Wyandotte I supposed that we
were to defend the Government property, and I worked cheerfully night
and day to prepare for it, but when I found that the navy yard was to be
surrendered without a blow, and that the Wyandotte was ordered to her
station, I deemed that I had a right to think of my helpless family,

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,

JOHN IRWIN,
Lieutenant,
Hon. SEORETARY OF THE NAVY,
Washington, D, O,
N W BR--voL 4——6
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[Enclosures. ]

OOMMANDANT'S OFFIOE, PENSAOOLA NAVY YARD,
. -~ Warrington, Fla., January 9, 1861,
S1r: You will report to Lieutenant Commanding O, H, Berryman for
temporary duty on board the U, 8. 8. Wyandotte, under his command,
I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAS, ARMSTRONG,
Oommandant.
Lieutenant Joun Irwin, U, 8. Navy,
Warrington, Fla.

OCOMMANDANT'S OFFIOR, PENSACOLA NAVY YARD,
: Warrington, Fla., Janvary 12, 1861,

Sir: The commanding officer of the U, S, 8, Wyandotte having re-
ported to me that he can dispense with your services, my order of the
9th instant, directing you to report for temporary duty on board that
vessel, is hereby revoked.

Respectfully, your obedient servant,
JAS., ARMSTRONG,
Commandant,
Lieutenant Joun Irwin, U, S, Navy,
Warrington, Fla.

(Endorsement. )

Answer that the order of Captain Armstrong detaching him from
the Wyandotte of course relieves him from censure. Without it, how-
ever, he would not have been justified in his course.

I. TovorY].

Letter from Oaptain Walker, U, S. Navy, commanding U, S. S. Brooklyn,
to Captain Adams, U, 8. Navy, senior officer present off Pensacola,
Hla., regarding reenforcements for Fort Pickens.

U. 8, 8. BROOKLYN,
Off Pensacola, February 12, 1861,

Sir: In reply to your letter of to-day I have respectfully to inform
you that I can furnish from this ship ninety-three men fully armed and
equipped. .

This is exclusive of the marines, who number forty-three, and also
of the firemen and coal heavers, whose services are required in the
engineer’s department,

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
W. S. WALKER,
Oaptain,

Captain H. A. ADAMS,

Senior Officer Present, Comdy. U, S. Naval Forces off Pensacola, Fla.

Letter from the Secrétary of the Navy to Ideutenant Craven, U. S, Navy,
commanding U, 8. 8. Mohawk, transmitting letters of commendation
Jrom DBrigadier-General Totten and Captain Meigs, U. 8. Engineer
Oorps. ,

NAvVY DEPARTMENT, February 15, 1861,

SIR: I herewith enclose a copy of a communication addressed to this
Department on the 13th instant by Brevet Brigadier-General Joseph G,
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Totten, Chief Engineer of the Army, and also a copy of the letter of Oap-
tain M, O. Meigs that accompanied it, acknowledging valuable assist-
ance rendered by you with the Mohawkin connection with the security of
Fort Taylor and Fort Jefterson. The Department is pleased to be the
channel of communication in this instance.
I am, respectfully, your obedient servant, ,
) [I. Touory,
. Secretary of the Navy. |
Lieutenant T, A, M. ORAVEN
Commanding U, 8. S, Moimwk, New York.

[Enclosure.)

ENGINEER DEPARTMENT, Washington, February 13, 1861,

Sir: I take pleasure in enclosing for the information of the Depart-
ment a letter from Captain M, O. Meigs, Corps of Ingineers, stationed
at Fort Jefterson, Tortugas, I'la., in which he expresses the great obli-
gations he is under to Captain Oraven, of the U, 8, 8, Mohawk, and
Oaptain Maffitt, of the Orusader, for valuable assistance rendered by
those officers with the vessels under their command, by watching over
the safety of the fort while without a garrison, §

Oaptain [Edward B.] Hunt, Corps of KEngineers, stationed at Key
West, Ila,, has acknowledged in several of his letters and reports
similar important services on the part of these officers in connection
with the security of Fort Taylor. ‘ ;

To the testimony of its officers this Department desires to add an
expression of its own sense of the obligations the service is under to
Captains Craven and Maffitt for their prompt and efficient assistance
in aiding and protecting the two works referred to, at a time when such
assistance was of the utmost importance in consequence of the want of
a proper garrison at one of them and of both garrison and armament
at the other.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

Jos, G, TOTTEN
Brevet Brigadier-GQeneral, and Ohief Engineer,

Hon, IsAA0 ToUoRY,
Seoretary of the Navy.

(Subenclosure. )

ForT JEFFERSON, “
Harbor of the Tortugas, January 25, 1861,

Sir: The Mohawk, Captain Oraven, will sail for Key West to-day,
and will probably dispatch a mail by the steamer ‘of the 28th from
Havana for New York.

I beg the Department to acknowledge to the Navy Department, and
especially to Captain Oraven himself, its obligations for valuable assist-
anco rendered at this time,

He sailed to this post from Key West, at my request, to watch over
it while it was so destitute of arms,

The two fieldpieces brought by the command of Major Arnold would
have been incapable of seriously damaging any vessels bringing an
expedition to seize the fortress. , N

At10:30 a. m, to-day the last of the 8-inch guns brought from Fort
Taylor was in position, and this would not have been so soon accom-
plished without the assistance of a gang of sailors kindly lent me by
Captain Craven.
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To Captain Maflitt, of the U. S. 8. Urusader, we are also under obliga-
tions for convoying the vessels bringing the armament and ammunition
which render this place safe from attack.
I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
, " M. O, Mzr1gs,
Oaptain of Engineers.
Brigadier-General J. G. ToTTEN
Ohief Engineer, Washington, D. 0.

Instructions from the Secretary of the Navy to commanding officers of
United States vessels off Pensacola, Fla.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, February 16, 1861,

Sie: You will maintain such a position off Pensacola Harbor as can
be done consistently with the safety of the vessel under your command,
that you may readily throw in reenforcements and cooperate with the
Army troops in resisting any attack on Fort Pickens.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
1. Touory,

Captain HENRY A. ADAMS,

Oommanding U, S, Frigate Sabine, off Pensacola Harbor.

Oaptain WiLLIAM S, WALKER,

Oommanding U, 8. Steam Sloop Brooklyn, offf Pensacola Harbor,

Commander OHABLES H, PooOR,

Oommanding U, S. Sloop of War St. Louis, off Pensacola Harbor

Report of commandant navy yard, New York, of arrival there of U. 8. S.
Orusader.,

NAvY YARD, NEw YORK, February 16, 1861.

Sir: I have to inform the Department that the U, S. 8. Orusader,
Lieutenant Commanding Mafiitt, arrived here this morning.
I request authority to approve the bill for piloting her from sea at the
usual rates for national armed vessels.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
SAMUEL L. BREESE,
Uommandant,
Hon, IsAA0 Touory
Secretary of the l(rcwy, Washington.

Report of Commander Poor, U. 8. Navy, commanding U. 8. ship St. Lowis,
regarding reenforcements for Fort Pickens.

U, 8. Surr Sr. Louis,
Off Pensacola, February 19, 1861.
S1r: In answer to your communication received February 13, I have
to state that I can furnish thirty men and twenty marines, and they will
be equipped and ready to land at any moment they may be required.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
C. H. Poor,

Jommander,
Captain H, A. ADAMS,
Senior Officer Present.
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Report of Oaptain Adams, U, S, Navy, senior officer present off Pensa-
cola, Fla., regarding the vessels under his command.

U, 8, FRIGATE SABINE,
Off Pensacola, February 19, 1861,

S1r: I have the honor to inform you that Captain Glynn sailed on
the evening of the 11th instant in the Macedonian for Vera Oruz,

It devolves on me ag senior officer present to give you an account of
the condition of the ships now remaining off Pensacola.

The Sabine is in good condition, but begins to want calking, She
has water for thirty-five days and fifty rounds of ammunition for the
great guns, I enclose a list of the number of days’ provisions of each
kind now on board, ~

The Brooklyn has coal for eight days, She has fifty days’ provisions,
T have ordered all over that tobe transferred to this ship and the St, Louis,

The St. Louis is in good condition. I enclose a ligt of provisions on
board, which, as well as the Sabine’s list, includes those to be received
from the Brooklyn, A

The Wyandotte lies inside the harbor and carries a flag of truce, com-
municating with the ships outside when necessary. She has hitherto
been allowed to procure coal and water from the navy yard.

No provisions or water can be obtained nearer than Key West or
Havana, which may be estimated at eight or ten days’ sail. No provi-
sions could be had at Vera Oruz when I sailed, Bread for twenty-five
days and some other articles were supplied us by the Cumberland. In
general, the ships can remain, either at anchor or underway, near
enough to the harbor to communicate with the Wyandotte, lying inside,
by signal; but when a southeast gale blows it is necessary to runoffshore.
The last one, which occurred on the 10th instant, dispersed the ships
and drove some of them almost down to Mobile, ‘I?he ships will at the
best times be 2 miles from Fort Pickens, and if advantage should be
taken, as it most probably would be, of their temporary absence in a
southeaster, or during the prevalence of a strong north wind,to make
an assault on Fort Pickens, it might be taken by a coup de main betore
it would be possible to land reenforcements by boats, An expedition
could-leave the navy yard under cover of the night, and in less than
two hours the fate of the place be decided, There should be another
steamer of light draft here to remain outside in readiness at all times
to tow boats in, The Wyandotie is too necessary inside for purposes of
observation and communication to be withdrawn for this purpose.
Should the existing pacific arrangements come to an end the people on
shore will have the advantage of knowing it long before we can, There
seems to be 10 agreement that notice shall be given of its termination
by either party. ?

In case of necessity I propose to land 200 men from this ship, 140
from the Brooklyn, and 50 from the 8%, Lowis. All the marines of the
ships are included in these numbers, 4

Should T not be able to obtain fresh water from shore 1 shall be
obliged to go in quest of some elsewhere by the 156th of March.

We are now upon an allowance. ,

I send this communication by Commander Hazard, who goes home
sick from the Pocahontas.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
_ H. A, ADAMS,
Oaptain, and Sewior Officer Present,
Hon. IsAA0 TOUOEY, )
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, .D. 0,
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Report of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U. 8. l\favy; commanding Home
Squadron, of execution of Department’s orders.

; U, S, FLAGSHIP OUMBERLAND,
' , ‘ Off Sacrificios, February 20 [21), 1861,
S1r: I have the honor to inform the Department that the U. 8. ship
Macedonian, Oaptain James Glynn, arrived at this anchorage this
morning from Pensacola. In obedience to the order of the Depart-
ment under date of February 2, handed me by that officer, I have
directed Oaptain Mercer, of the Powhatan, to prepare his ship for sea
with all possible dispatch and proceed to New York; also the Poca-
hontas to Hampton Roads, Va., and will follow with my flagship to
Hampton Roads as soon as the ships’ bills can be settled on shore,
I have the honor to be, very respectfully, sir, your obedient servant,
G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer Home Squadron.,
Hon, IsAAc ToucEy, )
Secretary of the Navy.

Report of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U. S. Navy, commanding Home
Squadron, of transfer of his flag to U. 8. Ship Oumberland.

FrLAGsHIP OUMBERLAND,
Of Saorificios, February 21, 1861,

Sir: I have the honor to inform the Department that I hoisted my
flag on board of this ship on the 9th day of February.
I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer, Oommander in Chief Home Squadron,

Hon, IsAA0 TOUOEY
Secretary of the ijvy, Washington, D, O,

Report of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U. 8. Navy, commanding Home
Squadron, regarding funds for squadron.

FrAesnip CUMBERLAND,
OfF Sacrificios, February 21, 1861.
Sir: I have the honor to inform the Department that I have been
able to procure sufficient money to meet the wants of this squadron
for the present at a discount of 8% per cent. ;
I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
G, J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer, Commander in Ohief Home Squadron.

Hon. IsAA0 ToUCEY,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D, C.

Report of Flag-Officer Pendergrast, U. S. Navy, commanding Home Squad-
ron, transmitting copies of orders to commanding officers of U. S.steamers
Powhatan and Pocahontas and U. 8. ship Macedonian.

FracgsaIPr CUMBERLAND,
At Sea, off Vera COruz, February 25, 1861,
S1r: I have the honor to inform the Department that the Powhatan
towed us to sea to-day from Sacrificios, and we will make the best of
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our way to Hampton Roads, Va. I enclose a copy of my orders to
Oaptain Mercer, of the Powhatan, to proceed to New York, and also
to Lieutenant dommanding Murray, of the Pocahontas, to proceed to
Hampton Roads, Va., and to Oaptain Glynn,of the Macedonian, on my
leaving Vera Oruz, ,

I have the honor to be, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,

G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer, Commander in Ohief Home Squadron.

Hon, IsAAc TOUCEY
Secretary of the l&avy, Washington, D. O.

(Enolosures.]

FLAGSHIP OUMBERLAND,
Off Sacrificios, February 24, 1861,
"S1r: I have received your letter reporting your ship ready for sea.
You. will proceed in the Powhatdn to New York, and on your arrival
there report in writing to the honorable the Secretary of the Navy.
Should you find it necessary to replenish your coal you may touch at
Havana for that purpose, :
Yery respectfully,
G. J. PENDERGRAST,
IMlag-Officer, Commander in -Ohi¢f Home Squadron,

Captain SAMUEL MEROER,
Oommanding U, S, 8. Powhatan.

——————

FrAaasHIP OUMBERLAND,
 Off Sacrificios, February 22, 1861.
Sir: I have received your letter reporting your ship ready for sea.
You will proceed in the Pocahontas to Hampton Roads, Va., and on
your arrival there report in writing to the honorable the Secretary of
the Navy. Should you find it necessary to replenish your coal you
may touch at Havana for that purpose. ‘ :
Yery respectfully,
G. J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer, Commander in Chief Home Squadron.

Lieutenant Commanding ALEXANDER MURRAY,
Oommanding U, 8. 8. Pocahontas.

FrLAGsHIP CUMBERLAND,
' Off Sacrificios, February 23, 1861.
Sir: I have sent you copies of instructions from Navy Department,
by which you will be governed. You will remain here for the present
and await orders from the Navy Department or myself.
Very respectfully,
G, J. PENDERGRAST,
Flag-Officer, Commander in Olhi¢f Home Squadron.
Captain JAMES GLYNN,
Oommanding U, 8. Ship Macedonian.
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Order of the Secretary of the Navy to Oommander Gibson, U, 8. Navy,
commanding U, 8. ship Supply, to proceed with that vessel to Pensacola,
Fla., with provisions.

NAVY DEPARTMENT, February 25, 1861,
Sir: The moment the U, 8. storeship Supply, under your command,
shall be ready for sea you will proceed with her with the utmost dispatch
to the offing at Pensacola and report on your arrival there to the serior
commanding officer of the U. 8. Navy present, After furnishing the
vessels of the U, 8, Navy oftf Pensacola with such provisions, ete., as
they may require, you will return with the Supply to New York. Should
your cargo be insufficient to meet the requirements of the vessels, you
will, before proceeding to New York, repair to Key West for additional
stores and return with them to the vessels off Pensacola.
1 am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
1. Touory
[Secretary of the N’avy.]
Oommander ALEXANDER GIBSON,
Oommanding U, S, Ship Supply, New York.

Unoffiotal letter from Lieutenant Berryman, U. 8. Nawvy, commanding
. 8. 8. Wyandotte, to Captain Adams, U. 8. Navy, venior officer
present off Pensacola, Fla.

U. 8. 8. WYANDOTTE, February 25, 1861,

My DEAR CAPTAIN ADAMS: I received your note of yesterday and
at once sent to Slemmer, whose answer* I send by this opportunity.

I fear the peculiar feelings of Farrand (in the absence of Oaptain
Randolph) disturb my diplomatic influence; not from any especial
talent of his own, but from downright prejudice,. - _

The indications are that you can not get water, and that I can not
get either water or coal. I have some other resources left, which I will
tell you of at a proper time,

I shall try again to-day what may be done, -

Hazard got off and I have not heard that he was interfered with.

I hope you are all comfortable in this norther.

Most truly and faithfully,

Qaptain H. A, ADAMS,
Sabine,

O, H, BERRYMAN,

Letter from Lieutenant Berryman, U, S, Navy, commanding U, S. 8. Wyan-
dotte, to Oaptain Adams, U. 8. Navy, senior officer present off Pensa-
cola, I'la., regarding supplics.

[U. 8. 8.] WYANDOTTE, February 27, 1861,

My DEAR CAPTAIN ADAMS: I have been quietly endeavoring to get
what you want, The peculiarities of these authorities (new) make it
important to be particular and, indeed, cautious, Already I have over-
come the indispositions for furnishing you with water, and I shall
probably bring out a tank to-morrow if it is smooth, What next I can
not say.

* Not found.
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Some difficulty has arisen with the storekeeper about the stores
crossed off on the invoices I gave your several departments, He says
they were all sent off, and we, I am sure, delivered all but nine oars,

i ’{.‘lléings look—if not brighter, at least we have some scintillations of
ght. .
Excuse this scrawl, and I am, most faithfully, yours,
O. H. BERRYMAN,
: Lieutenant, Commanding, eto,
Captain H, A, ADAMS,
Sabine, off Pensacola,

S U —

Report of Licutenant Strong, U, S, Navy, appointed to command U, 8. 8.
Mohavk, of receipt of orders.

Newsura [N, Y), March 4, 1861,

Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your order of
the 1st instant, directing me to proceed immediately to New York and
report to Commodore Breese for the command of the U, 8, 8, Mokawk.

I shall proceed to obey the order immediately.

Very respectfully, your most obedient servant,
J. H. STRONG,
Lieutenant, U. 8. Navy.
Hon. I. TouoEy,
Seoretary of the Navy, Washington.

Letter from Oaptain Walker, U. 8. Nowy, commanding. U, S. 8, Brooklyn,
to Captain Adams, U, 8. Navy, senior officer present off Pensacola, Fla.,
regarding supplies.

[U. 8. 8.1 BROOKLYN, March 9, 1861,
My DEAR ADAMS: Mr, Follansbee is at work on the apparatus for
distilling water, He thinks there is but littlo hope of success. Cap-
tain Vogdes says we can retain the provision necessary to replace what
has been consumed by the soldiers. I am in hopes that Mr, Knapp will
send us water from shore,
I trust that the storeship will be here before long.

Yery truly, yours
’ 2 W. S. WALKER,
Captain H, A, ADAMS,

Order of thé Secretary of the Navy to Commander Oraven, U, 8, Navy,
commanding U. 8. 8. Orusader, to proceed to Key West, Fla., for the
protection of public property.

Confidential.] - NAVY DEPARTMENT, March 11, 1861,

Sir: A bearer of dispatches from the Government will present him-
self to you for passage to the U, 8. 8. Brooklyn, supposed to be off Fort
Pickens, Pensacola Harbor, You will proceed to that locality with all
practicable dispatch, place the bearer of dispatches on board the Brook-
lyn, and then make the best of your way to Key West, where you will
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coramunicate with Judge Marvin, of the U. 8. court, and ‘afford every
protection in your power to the United States authorities, and to the
naval stores, light-house, and other United States property there.

The Department desires that you will not absent yourself from Key
West or its immediate vicinity unless ordered to do so from here, or in
your judgment it becomes necessary to do so to protect the reef lights,

Commander Pickering, U. S. Navy, the light-house inspector on the
Florida coast, should be conferred with with reference to the safety of
the lights on the Florida Reefs, and any assistance that you may be
able and deem necessary to afford him without jeopardizing interests
at Key West should be given to him.

I am, respectfully, your obedient servant,
GIDEON WELLES,
Secretary Navy.
Commander T. A. M. CRAVEN,
Commanding U. 8. S, Crusader,

Order from Lieutenant-General Scott, U. S. Army, to Captain Vodges,
A U. 8. Army, to reenforce Fort Pickens.

HEADQUARTERS OF THE ARMY,
: Washington, March 12, 1861.

SIR: At the first favorable moment you will land with your company,
rcenforce Fort Pickens, and hold the same till further orders.
Report frequently, if opportunities present themselves, on the con-
dition of the fort and the circumstances around you. '
I write’by command of Lieutenant-General Scott.
I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
E. ). TOWNSEND,
Assistant Adjutant-General,

Captain I. VOGDES,
First Artillery, U. 8. A., on board Sloop of War Brooklyn,
Off Fort Pickens, Pensacola, Fla.

Order of the ;S’eofetary of the Navy to Commander Foote, U. 8. Navy,
acting commandant navy yard, New York, regarding convoy duty.

Oonfidential.] NAVY DEPARTMENT, March 12, 1861,

Sir: I sent an order yesterday by Commander James H, Ward, U. S,
Navy, to Lieutenant Commanding T. A. M. Craven, to proceed on cer-
tain service therein named. It is now necessary to send either the
Crusader or Mohawk to convoy the steamer Fmpire City employed on
army duty. -

You will please dispatch immediately on the receipt of this order
either the Crusader or Mohawk to the quarantine, and direct the com-
manding officer to accompany the Empire City on her voyage and con-
tinue with her so long as protection may be deemed necessary by the
Army or other officer in charge for the protection of the persons and
public property embarked.

In case you find it necessary to send the Crusader to convoy the
Empire City, you will direct Lieutenant Commanding Craven to return
the brder to him, dated yesterday by this Department, te you, and you
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will hand it to Lieutenant Commanding [Jas. H.] Strong, of the
Mohawk, with instructions to proceed and execute those orders in the
same manne1 as though the order had been originally addressed to him.
The War Department may not send a special messenger, as was indi-
cated in the order to the commander of the Orusader, but in that event
a letter will be sent to be delivered to the commander of the U.S. 8.
Brooklyn.,
Colonel Tompkins, U, S. Army, New York, should be conferred with
before dispatching these vessels.
Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
GIDEON WELLES,
Secretary Navy.
Commander A, H, FoOTE,
Acting Commandant Navy Yard New York.

P. S.—The enclosed memorandum* from Lieutenant-General Scott,
rece1ved since the above was written, is transmitted to serve as a gulde
to the officer in command of the convoymg vessels. “

Report of commandant navy yard, New York, regwrdm g execution of
Department’s orders for convoy duty.

NAvy YARD, NEW YORK, March 13, 1861,

SIRr: The steamers mdlcated in your orders this mornmgfwﬂl both be
ready for sea this evening.

I was directed by Commodore Breese before he left for court-martial
duty in Washingtoun not to coal or further prepare these steamers for
service until orders were received to that effect from the Department,
else they would have been ready on receipt of your orders this morn-
ing. Asitis, however, the fog of to-day prevents any vessel going to
sea, to say nothmg of the Empire City not yet being ordered to sail, as
I am orally informed by Colonel Tompkins; and by the time she is ready
the Mohawk, agrecably to your orders, will be ready to accompany her.,

The Crusader will also be ready in time to perform the service first
assigned her, as neither the ¢special messenger” nor, in the event of
his not going out, the letter ‘“to be delivered to the coramodore” has
yet been received.

1 trust that the Department will appreciate the circumstances under
which this letter is so hurriedly written.

I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
ANDREW H. Foors,
Commander.,

Hon, GIpEON WELLES, :

Secretary of the Navy, Washington, D. C.

Unofficial letter from Commander Ward, U. 8. Navy, commanding U. 8.
ship North Carolina, to the Secretary of the Navy.

Private or unofficial.] RecEIVING SHIP NORTH CAROLINA,
' New York, March 13, 1561,

DEAR SIR: By this evening the Crusader will be ready, and await
ounly a messenger or letter for the Brooklyn. 1 have placed the letter

* Not found.
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intrusted to me in the hands of Lieutenant Commanding Oraven and
explained verbally to him in such manner as gives him full light for read-
ing the orders and induces him to take along a howitzer for strengthen-
ing Commander Pickering’s light-house schooner in case both extremities
of their line of operation should need defense at the same time,

On the question of disaffection will write you fully soon.

Very respectfully, -
JAs, H. WARD,
* Commander.
Hon. GIpDEON WELLES,
Secretary of the Navy.

[P.S.]—Al here agree upon Commodore Stringham. The fear is that
he will be unwilling, and the hope that you will not regard his unwill-
ingness, but insist. In this I save no doubt Commander Jenkins will
agree,

Letter from Brigadier-General Bragg, 0. S. Army,commanding Oonfederate
troops near Pensacola, F'la., to commanding officer at Fort Pickens,
regarding their mutual relations.

HEADQUARTERS TROOPS OF CONFEDERATE STATES,
. .Near Pensacola, Fla.; March 13, 1861.

Sir: The bearer of this communication, Captain R. C. Wood, Army
of Confederate States, waits upon you in my behalf, with the purpose
of obtaining infornation necessary to enable me to understand our
relative positions. He will communicate to you my views, and receive
such reply as you may be pleased to make.

1 have the honor to be, your obedient servant.
BRAXTON BRAGG,
Brigadier-General, Commanding.

The U. 8, OrFI0OER COMMANDING FORT PICKENS, FLA.

Letter Jrom Lieutenant Slemmer, U, 8. Army, commanding Fort Pickens,
responding to communication from Brigadier- General Bragg, O. S, Army,
commanding Confederate troops near Pensacola, Fla,

Forr PIOKENS, FLA., March 13, 1861.

SIr: Your communication of this day’s date reached this post during
my absence, I have the honor to send you a copy of the agreement*
entered into between Colonel Chase, Senator Mallory, and the War and
Navy Departments, with such other communications as may enable you
to understand our relative positions. .

Please let me know as soon as convenient whether you will consider
the agreement binding on your part or not.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
A, J. SLEMMER,
First Lieutenant, First Artillery, Commanding.

«General BRAXTON BRAGG.

*Bee pp. 74,77,
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Letter from Brigadier-General Bragg, 0. 8. Army, to Lieutenant Slem-
mer, U. 8. Army, commanding Fort Pickens, Fla., regarding breach of
agreement,.

HEADQUARTERS TROOPS OF CONFEDERATE STATES,
Near Pensacola, Fla., Maroh 13, 1861.

Sir: I have the honor to acknowledge your commumcatlon of this
date, with its enclosures, In announcing to you my intention to conform
strictly to the spirit of the agreement entered into by Colonel Chase I
beg to suggest to you that the erection of a battery on Santa Rosa
Island bearing directly on our navy yard is, in my view, directly in con-
flict with the spirit of the agreement.

The erection of the work on this side bearing on the channel can not.
1 conceive, be taken as a me.ince against Fort Pickens, and the act
seems to me fully justified as a-means of defense, and especlally 80
under the threats of the new Administration.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant.
BrAxTON BRAGG,
) Brigadier- General, OOmmandmg.

Lieutenant A. J. SLEMMER,

. Fort Pickens.

Letter from Oaptain Walker, U, 8. Navy, commanding U. 8. 8. Brooklyn,
to Captain Adams, U. 8. Navy, senior officer present off Pensacola, Fla.,
regarding supply of water.

[U. 8. S.] BROOXLYN, March 13, 1861,

My DEAR ApAMS: I enclose a note received yesterday from Mr,
Knapp in regard to water. He does not name the price, but if you
think under present circumstances I had better order a few thousand
gallons I will do so. Oaptain Berryman informs me I can have coal at
$15 per ton, a high price to pay unless in a case of great emergency.

Very truly, yours, S
. . ALKER.

Captain H, A. ADAMS,
[U. 8. Fmgate] Sabine.

[Enclosure.,]
PENSA.OOLA, March 8, 1861.

SIr: At present there is no water tank in this place, and not enough
casks to be got to hold the quantity of water required. I can send as
much as 1,000 gallons at a time in a small boat (if allowed), but it will
be very expen&uve.

Awaiting your advice, I remain, yours, respectfully,

O. P. KNAPp,
Per JAS. H. NICHOLSON.

Captain W. S, WALKER,

U. §. 8. Brooklyn.

Report of commandant navy yard, New York, of the satling of U. 8. S,
Mohawk.

NAvyY YARD, NEW YORK, March 14, 1861.

Sir: The U. S. 8. Mohawk and storeship Supply left the yard at 11
o'clock a.m, and proceeded down the bay. As the wind is strong from
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the eastward and snowing hard, it is doubtful whether the vessels pro-
ceeded immediately to sea.
I have the honor to be, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
ANDREW H. FooTE,
; Pro Commandand.
Hon. GIDEON WELLES,
Secretary of the Navy, Washington. .

EReport of commandant navy yard, New York, regarding movements of
United States vessels in obedwnce to Depwrtment’s orders,
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